# FACTORS THAT AFFECT FOLATE INTAKE IN OKLAHOMA WOMEN OF CHILDBEARING AGE AND THE EFFECT OF

AN INTERVENTION

By

### MARISELA DEL VALLE CONTRERAS BERRIOS

Physician Surgeon Universidad de Carabobo Valencia, Venezuela 1994

Master of Science Oklahoma State University Stillwater, Oklahoma 1999

Submitted to the Faculty of the Graduate College of the Oklahoma State University in partial fulfillment of the requirements for the Degree of DOCTOR OF PHILOSOPHY May, 2003

# FACTORS THAT AFFECT FOLATE INTAKE IN OKLAHOMA WOMEN OF CHILDBEARING AGE AND THE EFFECT OF

### AN INTERVENTION

Thesis Approved:

hesis Adviser em

Dean of the Graduate College

#### ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS

I would like to thank my major adviser Dr. Gail E. Gates for her patience, guidance, encouragement and friendship during all these years. I would also like to express my appreciation to my other committee members: Dr. Kathy Keim, Dr. Elizabeth Droke, and Dr. Christine Johnson for their support and encouragement.

I would like to express my sincere appreciation to my lovely husband, Orlando, for his patience, support, help, and everything during all these years. Also, to my little surprise, Maria Victoria who has made me laugh and enjoy more my life during the past 7 months!!

I would like to acknowledge my lovely mother, Maria, for her support and encouragement during all my life, my brother Jorge, and my sister Francis who are always there for me.

I would like to thank Tawni and Kim for the number of times we laugh and encourage each other to keep going.

Finally, I would like to thank the support of my friends. That are many and I have the risk to forget some if I list them!

I wish to express my sincere gratitude to all the people that help us during these years in Stillwater.

iii

# TABLE OF CONTENTS

# Chapter

I. INTRODUCTION	1
Assumptions	4
Limitations	4
Definitions of Unusual Terms	5
II. LITERATURE REVIEW	9
Folate	9
Dietary Assessment Methods	38
Nutrition Education	45
Intervention Mapping	52
Summary	53
III. METHODS	55
Study 1	55
Study 2	
IV. FACTORS THAT INFLUENCE WOMEN'S FOLATE INTAKE	80
Abstract	80
Introduction	80
Methods	81
Results	84
Discussion	87
	90
Implications	90
References	91
V. EFFECT OF NUTRITION EDUCATION AND CEREAL CONSUMPTION	
ON PLASMA HOMOCYSTEINE, SERUM VITAMIN B-12, SERUM AND REI	)
BLOOD CELL FOLATE	98
Abstract	98
Introduction	99
Methods	101
Results	106
Discussion	108
Limitations	111
Conclusion	112
References	113
VI. SUMMARY AND RECOMMENDATIONS	124
Study 1	124

#### Chapter

## BIBLIOGRAPHY ...... 128 A. IRB Approval Study 1..... 147 P. Good Sources of Folate from the Food Frequency Questionnaire ...... 181 V. Folate Containing Foods and Recipes...... 193 W. Dietary Guidelines ...... 195

#### Page

## LIST OF TABLES

Table	Page
2.1 Dietary reference intake of folate for women by life cycle stage (Food and Nutrition Board, 1998)	35
4.1 Main factors that describe young women's perceptions of foods	94
4.2 Demographic characteristics of the participants (N=629).	96
4.3 Differences in influences on food choices by demographic characteristics of women of childbearing age.	97
5.1 Demographic characteristics of the participants (N=23)	119
5.2 Vitamin and mineral supplement use	120
5.3 Current diet and weight satisfaction.	120
5.4 Folate intake from baseline diet assessment by group	121
5.5 Nutrient intake of participants by group and time based on type of dietary assessment.	122
5.6 Homocysteine, serum B12, RBC and serum folate concentrations by group and time based.	123

# LIST OF FIGURES

**~** 

Figure	Page
2.1 Dynamic interaction between personal behavior and the environment (Bandura, 1986).	49
3.1 Phases of the study	62
5.1 Phases of the study	102

#### **CHAPTER I**

#### **INTRODUCTION**

In 1994, birth defects were the leading cause of infant mortality in the United States (Petrini et al., 1997). Spina bifida and anencephaly are the main birth defects linked to folate deficiency. Studies have shown that supplementation of at least 400 µg of folic acid/day in women of childbearing age can prevent neural tube defects (Laurence et al., 1981; Schorah et al., 1983; Schorah & Smithells, 1991; MRC Vitamin Study Research group, 1991; Holmes-Siedle et al., 1992; Daly et al., 1997). Although the incidence of neural tube defects has been decreasing slowly through the years (Petrini et al., 1997; Food and Nutrition Board, 1998), fortification of grain products should further decrease the incidence of these birth defects by increasing folate intake in women of childbearing age (Mulinare & Erickson, 1997). Young women must be aware of the risk association between an inadequate intake of folate and an increased risk of a poor pregnancy outcome.

Low dietary intake is the most common cause of compromised folate status (Sauberlich, 1990). Before fortification, mean daily folate intake for all women was  $207\pm$  2.9 µg, with 92.5% of women in the Second National Health and Nutrition Examination Survey (NHANES II) consuming less than the RDA of 400 µg folate (Subar et al., 1989). Since January 1998, all enriched grain products have been fortified with folic acid (US Department of Health and Human Services, 1996).

It was estimated that folate fortification would increase folate intake by 100  $\mu$ g/day (Food and Nutrition Board, 1998; Tucker et al., 1996). Recent studies (CDC,

2000; Caudill et al., 2001; Choumenkovitch et al., 2002; Quinlivan & Gregory, 2003) have shown that consumption of folate is higher than expected.

We need to understand the factors that affect women's food choices because these food choices influence nutrition, health status, and pregnancy outcome. Strategies to enhance women's food choices are needed to promote folic acid intake. Two studies were conducted using young women to address these issues.

The purpose of the first study was to determine the factors that influenced food choices of young women and their relation with folate intake. To accomplish this purpose, perceived influences of grains, fruits and vegetables intake; self-efficacy for eating grains, fruits and vegetables; demographic characteristics; and folate intake were studied using a mailed questionnaire. The objectives of this study were:

- 1. To determine the factors that influence women's grains, fruits and vegetables intake.
- 2. To determine the relationship among the factors and the demographic characteristics.
- 3. To determine the relationship between the factors and folate intake.
- 4. To determine the perceived influences of women for eating grains, fruits and vegetables.
- 5. To determine the relation between self-efficacy and women's grains, fruits and vegetables intake.
- 6. To determine the relation between self-efficacy and demographic characteristics.

- 7. To determine the relation between women's folate intake and different demographic characteristics.
- 8. To determine the relation between folate intake and consumption of good sources of folate.
- 9. To determine the predictors of folate intake.

The purpose of the second study was to assess the effectiveness of targeted nutrition education and diet changes in improving folate status in young Oklahoma women. The objective of the nutrition education was to promote increased cereal consumption. For this study we determined the effect of the nutrition education on folate intake, serum folate, serum B12, and plasma homocysteine. During the first part of the study the comparison group received a general (nonspecific) nutrition education and a placebo cereal, and the intervention group received nutrition education focused on increasing folate intake. During the second part of the study the comparison group received on increasing folate intake. During the second part of the study the comparison group received a daily cereal that provided 400 µg of folic acid. The objectives for this study were:

- 1. To determine the effect of nutrition education on folate intake in young women.
- 2. To determine the effect of nutrition education on cereal consumption.
- To determine the effect of nutrition education on serum and RBC folate, homocysteine, and serum B12 concentrations in young women.

 To determine the effect of cereal consumption on serum and RBC folate, homocysteine, and serum B12 concentration.

#### Assumptions

- The sample was representative of childbearing age women from Oklahoma.

- The responses to the survey were accurate.

- Biochemical procedures provided an accurate estimate of the amount of biomarker in blood.

- The dietary assessment methods accurately reflected usual food intake.

- The nutrient databases provided an accurate estimate of the amount of folate in foods.

#### Limitations

Some limitations for the first study were:

- Although the first study was conducted using a random sample of childbearing age women, the generalizability of the results is limited because data were self-reported.

- Self-reported food intake may overestimate or underestimate food consumption.

- These limitations are reported for most mailed questionnaires.

Some limitations of the second study were:

- Recording food intake relies on memory and people may forget some foods

they consume during the day or the amounts of food they consumed.

- Keeping the food record may modify women's food intake.

- Accuracy of the dietary assessment methods relies on subject's own perception

of portion sizes.

- Generalizability of the results is limited due to the use of a convenience sample.

- Length of the study influenced participation of the subjects.

- Subjects did not receive any monetary incentive to participate in the study.

#### **Definitions of Unusual Terms**

*Adequate Intake (AI)*: average observed or experimentally derived intake by a defined population or subgroup that appears to sustain a defined nutritional state, such as normal circulating nutrient values, growth, or other functional indicators of health (Food and Nutrition Board, 1998).

*Allelic genes:* genes situated at the corresponding loci in a pair of chromosomes. *Anencephaly*: absence of cerebral hemispheres.

*Childbearing age*: women capable of being pregnant, defined in this study as women 18-44 years old.

*Cobalamin:* collective term given to many forms in which vitamin  $B_{12}$  may appear in animal tissues, all of which contain cobalt as an integral part of the molecule.

*Cysteine:* a sulfur-containing amino acid produced by enzymatic or hydrolysis reactions of proteins.

*Dietary Folate Equivalents:* are units that account for the difference in the absorption of food folate and synthetic folic acid from dietary supplements or fortified foods.

*Dietary Reference Intake* (DRI): a set of at least four nutrient-based reference values that can be used for planning purposes. These reference values are RDA, EAR, AI, and UL (Food and Nutrition Board, 1998).

*Estimate Average Requirement* (EAR): the intake that meets the estimated nutrient needs of 50 percent of the individuals in that group (Food and Nutrition Board, 1998).

*Folate:* water soluble B vitamin, pteroylpolyglutamate. Folates contain from one to six glutamate molecules joined in a peptide linkage to the  $\gamma$ -carboxyl of glutamate. Its main function is related to one-carbon metabolism.

*Folic Acid*: synthetic form of folate composed of a *p*-aminobenzoic acid molecule linked at one end to a pteridine ring and at the other end to one glutamic acid molecule.

*Food fortification:* process by which vitamins and/or minerals have been added to food products in excess of what was originally found in the product.

*Food frequency questionnaire*: a questionnaire listing foods on which individuals indicate how often they consume each listed item during certain time intervals (daily, weekly, or monthly). Standard portion sizes are used on the questionnaire.

*Food record*: method by which the subject records foods and beverages and amounts eaten for a specific number of days.

*Gene*: biological unit of heredity, self-reproducing and located in a define position (locus) on a particular chromosome.

*Genotype:* fundamental hereditary constitution (or assortment of genes) of an individual. *Good source of folate:* contains a substantial amount of folate in relation to its calorie content and contributes at least 10% of the RDA (400  $\mu$ g/day) for folate in a selected serving size (Food and Drug Administration, 1999).

*Homozygote:* individuals having identical pair of alleles.

*Homocysteine:* a demethylated product of methionine; a homolog of cysteine. Present in cells as an intermediate metabolite; capable of conversion to methionine by direct transfer of a methyl group from compounds such as choline and betaine.

Hyperhomocysteinemia: increased blood levels of homocysteine.

*Intervention Mapping:* is a systematic process that explicates a series of steps and procedures for the development of health education programs based on theory, empirical findings from the literature, and data collected from the population (Bartholomew et al., 2001).

*Methionine:* an essential amino acid; participates in methylation reactions; hence it is important in protein and fat metabolism.

*Multiple pass 24-hour food recall:* a dietary recall method that consists of three passes. In the first pass, a trained interviewer asks the subject to remember all foods and beverages consumed during the previous 24 hours. Second, the interviewer verifies and clarifies all the foods and beverages with specific serving size and remind the subject about any other foods that could be forgotten (snacks, candies, cookies). Third, the interviewer asks details about the foods (brand names, way of preparation, items added to foods, etc.), if anything is added to specific foods such as sugar on cereal or coffee, milk on cereal, cream in coffee, butter on bread or vegetables) and review all the 24-hour recall (Smiciklas-Wright & Mitchell, 1998).

*Mutation:* permanent change in form, quality or other characteristic.

*Neural tube defects*: a defect in the formation of the neural tube occurring during early fetal development. Two common defects are anencephaly and spina bifida.

*Recommended Dietary Allowance* (RDA): the intake that meets the nutrient needs for almost all (97 to 98 percent) healthy individuals in a group (Food and Nutrition Board, 1998).

*Neurulation:* is the process of formation of the neural plate, the neural folds, and their closure to form the neural tube.

*Spina bifida*: congenital anomalies where there is a failure of the posterior spinous processes on the vertebrae to fuse, which may permit the meninges and spinal cord to herniate, resulting in a neurological impairment.

*Self-efficacy:* people's confidence in performing a particular behavior.

*Tolerable Upper Intake Level* (UL): the maximum intake by an individual that is unlikely to pose risks of adverse health effects in almost all (97 to 98 percent) healthy individuals (Food and Nutrition Board, 1998).

#### CHAPTER II

#### LITERATURE REVIEW

#### Folate

#### History

For many centuries, people have tried to give rational explanations related to food and health problems. Many people have tried to explain the effect of the diet on health. The observation of the relationship between specific eating habits and health problems was used to explain the origin of some diseases. Based on those empirical observations, nutritional deficiencies were detected and treated. In 1878, Takaki, a Japanese General, observed that the Japanese sailors died in great numbers every year during their trips because of beriberi. Takaki was surprised by the health of the British sailors. By observing and comparing the diet of both groups, he made some changes in the diet of the Japanese sailors. The polished rice that the sailors consumed was changed for barley, they incorporated milk and meat into the diet. With these adjustments the sailors were in better health. Beriberi was eradicated when the diet changes were implemented (McCollum, 1957).

Funk in 1911, described a component of the rice polishing that cured beriberi. The component was called vitamin B. Later research determined that the rice polishing had various components, then the name was changed to vitamin B1. Discovery of additional components followed the discovery of vitamin B1 (Goodwin, 1963). Different numbers were given to the new compounds that were discovered.

At the beginning folic acid was named vitamin  $B_c$  (Goodwin, 1963). Later, Mitchell et al. (1941) named the compound folic acid because they found this component in spinach.

In 1933, the Texas Agricultural Experiment Station reported a study with a vitamin A deficient diet that was fed to a pregnant pig. At birth, 11 baby pigs were born without eyeballs, this congenital defect was assumed to be due to vitamin A deficiency (Hale, 1933). This was the first congenital problem that was related to a specific type of vitamin deficiency.

Hibbard (1964), in a retrospective study, suggested a possible relationship between folate intake and neural tube defects. In 1965, a study conducted by Hibbard and Smithells was published showing a relationship between folate metabolism and the production of congenital malformation. A sample of 98 women with a previous diagnosis of fetal malformation or with a baby born with a congenital malformation was used. A control group was matched with the women with malformed infants. An urinary excretion test of a folate metabolite, called formimino glutamic acid (FIGLU), was performed in all women. High FIGLU values were found in the women with malformed infants. In contrast, low values of FIGLU were found in those women with a normal baby (Hibbard & Smithells, 1965).

Research interest has increased since then, with researchers trying to determine the relationship between folic acid deficiency and congenital malformation, especially neural tube defects.

#### Physiology

Folate is a B vitamin whose main function is related to one-carbon metabolism. The main function of folate is the transference of carbon units during the DNA and RNA synthesis, methionine synthesis, and serine and glycine interconversion (Murray et al., 1996; Gregory, 1997; Berdanier, 1998). Its chemical structure has a pteroyl acid, glutamic acid, and para-aminobenzoic acid (PABA). Its name is derived from this type of structure, Pteroylglutamic acid (Murray et al., 1996).

Folates are naturally present in foods, generally with a long chain of glutamic acids attached (Murray et al., 1996; Gregory, 1997; Lucock, 2000). In order to be used by the body, folates need to be in the form of monoglutamates. In the intestine, folates are deconjugated to monoglutamates by hydroxylases in order to be absorbed across the cell membrane using carriers (Gregory, 1997). Once folate is in the cell, its active form, tetrahydrofolic acid, is formed by the action of reductases. Then, it goes to portal circulation to be distributed in the organs and tissues (Gregory, 1997; Lucock, 2000). Most of the folate circulating is in the form of methyltetrahydrofolate (Butterworth & Bendich, 1996). Folate that is not used by the cells is then excreted, with more excreted in the urine than the bile (Gregory, 1997; Berdanier, 1998).

#### Folate and Gene Expression

Metabolism of folate involves many genes and enzymes. Methylenetetrahydrofolate reductase (MTHFR) is the enzyme that catabolizes the conversion of 5,10methylenetetrahydrofolate to 5-methyltetrahydrofolate during methionine synthesis (Frosst et al., 1995). Mutations in the MTHFR gene result in enzymes with incorrect

structures that do not allow appropriate methionine metabolism. A mutation in the nucleotide 677 by substitution of a cytosine with thymine (C677T) in the gene that encodes the enzyme MTHFR has been associated with the occurrence of neural tube defects because of reduced enzyme activity (van der Put et al., 2001; Frosst et al., 1995). People who are TT homozygotes (two thymine substitutions) have higher homocysteine levels than other genotypes (people with one (CT) or no (CC) thymine substitutions) when they consume low amounts of folate (van der Put et al., 1995); as a consequence TT homozygotes may have higher folate requirements than the other genotypes (Ashfield-Watt et al., 2002).

#### **Folate Interactions**

#### **Folate and Other Vitamins**

Folate metabolism is tightly related to vitamin B12 and B6 metabolism. During folate metabolism, vitamin B12 acts as a coenzyme to regenerate tetrahydrofolate from 5-methyl tetrahydrofolate, and methionine from homocysteine (Brody et al., 1984; Berdanier, 1998).

#### **Folate and Drugs**

Different types of drugs can alter folate metabolism. Methotrexate, a chemotherapy drug, is similar to the folate structure. Methotrexate inhibits the formation of tetrahydrofolate from dihydrofolate by competing for the enzyme dihydrofolate reductase. As a result, DNA synthesis is inhibited, producing death of the cancer cells (Lazaros & Theoharides, 1992). Trimethoprim and sulfamethoxazole, antimicrobial

drugs, inhibit the use of dihydrofolate reductase and dihydropteroate synthetase respectively. Trimethoprim acts basically as methotrexate; sulfamethoxazole inhibits the conversion of para-aminobenzoic acid (PABA) to dihydrofolate. Pyrimethamine, an antimalaric drug, inhibits the enzyme dihydrofolate reductase (Gorbach & Theoharides, 1992).

#### **Toxicity of Folate**

Few toxic effects have been shown with a high folate intake. However, there is a major concern related to vitamin B12 deficiency. Folate intake in high amounts can prevent the megaloblastic anemia by vitamin B12 deficiency, but the nerve damage still continues, as a consequence neurological manifestations can occur. Those neurological problems are irreversible (Food and Nutrition Board, 1998).

#### **Folate Deficiency: Related Diseases**

#### Neural Tube Defects

Neurulation is the process of neural tube formation; it is completed by the end of the fourth week of pregnancy (Moore, 1988). Neural tube defects are characterized by an incomplete closure of the central nervous system (van der Put et al., 2001; Jeffery, 1999). The main types of neural tube defects are spina bifida and anencephaly. Neural tube defects are the most common birth defect after cardiac anomalies. The development of neural tube defects is multifactorial involving genetic (gene polymorphism) and environmental factors (low folic acid intake) (van der Put et al., 2001; Lucock, 2000). Since most pregnancies are unplanned, it is important for women to have a good

periconceptional folate status (Food and Nutrition Board, 1998) to prevent the occurrence of defects on neurulation.

Consumption of folic acid before pregnancy has been shown to prevent neural tube defects (Laurence et al., 1981; MRC Vitamin Study Research Group, 1991; CDC, 1992; Food and Nutrition Board, 1998; Lucock, 2000). However, the mechanisms by which folate affects the development of neural tube defects are still unclear (Lucock, 2000; van der Put et al., 2001).

Because folate is needed for DNA synthesis, it has been hypothesized that folate deficiency may affect the genes involved in the neurulation process and produce neural tube defects (van der Put et al., 2001). Rosenquist and Finnell (2001) proposed two hypotheses about the effect of folate deficiency on embryonic development: first, low folate limits availability of folate to the embryonic cells which interferes with DNA synthesis; and second, low folate affects methionine metabolism, increasing serum maternal homocysteine that affects embryo development. However, the cause of neural tube defects is still unknown but related to low folate, hyperhomocysteinemia, or inborn errors of the folate and homocysteine metabolism (Green, 2002).

#### Folate and Neural Tube Defects

After the results of Hibbard study in 1964, and Hibbard and Smithells in 1965, were published, different studies have been conducted to demonstrate the relationship between folate intake and the production of congenital malformations. For example, Laurence et al. (1980) conducted a study on the adequacy of diets of women with a history of a pregnancy with a neural tube defect. They found that women who received

counseling and enhanced their diet during pregnancy had less risk of neural tube defects than the ones who did not receive counseling and had poor diets.

Later, Laurence et al. (1981) conducted a randomized controlled double-blind study to evaluate the effect of supplemental folic acid in women who had a previous pregnancy with neural tube defect. They used a placebo group and a treatment or supplement group (400  $\mu$ g folic acid/day). They found that women who used the supplement had babies who did not develop a neural tube defect, but women in the placebo group and the non-compliers had a high recurrence of infants with neural tube defects. However, they recommended the verification of these findings with a larger study (Laurence et al., 1981).

A nonrandomized study was conducted in volunteer women with a previous neural tube defect pregnancy. Pregnavite Forte F (a multivitamin containing 360 µg of folic acid) was used one month before pregnancy and after the second missed menstruation. During the first and second cohort (1976-1981) they found that women who used the multivitamin had a lower recurrence of neural tube defects (3:426) than women without the multivitamin (24:486). In the first, second, and third cohort (1976-1984) they found that women with multivitamin had a lower recurrence (14:1093) than women who partially used the multivitamin (Schorah & Smithells, 1991; Smithells et al., 1983; Schorah et al., 1983).

A group of researchers conducted a study in Cuba to determine if folic acid supplementation was an effective way to prevent neural tube defects. They used folic acid supplementation of 5 mg a day from the last menstruation through the tenth week of pregnancy. Three experimental groups were formed: supplemented, partially

supplemented, and non-supplemented. Among the supplemented and partially supplemented groups there were no cases of neural tube defects. However in the non-supplemented group a recurrence rate of 3.5% was found (Vergel et al., 1990).

The Medical Research Council conducted a larger randomized double-blind study. The study was designed to evaluate the effect of folic acid supplementation on the prevalence of neural tube defects in women of childbearing age. A previous history of an infant with a malformation was a requirement to participate in the study. A sample of 1817 women was divided into four groups: one with 400 µg folic acid supplementation, second with multivitamins (vitamin A, D, B1, B6, C, Nicotinamide) and folic acid, third with a placebo (dried ferrous sulfate and di-calcium phosphate), and fourth with other vitamins only. Blood and urine samples were used to determine baseline levels of folic acid. The results showed a prevalence of neural tube defects of 6/593 (1%) in women receiving folic acid, and 21/602 (3.5%) in women without folic acid (relative risk: 0.28). After the exclusion of the women who did not comply with the treatment or were pregnant before the experiment started, the prevalence did not change. They concluded that the folic acid supplementation decreased the prevalence of neural tube defects in women who had previous pregnancies with neural tube defects (MRC Vitamin Study Research Group, 1991). The authors concluded that if women in childbearing age are supplemented or have an adequate intake of folate, they have less risk of suffering a neural tube defect in their first pregnancy. Because most of the pregnancies with neural tube defects occur without a previous history, folic acid supplementation could be used to decrease the incidence of neural tube defects (CDC, 1992).

Holmes-Siedle et al. (1992) conducted a study with results similar to the Medical Research Council study. They studied a group of 164 women who had a previous pregnancy with neural tube defects over a 10-year period. Women received folic acid supplements before and after pregnancy (Pregnavite Forte F). They found a recurrence rate of neural tube defects of 10.7% (3:28) in women without folic acid supplementation, and 0.49% (1:204) in women with folic acid supplementation.

Honein et al. (2001) evaluated the impact of folate fortification on the prevalence of neural tube defects. They compared data from birth certificates from 45 states and Washington DC. They used data before fortification (October 1995 to December 1996) and after fortification (October 1998 to December 1999). There was a decreased prevalence of neural tube defects of 19% (37.8 to 30.5 per 100,000 live births) after fortification.

Also, a recent study using data from 13 reports of folic acid supplementation and one large cohort study concluded that the relationship between serum folate and neural tube defects risk is proportional, and the benefits of folate supplementation vary depending on the initial serum folate status. The reduction of the risk of having a pregnancy with neural tube defects may vary depending on the initial serum folate concentration and the amount of increase in folic acid intake. For example, if the initial serum folate concentration was 5 ng/mL and the folic acid intake increased 200 µg/day, the risk of having a pregnancy with neural tube defects would decrease about 23%; if an additional 400 µg/day of folic acid is consumed the reduction of the risk would be about 36% (Wald et al., 2001).

#### **Folate and Vascular Disease**

Studies have shown that subjects with vascular disease have higher levels of plasma homocysteine than healthy subjects (Tucker et al., 1996; Selhub et al., 1996; Rimm et al., 1998; Obeid et al., 1998). Folic acid, vitamin B12 and vitamin B6 are all involved in homocysteine metabolism. When one of these vitamins is deficient, high levels of homocysteine can be present in blood and endothelial damage can occur in the blood vessels (Larkin, 1998). The specific pathogenic mechanisms of damage in the blood vessels due to hyperhomocysteinemia have not been determined, but it is possible that toxic effects of sulfur amino acids can damage the endothelium and alter the platelet function, producing vascular damage (Selhub & Rosenberg, 1996).

A follow up of the Framingham Heart Study (1989-1990) demonstrated that folic acid, vitamin B12 and vitamin B6 were strongly associated with plasma homocysteine levels. It was observed that individuals with low levels of these vitamins had increased values of homocysteine in blood. However, individuals with moderate and high vitamin levels did not have significantly different homocysteine levels (Selhub et al., 1996).

Different enzymatic abnormalities (congenital or acquired) can produce hyperhomocysteinemia. The acquired abnormalities are mainly related to nutritional deficiencies. The deficiency of cystathionine synthase, a vitamin B6 dependent enzyme, produces vascular abnormalities, arterial and venous thromboses. Vitamin B6 is directly related to the transsulfuration reactions during homocysteine metabolism. When this vitamin is deficient, hyperhomocysteinemia occurs. Deficiency of methyltetrahydrofolate homocysteine methyl transferase, a vitamin B12 dependent enzyme, can produce rapidly progressive atherosclerosis. Vitamin B12 and folate are required for homocysteine

remethylation. Vitamin B12 is an essential cofactor of methionine synthase. As a result, in vitamin B12 deficiency, there is an increase of homocysteine levels in plasma (Green & Jacobsen, 1995).

Deficiency of methylenetetrahydrofolate reductase, a folic acid dependent enzyme can cause atherosclerotic plaques. 5-methyltetrahydrofolate is a co-substrate on homocysteine metabolism that helps the conversion of homocysteine to methionine by the action of the methionine synthase. So, when folate deficiency occurs, there is an increase in homocysteine concentration in blood. Normally, this pathway metabolizes 50% of the homocysteine. If folate is deficient, the administration of folic acid can reduce the homocysteine concentrations (Green & Jacobsen, 1995).

Tice et al. (2001) conducted a study to evaluate the cost-effectiveness of folate fortification and the use of vitamin therapy for the prevention of cardiovascular disease. They found that in addition to folate fortification of grain products, the use of vitamin therapy (folic acid and B12) would produce more benefits to the population. It was estimated that grain fortification with folic acid alone would decrease coronary heart disease by 8% in women and 13% in men. They estimated that if proven by clinical trials, the use of folic acid and vitamin B12 supplements as a treatment to lower homocysteine could save 310,000 deaths from cardiovascular disease each year (Tice et al., 2001).

Quinlivan et al. (2002) conducted an intervention study using two groups. Group one consisted of 30 healthy men and group two included 23 healthy women. Participants did not use vitamin supplements or consume fortified foods with folic acid before or during the study. Group one received progressive doses of folic acid (100  $\mu$ g, 200  $\mu$ g, and 400  $\mu$ g of folic acid) during the 26 weeks of intervention. Group two received 500  $\mu$ g of

folic acid during 4 months. They found that folic acid levels in blood were negatively correlated with homocysteine levels at the baseline, and vitamin B12 was weakly correlated to homocysteine; however, as supplementation of folic acid increased the negative correlation between vitamin B12 and homocysteine increased. These results showed that vitamin B12 is also a risk factor for increased levels of homocysteine in blood. As a consequence, researchers suggested the addition of vitamin B12 to fortified foods to decrease the risk of cardiovascular disease and neural tube defects (Quinlivan et al., 2002).

#### Folate and Cancer

Giovannucci et al. (1993) conducted a large sample size study where a inverse relationship between the amount of folate intake and the incidence of colon cancer was found. Baron et al. (1998) studied a group of patients with a diagnosis of colon adenoma. Each subject was evaluated by colonoscopy during the first and fourth year of follow up, including dietary assessment at baseline and at fourth year. They also found an inverse relationship between folate intake and adenoma risk. Other types of cancer have been studied to evaluate if there is a relationship between folate availability and carcinogenesis, but there is no specific evidence of other relationships (Mason, 1995).

#### Folate and Neurological Diseases

Folic acid deficiency has been related to depression, dementia, and Alzheimer's disease. Low concentrations of folic acid in blood and high concentrations of homocysteine affect the nervous system due to neurotoxic mechanisms (Reynolds, 2002).

#### Assessment of Folate Status

There are different methods to assess folate status in the body. In blood, serum folate and red blood cell (RBC) folate can be measured to assess folate status. RBC folate is used to measure folate status because it cannot be changed by recent folate consumption (Bailey, 1990; Lucock, 2000). Normal range of RBC folate is 175-700 ng/mL (Diagnostic Products Corpo., Los Angeles, CA). Serum folate is used as a measure of recent folate consumption (Bailey, 1990). Normal range of serum folate is 3-17 ng/mL (Diagnostic Products Corpo., Los Angeles, CA). Excretion of FIGLU via urine is another test used to assess folate status. However, urinary FIGLU is not considered specific for folate because it can be altered by other vitamin deficiencies and other diseases (Brody et al., 1984; Gibson, 1990a). During histidine degradation, FIGLU is formed. Folate is necessary for FIGLU to be converted to glutamic acid. In folate deficiency, FIGLU is excreted by urine (Gibson, 1990a). Plasma homocysteine has been used as a predictor or indicator of folate status (Selhub & Rosenberg, 1996). In the Framingham Heart Study (1989-1990) it was shown that in folate deficient patients, homocysteine values in the blood were high (Selhub et al., 1996). Blood homocysteine values vary depending on folate consumption (Brody et al., 1984). Normal range of homocysteine for young women is 3.7-10.4 µmol/L (Selhub et al., 1999).

#### **Dietary Sources of Folate**

The main food sources of naturally occurring folate are green leafy vegetables, yeast, grains, legumes, organ meats such as liver, and some fruits (Food and Nutrition

Board, 1989; Food and Nutrition Board, 1998; Berdanier, 1998). Subar et al. (1989) found that the main sources of folate in the adult population of the United States during the Second National Health and Nutrition Examination Survey (NHANES II) were orange juice, followed by white breads, beans, green salad, and ready-to-eat cereals. Orange juice is not a rich source of folate, but its high consumption makes it a good folate source in the American population (Subar et al., 1989). Gates and Holmes (1999) studied the main sources of folate in women of childbearing age (11-50 years old) during the 1994-95 Continuing Survey of Food Intakes by Individuals (CSFII) based on two 24hour recalls. They found that the five main foods that provided folate were ready-to-eat cereal; citrus fruits; mixtures mainly grains (such as pasta); breads and rolls; and mixtures mainly meat, poultry, or fish. They also found low consumption of folate-rich foods such as dark green vegetables and liver.

Schaller and Olson (1996) analyzed data from the 1989-1991 CSFII and the 1987-1988 NFCS. Results showed vegetables, ready-to-eat cereals, meat, grains, other foods, desserts and snacks, orange juice, other beverages, milk and fruit were the main providers of folate in women of childbearing age. In the Framingham Heart Study it was found that the main providers of folate in elderly women were lettuce, oranges, broccoli, cauliflower, winter squash, grapefruit and mixed vegetables (Tucker et al., 1996).

Brouwer et al. (1999) assessed the effect of increased dietary folate intake from citrus fruits and vegetables. They conducted a 4-week intervention using 66 healthy subjects (18-45y). Subjects were divided into 3 groups: high vegetables (spinach, broccoli, mixed vegetables, about 320 µg folate/day) and citrus fruit (orange, orange juice, or tangerines, about 75 µg of folate/day) plus a placebo tablet; folic acid group (low

folate diet plus 500 µg of folic acid supplement); and the placebo group (low folate diet plus a placebo tablet). At the end of the study, both intervention groups increased plasma (p<.001) and RBC folate (p<.01) as compared to the placebo group. Plasma homocysteine decreased (p<.001) in both intervention groups as compared to the placebo group.

#### Folate and Ready-to-Eat Cereal Consumption

Consumption of ready-to-eat cereals has been related to increased folic acid intake (Tucker et al., 1996; Albertson & Marquart, 1999; Cuskelly et al., 1999; Gates & Contreras, 2002). For example, Gates & Contreras (2002) found that higher estimated folate intake in young women was associated with increased consumption of cereals (r=.59; p<.001), fortified foods (r=.74; p<.001) and naturally folate rich foods (r=.69; p<.001). Tucker et al. (1996) found that people who consume ready-to-eat cereal at least 2 times per week had higher plasma folate (p<.0001) and lower homocysteine concentrations (p<.0001) than non cereal eaters.

Albertson and Marquart (1999) found that women who ate cereal consumed about 80  $\mu$ g/day of folate more than non-cereal eaters. Cuskelly et al. (1999) found that exclusion of folic acid fortified cereals from the diets of young women reduced folic acid intake by about 80  $\mu$ g/day, and as a consequence, reduced RBC folate concentrations.

Kloeblen (1999) used a sample of women eligible for or enrolled in the Special Supplemmental Nutrition Program for Women, Infants, and Children to assess folate intake from grain products. She found that 95.5% of low-income pregnant women

consumed ready-to-eat cereals on a daily basis, showing that ready-to-eat cereal constitutes an easy way to increase folate intake.

Ashfield-Watt et al. (2002) used three different interventions to observe the effect of folate-enhancing diets on plasma folate and plasma homocysteine. Forty-two healthy men (n=53) and women (n=73) of three different genotypes (*TT*, *CT*, *CC*) completed three different diets during 4-months following a random order. Three groups were formed: folate exclusion diet (regular diet excluding folic acid fortified foods), folate rich diet to achieve 400  $\mu$ g/d or 575 dietary folate equivalents (DFE)), and a supplement group (400  $\mu$ g folic acid supplement or 680 DFE). Subjects in the folate rich diet were advised to consume one bowl of cereal (333  $\mu$ g/day) and 3 slices of fortified bread to meet the RDA for folate (400  $\mu$ g/d); more participants chose to consume cereal than breads. People in the folate rich diet and supplement group had increased plasma folate and decreased homocysteine concentration compared to the exclusion diet.

The same group of researchers conducted a crossover study to assess the effect of low-dose folic acid supplementation or improvement of dietary folate intake on plasma homocysteine. They used 42 healthy subjects of each MTHFR (C677T) genotype in each intervention group. The study was double blind for genotype. In intervention 1, subjects followed their usual diet with natural occurring folate and received a placebo, and were instructed to exclude folic acid fortified foods (estimated folate intake of 200  $\mu$ g/day). In intervention 2, subjects followed their usual diet and received a 400 $\mu$ g of folic acid supplement/day (estimated folate intake of 600  $\mu$ g/day). In intervention 3, subjects were instructed to increase their folate intake by consuming folate rich foods and folic acid fortified foods such as breads and breakfast cereals (estimated folate intake of 400

 $\mu$ g/day). Intervention 1 and 2 were double blind. At baseline, plasma folate and homocysteine concentrations were significantly different among genotypes. Dietary folate and supplement increased plasma folate by 46% (p<.001) and 79%, respectively. Plasma homocysteine was reduced by about 15% in both groups. TT genotype subjects decreased plasma homocysteine by 24% as compared with subjects of CC genotype (8%) (Pullin et al., 2001)

Cuskelly et al. (1999) found that excluding fortified breakfast cereal from the diet for 12 weeks decreased RBC folate by 27% in women who consumed cereal regularly as compared with a 4% reduction in women who do not consume cereals. Serum folate was not significantly different between the groups.

Malinow et al. (2000) hypothesized that exclusion of usual folic acid fortified cereal consumption from the diet would increase plasma homocysteine concentrations. They also hypothesized that consuming 200  $\mu$ g of folic acid/day would maintain plasma homocysteine concentrations. Seventy-nine healthy subjects and patients with stable coronary heart disease completed the study during a 15-week period. Subjects were blocked by age and gender and divided in two groups: group A (cereal with 10  $\mu$ g of folic acid) and group B (cereal with 273 ± 21  $\mu$ g of folic acid). They found that excluding breakfast cereals from the diet of regular cereal eaters increased homocysteine concentrations, and that providing a daily intake of 200  $\mu$ g of folic acid/serving of cereal was enough to maintain lower plasma homocysteine concentrations.

Schorah et al. (1998) conducted a study to assess the effect of folic acid fortified foods on homocysteine levels. Participants were included if they were not regular cereal eaters or did not use vitamin supplements. Participants were divided in three groups: the

folic acid group (n=33) received folic acid fortified cereal at 200  $\mu$ g/day, the folic acid plus multivitamins group (n=31) received the same amount of folic acid fortified cereal in addition to other vitamins regularly present in fortified cereals, and the control group received an unfortified cereal (n=30). Blood samples were taken at baseline, 4, 8, and 24 weeks. Participants who consumed the fortified cereal had a significantly increased serum folate and decreased homocysteine concentrations at all weeks as compared to baseline. However, significant increases in RBC folate were only observed at 24 weeks of treatment for the two intervention groups. A greater effect of the folic acid consumption on homocysteine concentrations.

#### **Folate Availability from Foods**

The availability of folate in food varies. Folate availability is affected by cooking methods (Brody, 1984), preparation, and storage (Gregory, 1997). Folate losses vary depending on the method used to prepare the food. About half of the folate content is lost with heat. The stability of the form of folate influences the degree of folate degradation during heating (Brody, 1984). In some types of food, such as legumes and cabbage, the availability of folate is decreased by the presence of enzyme inhibitors or oxidant agents that prevent the absorption of folate (Brody, 1984; Albertson & Marquart, 1999). In orange juice, although the availability is not the best, the folate content is stable because of the vitamin C content of the juice (Wei et al., 1996). Folic acid added to cereals and grain products is absorbed in similar amounts than folic acid supplements (Tamura, 1997; Food and Nutrition Board, 1998).

#### **Folate Fortification**

During this century many micronutrients have been discovered and many deficiency diseases have been eradicated. Food fortification policy has improved the nutrient intake in the United States and other countries. However, after the traditional nutrient deficiencies disappear, new nutrient deficiencies were discovered (Mertz, 1997).

In 1940, fortification of flour began in the United States with three water-soluble vitamins (riboflavin, niacin, thiamin) and iron. Later, fortification of other grain products was approved (Mertz, 1997).

Different methods have been suggested to improve folate intake in women of childbearing age. One of them was the folate fortification of the food supply (Mulinare & Erickson, 1997). The addition of vitamins to the food supply does not require any behavioral change by the target population (Romano et al., 1995). So folic acid fortification is the simplest way to increase folate intake in the US population (Tamura, 1997).

In 1992, the U.S. Public Health Service recommended the consumption of 400 µg of folic acid a day by women of childbearing age to prevent neural tube defects (CDC, 1992). Since formation of the neural tube occurs during the first four weeks of pregnancy (Jeffery, 1999), and because many pregnancies are unplanned, women who are folate deficient during the first weeks of gestation may have a baby affected by a neural tube defect. The Centers for Disease Control (CDC) estimated that increasing the folic acid intake in childbearing age women could prevent about 75% of those birth defects each year (CDC, 1998).

In 1996, the Food and Drug Administration (FDA) amended the standards for folic acid fortification of enriched grain products (US Department of Health and Human Services, 1996) due to the low cost of food fortification with folic acid (Romano et al., 1995) and the high benefit to the population. A cost-benefit analysis by Romano et al. (1995) found that a low level of folic acid fortification (140  $\mu$ g of folic acid/100 g of grain) would have an estimated saving of \$94 million to the government by preventing neural tube defects.

Folic acid fortification is estimated to increase folate intake by about 80  $\mu$ g a day or more (Food and Nutrition Board, 1998). Different studies were used to support the specific amount needed to increase folate intake. Daly et al. (1997) conducted a study to determine the minimum dose of folic acid that would be effective to minimize the incidence of neural tube defects. They used four groups: placebo, 100  $\mu$ g, 200  $\mu$ g, and 400  $\mu$ g of folic acid supplement a day. They found an increased amount of folic acid in red blood cells in the treatment groups when compared to the placebo group. They determined that 200  $\mu$ g would be an adequate amount of folic acid to implement food fortification because it would decrease the incidence of neural tube defects and it would be safe for the rest of the population. They estimated that the approval of 100  $\mu$ g of folic acid as the value for food fortification by the FDA was safe, but may be insufficient to meet the requirements to decrease the incidence of neural tube defects.

Cuskelly et al. (1999) conducted a study to determine if low amounts of folic acid would make a difference in folate status in young women by using an exclusion method of folate fortified foods during a 12-week period. They determined that women who were consumers of folic acid (consumed fortified foods at least once a week) had significantly

higher folate intake (p=.002) and RBC folate concentrations (p=.023) than nonconsumers at baseline. After the 12-week exclusion period, women in the consumers group had a decreased on folate intake (27%) and RBC folate concentrations (12%) than the non-consumers (4% folate intake; 1% RBC folate concentrations). This study showed that exclusion of folic acid fortified foods decreases folate intake by 78 ± 56 µg/day, close to the estimated amount of increase of folic acid by food (80 µg/day) (Food and Nutrition Board, 1998).

Wald et al. (2001) analyzed data from different studies to determine the doseresponse of folic acid and the incidence of neural tube defects. They found that if folic acid intake is increased by 200  $\mu$ g/day, the risk of neural tube defects would decrease by 23%, and consumption of 400  $\mu$ g/day would decrease the risk of neural tube defects by 36%.

A study conducted by Werler et al. (1999) evaluated the different strategies to enhance folate intake in women of childbearing age proposed by the US Department of Health and Human Services in 1996. They studied a population of women of childbearing age with previous history of a baby with congenital malformation. They found that 71% of the women did not take folic acid as a supplement before pregnancy. The average amount of folate provided by foods was 250  $\mu$ g/day and the average amount of folic acid provided by fortified foods was approximately 130  $\mu$ g/day. These results showed that although folic acid fortification was implemented, women of childbearing age were not meeting the recommended amounts of 400  $\mu$ g/day of folic acid to prevent neural tube defects. Only 32% of these women knew about the relationship of folate intake and neural tube defects.
Jacques et al. (1999) evaluated plasma folate concentrations in subjects before fortification and after fortification in the Framingham Offspring Study. The control group consisted of 756 subjects examined before fortification (January 1995 to September 1996), and the study group consisted of 350 subjects examined after fortification (September 1997 to March 1998). They found a considerable increase in plasma folate concentrations (4.6  $\mu$ g/L before fortification to 10.0  $\mu$ g/L after fortification: p<.001) and considerable decrease in the prevalence of high homocysteine concentrations after fortification by 50% (18.7% before fortification to 9.8% after fortification; p < .001). This research showed that the folic acid fortification of grain products enhanced the folate intake in subjects who participated in the study. Choumenkovitch et al. (2001) conducted a cross-sectional study using the same population to assess the effect of folate fortification on RBC folate. They found that RBC folate concentrations were 38% higher in the group exposed to folic acid fortification than the non-exposed. However, since only a few women (n=7) were younger that 45 years old, the effect of folate fortification in childbearing age women could not be estimated.

Lawrence et al. (1999) assessed serum folate concentration before and after fortification using data from serum folate tests that were analyzed by Kaiser Permanente's Southern California Endocrinology Laboratory. They found that serum folate values increased after the fortification. Median serum folate values were 12.6  $\mu$ g/L in 1994 and 18.7  $\mu$ g/L in 1998. They said that the increased folate levels were probably due to food fortification.

Data from the 1988-1994 NHANES III and 1999 NHANES showed significantly increased serum and RBC folate concentrations in childbearing age women (CDC, 2000).

Mean serum folate concentration in women (15-44 years) increased from 6.3 in 1988-1994 to 16.2 ng/mL in 1999. Mean RBC folate concentration increased from 181 to 315 ng/mL.

The CDC also compared data from the 1988-1994 NHANES and the 1999-2000 NHANES on folate levels in serum and RBC in childbearing age women by race. They found that women 15-44 years old increased their median serum folate concentration by threefold and the median RBC folate concentration by twofold. These data indicates that the 2010 objective related to folate has been met for hispanic and white women (CDC, 2002). Median RBC folate concentrations increased from 159.9 to 263.6 ng/mL RBC. RBC folate increased for all ethnic groups during NHANES 1999-2000. Increased RBC folate indicates that women benefited from the public health actions to increase folate intake by food fortification (CDC, 2002).

In Canada, as well as in the US, grain products have been fortified with folic acid since 1998. Folic acid fortification was supposed to increase dietary folate by approximately 200  $\mu$ g/day (Ray et al., 2002). Ray et al. (2002) compared the prevalence of neural tube defects in Canada before and after fortification. They found a significant (*p*=.0001) decreased prevalence of neural tube defects after folic acid fortification of grain products.

A cross-sectional study was conducted in Southern California to assess folate status of healthy young women after folic acid fortification of grain products. Eighty five socio-economically advantaged women and 50 disadvantaged women were used in the study. Results showed that women from both groups were benefited by folic acid

fortification, since blood values of folate exceeded the normal values (Serum folate  $\geq 13.6$  nmol/L; red cell folate  $\geq 362$  nmol/L) (Caudill et al., 2001).

A recent report from Quinlivan & Gregory (2003) assessed the effect of folic acid fortification in the US population based on recent studies. They found a greater increase in serum folate (5.4  $\mu$ g/L (Jacques et al., 1999), 6.0  $\mu$ g/L (Lawrence et al., 1999), 7.9  $\mu$ g/L (CDC, 2000)) than the increase estimated by the Food and Nutrition Board (1.9–3.5  $\mu$ g/L) (1998).

A study assessed the effect of folate-enhancing dietary interventions on plasma folate and plasma homocysteine. Subjects were placed in one of three dietary interventions: folate exclusion diet (regular diet excluding folic acid fortified foods), folate rich diet (more than 400 µg of folate/d or 575 DFE), and supplement group (400 µg folic acid supplement/d or 680 DFE). People in the folate rich diet and supplement groups had increased plasma folate and decreased homocysteine concentration compared to the exclusion diet (Ashfield-Watt et al., 2002).

Venn et al. (2002) compared the effectiveness of a 100 µg folic acid supplement/day (oxidized form) and the use of a synthetic L-5-methyltetrahydrofolate (L-MTHF, reduced form) to lower homocysteine in healthy volunteers. The use of L-MTHF does not mask vitamin B12 deficiency because L-MTHF needs to be converted to tetrahydrofolate (THF) using a vitamin B12 dependent enzyme (methionine synthase). If a person is vitamin B12 deficient, this process cannot occur and the use of this type of folate does not ameliorate vitamin B12 symptoms. They conducted a 24-week double blind, randomized, placebo controlled study. Subjects were divided into three study groups: placebo group (capsules of magnesium stearate and microcrystalline cellulose as

a filter), folic acid group (100 µg folic acid/d), and L-MTHF group (113 µg L-MTHF, as calcium salt). Homocysteine values decreased significantly in the intervention groups; however the L-MTHF group (baseline= $8.8 \mu mol/L$ ; 24-weeks= $7.4 \mu mol/L$ ; n=53) had a greater decrease than the folic acid group (baseline= $8.4 \mu mol/L$ ; 24-weeks= $7.6 \mu mol/L$ ; n=52). The homocysteine of the placebo group did not change. RBC folate was significantly higher in the intervention groups than the placebo group.

These studies suggest that blood folate concentrations increased after food fortification (Daly et al., 1997; Jacques et al., 1999; Lawrence et al., 1999; Werler et al., 1999; CDC, 2000, 2002; Wald et al., 2001; Caudill et al., 2001; Ray et al., 2002; Ashfield-Watt et al., 2002; Quinlivan & Gregory, 2003). This demonstrated that folic acid fortification is an effective way to increase folate intake in the population.

### **Dietary Reference Intakes for Folate**

The latest scientific knowledge about nutrients allowed the creation of new terms to express the recommendations for the population. These Dietary Reference Intakes (DRIs) are formed by four reference values for specific nutrients. The Estimated Average Requirement (EAR) expresses the necessary nutrient intake to meet nutrient requirements of 50% of the population. The Recommended Dietary Allowances (RDAs) are reference values of intake for individuals that are estimated to meet the requirements of almost all healthy individuals. Adequate Intake (AI) represents the nutrient requirement of a specific nutrient that has been established based on the best scientific knowledge available about the nutrient to meet the needs of the individual, but there is not enough evidence to define a RDA value. An AI was not established for folate. The Tolerable

Upper Intake Level (UL) is the maximum intake thought to be safe for individuals without any side effects or risks of toxicity (Yates et al., 1998; National Academy of Sciences, 1997a; 1997b; 1997c).

Folate availability varies depending on whether the folate is provided by food (50% available) or synthetic supplements (85% available). Dietary folate equivalents (DFE) were created to assess in a more realistic way the amount of folate available to the body. To calculate the EAR for folate, the µg of DFE were calculated based on the amount of folate provided by food plus 1.7 times the amount of synthetic folic acid provided by fortified foods or supplements (Food and Nutrition Board, 1998; Bailey, 1998).

Recommended values for folate have been set based on gender and age. EAR and RDA values for folate in adults were derived from different well-controlled metabolic studies. Women of childbearing age should have a synthetic folic acid intake of 400  $\mu$ g/day plus the folate from the diet. During pregnancy folate requirements increase, so 100  $\mu$ g of synthetic folic acid (approximately 200  $\mu$ g/day DFE) was added to the EAR for non-pregnant women. During lactation, folate values were set based on the folate needed by non-lactating woman and the amount of folate excreted in milk daily (Food and Nutrition Board, 1998) (see Table 2.1).

Group	EAR	RDA
Adults > 19 years old	320 µg/day	400 μg/day
Pregnancy	520 μg/day	600 μg/day
Lactation	450 μg/day	500 μg/day

Table 2.1 Dietary reference intake of folate for women by life cycle stage (Food and Nutrition Board, 1998).

### Folate Intake

Folate intake has been evaluated in different populations, and using different methods (de Bree et al., 1997; Subar et al., 1989; Subar et al., 1990; Block & Abrams, 1993; Schaller & Olson, 1996; Rimm et al., 1998; Firth et al., 1998; Jacques et al., 1999; Gates & Holmes, 1999; Caudill et al., 2001; CDC, 2000; Choumenkovitch et al., 2002; Quinlivan & Gregory, 2003).

Subar et al. (1989) examined 24-hour recalls from the 1976-1980 NHANES II (before mandatory folic acid fortification). They studied the US population between 19 to 74 years old and found mean adult folate intake to be  $242 \pm 2.8 \ \mu\text{g}$ . They found mean folate intake of men was  $281 \pm 3.6 \ \mu\text{g}/\text{day}$  and women was  $207 \pm 2.9 \ \mu\text{g}/\text{day}$ . Blacks had lower folate intake than whites. Women between 19 to 50 years of age had a mean intake of 218  $\mu\text{g}/\text{day}$ . None of the groups meet the 1998 RDA for folate (400  $\mu\text{g}/\text{d}$ ).

Subar et al. (1990) analyzed data from the 1976-1980 NHANES II to determine differences in nutrient intake between smokers and non-smokers. They found that the mean intake of folate in non-smoking and smoking men was very similar (249  $\mu$ g and 248  $\mu$ g, respectively). In non-smoking women the mean intake of folate was 204  $\mu$ g/day,

and in smoking women it was 188  $\mu$ g/day. They found a negative association between smoking and folate intake in both sexes (males:  $\beta = -0.06$ , SE = 0.014; females:  $\beta = -0.09$ , SE = 0.017).

Data from women 20 to 45 years of age in the 1989-1991 Continuing Survey of Food Intakes by Individuals, and the Nationwide Food Consumption Survey were analyzed. Mean intakes varied depending on the use of ready-to-eat cereal. Women who did not consume ready-to-eat cereal had a 42% lower folate intake than women who consumed ready-to-eat cereal (Schaller & Olson, 1996).

de Bree et al. (1997) studied folate intake in adult European populations. They found that the mean intake of folate was 291  $\mu$ g in men and 247  $\mu$ g in women. The recommended folate intake was met by a tiny portion of the population. They recommended motivating the population to increase the consumption of green vegetables and grain products to enhance folate intake.

Gates & Holmes (1999) analyzed data from the 1994-95 CSFII to determine the folate intake in 2,086 women of childbearing age estimated by two non-consecutive 24-hour recalls. Folate intake averaged  $215 \pm 3 \ \mu g$  and 50% of the subjects consumed less than 180  $\mu g$ /day of folate.

Rimm et al. (1998) assessed folate intake in women who participated in the Nurses' Health Study before fortification. They found that the average folate intake was  $366 \mu g/d$  with a median of 277  $\mu g/d$ . Those values were above the national average of  $224 \mu g/d$ .

In 1998, Firth et al. studied folate intake in women of childbearing age. They collected fourteen 1-day randomly selected food records during a 60-day period. They

found that the mean intake of folate was  $288 \pm 195 \ \mu g$  in a population sample of 21 women. Only two women met the RDA. After simulation of the effect of folic acid fortification (adding  $140 \mu g / 100 \ g$  flour), they found that folate intake increased to  $550 \pm 279 \ \mu g$  without supplements and to  $609 \pm 327 \ \mu g$  with supplements.

Jacques et al. (1999) analyzed data from the  $5^{th}$  (1991-1994), and  $6^{th}$  (1995-1998) examination of the Framingham Offspring Study cohort to assess the effect of folic acid fortification. Participants examined after folic acid fortification was implemented formed the study group (n=350; September 1997 to March 1998). Participants examined before folic acid fortification formed the control group (n=756; January 1995 to September 1996). Baseline data correspond to the 5<sup>th</sup> examination and follow up data correspond to the 6<sup>th</sup> examination. A food frequency questionnaire was used to assess the usual folate intake, folic acid supplement use, and folic acid from fortified foods. Subjects were separated in two groups based on B vitamin supplement use. Before fortification, study group subjects who used B vitamins had a folate intake of  $650 \mu g/day$ , and the control group had a folate intake of 651 µg/day. Study group subjects who did not use B vitamin supplements had a folate intake of 266  $\mu$ g/day, and the control group had a folate intake of 275 µg/day. After the implementation of fortification they found a mean folate intake of 686 µg/day in the study group that used B vitamins, and the control group had a mean folate intake of 675  $\mu$ g/day. The study group that did not take B vitamins had a mean folate intake of 271 µg/day, and the control group had a mean folate intake of 291  $\mu$ g/day. They concluded that folic acid fortification improved folate status in that population.

Choumenkovitch et al. (2002) using also data from the 5<sup>th</sup> and 6<sup>th</sup> examination of the Framingham Offspring Study estimated the effect of folic acid fortification on 1480 individuals. They found that people exposed to folic acid fortification without folic acid supplement consumption had an increased intake of 190  $\mu$ g/day of folic acid (p<0.001), more than was expected (Food Nutrition Board, 1998; Tucker et al., 1996).

Cuskelly et al. (1999) examined the effect of folic acid fortification in young women who consumed or did not consume fortified foods. They found at baseline that women who consumed fortified foods had a higher folate intake ( $265 \pm 72 \mu g$ ) than women who did not consume fortified foods ( $197 \pm 72 \mu g$ ; p = 0.002). After exclusion of fortified foods from the diet for 12 weeks, folate intake decreased in people who consumed fortified foods before the study, but did not change in people who did not consume fortified foods before the study.

Several recent studies have shown a higher consumption of folate than expected (CDC, 2000; Caudill et al., 2001; Choumenkovitch et al., 2002; Quinlivan & Gregory, 2003). For example, Caudill et al. (2001) found that women who did not consume folic acid supplements 12 months prior to the study were consuming 100-200  $\mu$ g of folate/day more than nationwide estimates before fortification. Quinlivan & Gregory (2003) also found that estimated folate intake increased 215-240  $\mu$ g/day after folic acid fortification, double the expected increase (Food Nutrition Board, 1998).

# **Dietary Assessment Methods**

Dietary assessment methods are very important in nutrition research. Since early in this century, researchers have tried to develop tools that could be used to evaluate the

food intake of individuals. Underreporting of food consumption is a constant problem in dietary intake studies and all methods experience this difficulty to some degree (Martin et al., 1996; Kroke et al., 1999; Seale & Rumpler, 1997; Rothenberg et al., 1998; Bratteby et al., 1998; Johnson et al., 1998). To minimize underreporting of foods, subjects are usually trained using non-biasing food models for portion size estimates, or cup and spoon measures (Johnston, 1985; Posner et al., 1992).

### **24-Hour Recalls**

In 1938, based on the research work of Burke and Stuart, the 24-hour recall started the long journey as an essential tool for nutrition assessment. Since then, 24-hour recalls have been used in large national surveys and for research purposes (Witschi, 1990). Usually the interviewers are well trained to generate appropriate information about specific features of the food consumed (Thompson & Byers, 1994).

Different strategies have been developed to enhance the data obtained from 24hour recalls. One strategy is to announce the visit to the person in advance so the individual can be aware of the types and specific amounts of foods eaten. A list of foods can be presented to help the person remember if those foods were eaten during the previous day (Wright et al., 1993). Encoding and retrieval strategies have been used to enhance memory to recall foods that were eaten in the past (Ervin & Smiciklas-Wright, 1998).

The multiple pass strategy for the 24-hour recall was used in NHANES III and the 1994-1996 Continuing Survey of Food Intakes by Individuals (CSFII). During the first set (pass) of questions, the person tells the foods and drinks consumed during the day. In

the second pass, the interviewer verifies all the foods and drinks with their specific serving size and usually forgotten foods (snacks, candies, cookies). In the third pass, the interviewer asks details about the foods (name brands, specific amounts, if anything is added to specific foods such as sugar on cereal or coffee, milk on cereal, cream in coffee, butter on bread or vegetables) and reviews the entire 24-hour recall (Smiciklas-Wright & Mitchell, 1998).

Johnson et al. (1996) conducted a study to determine the accuracy of the multiplepass 24-hour recall for estimating energy intake in children compared with the doubly labeled water method. Data from 24 children were used to evaluate the method. Three non-consecutive 24-hour recalls were collected during a 14-day period. There was no significant difference between the two methods in estimates of energy intake (p = .65). However, in another study conducted by Johnson et al. (1998) in low-income women, a significant difference was found between the energy intake estimated by the multiple pass 24-hour recall and the doubly labeled water method. Underreporting of food intake may have been related to the low literacy and high body fatness of the respondents.

Fanelli & Stevenhagen (1986) compared 24-hour recalls and 1-day food records to assess energy and nutrient intake in older adults. They found no significant differences in energy and nutrient intake estimated by those two methods.

Liu et al. (1992) conducted a study to assess the relationship between a food frequency questionnaire, 24-hour recalls and biochemical measures of nutritional status. They conducted a food frequency questionnaire to evaluate nutrient intake during the past year. Twenty four-hour recalls were collected four times. Blood samples were collected at each visit and analyzed for different nutrients. A correlation between folate as

determined by the 24-hour recall and by the food frequency questionnaire was 0.22. When adjusted by calorie intake the correlation between the two methods for folate decreased (r = 0.20).

Twenty four-hour recalls have advantages and disadvantages. They are easy, inexpensive, can be used in large populations, do not require of the respondent to be literate, and they are less likely to cause diet modification because food intake information is collected after food is consumed (Thompson & Byers, 1994; Gibson, 1990a). However, some disadvantages are related to the use of memory to recall the foods eaten, and difficulty in estimating an individual's usual intake because of the variability of the diet from day to day (Thompson & Byers, 1994).

# **Food Frequency Questionnaire**

During the 1950s, the food frequency questionnaire was developed as an inexpensive method to evaluate food intake for periods longer than one day (Willet, 1990). A food frequency questionnaire is composed of a list of food items, an indication of frequency of consumption, and in some cases, specific serving sizes. Usually, specific features of the food items such as method of preparation are not required (Thompson & Byers, 1994). Food frequency methods are commonly used to rank study subjects by their frequency of consumption of specific foods or by estimated nutrient intake. The food frequency method may be selected to collect usual food consumption data because it is easily administered and requires little time for respondents to complete (Thompson & Byers, 1994; Block et al., 1990b; Subar et al., 2001).

Food frequencies tend to overestimate intake (Briefel et al., 1992; Krebs-Smith et al., 1995), however, less than 3% of subjects in longitudinal validation studies of the food frequency questionnaire method were incorrectly classified in nutrient intake categories (Rimm et al., 1992; Gibson, 1990b).

One of the advantages of the food frequency questionnaire tool is that it quickly estimates the usual dietary intake of individuals during a specific period of time (Gibson, 1990a; Thompson & Byers, 1994; Subar et al., 2001). In addition, this method is inexpensive because it can be used in large population studies, can be self-administered, and requires little time to be administered. Some disadvantages of this method include the difficulty in estimating portion size of foods and the nutrient intake may be overestimated or underestimated depending on the number of foods included in the questionnaire (Thompson & Byers, 1994; Krebs-Smith, 1995). It is difficult for individuals to express which diet they follow or to estimate the amounts of foods that they consumed (Thompson & Byers, 1994).

The Health Habits and History Questionnaire (HHHQ) food frequency questionnaire was developed based on data from the NHANES II. Food items were selected based on their contribution to the total energy intake of the population that participated in the study. Portion sizes were determined based on the portions most frequently used by the population based on three-dimensional food models (Block et al., 1986). The HHHQ is used to provide relative consumption frequency of foods over the past year (Block et al., 1990a; Block et al., 1990b; Briefel et al., 1992; Krebs-Smith et al., 1995).

Data from the Women's Health Trial (WHT) Feasibility Study was used to validate the HHHQ food frequency questionnaire compared with 4-day food records. Food records were collected during three times of the year from 277 women. Subjects who were assigned to two different diets (usual diet and low-fat diet) completed the 4-day food records and the food frequency questionnaire. Food records were collected during baseline, 6 months, and one year later. The food frequency questionnaire was collected one year later. The average correlation for nutrients between the usual diet and low fat diet group was r = 0.55. There was a slight increase in the average correlation when the data was adjusted for energy intake (r = 0.57) in the usual diet group, but no changes were found in the low fat group (Block et al., 1990a).

Based on the questionnaire developed by Block (Block et al., 1986), an abridged questionnaire was developed. This short questionnaire assessed macronutrients as well as micronutrients. When compared to three 4-day food records in women and two 7-day food records over a period of 10-15 years in a group of old men, they found underestimation for macronutrients, but a good estimation for micronutrients (Block et al., 1990b).

Block et al. (1992) conducted a study with 228 participants to validate and compare two food frequency questionnaires (University of Michigan food frequency questionnaire and HHHQ) with multiple dietary records collected during a 1-year period. After the completion of the diet record collection, both FFQs were administered to the sample population. A total of 16 days of dietary information were collected (four 24-hour recalls during the year and after each one, 3-day food records were collected) from 85 people. These two food frequency questionnaires were highly correlated for energy and

most nutrients (r = 0.7 to 0.8). The HHHQ with specific portion sizes (small, medium and large) had better correlation with energy intake (r = 0.57) when compared to the food records than the University of Michigan questionnaire (r = 0.48) (Block et al., 1992).

Eck et al. (1991) developed a short-term food frequency questionnaire (7 days) based on the Willet's food frequency questionnaire. The questionnaire was compared to three 24-hour recalls. Correlations between the mean nutrient estimates from the 24-hour recalls and the food frequency questionnaire for different nutrients ranged from 0.43 to 0.88 with an average of 0.74 (Eck et al., 1991).

Jacques et al. (1993) found that folate intake estimated by a 116 item semiquantitative food frequency questionnaire correlated r=0.49 with plasma folate. When adjusted for energy intake, the correlation increased to r=0.63. They concluded that the food frequency questionnaire provides a valid measure of folate intake. Estimated folate intake from a 24-item food frequency questionnaire was consistent with serum folates in adolescents (Bailey et al., 1984; Bailey et al., 1982a; Bailey et al., 1982b).

A recent study compared the HHHQ, the new Diet History Questionnaire (DHQ) and the Willet food frequency questionnaire. The analysis showed that the HHHQ and the DHQ had better estimates of absolutes intakes than the Willet food frequency questionnaire (Subar et al., 2001).

### Food Records

Food records are called the "gold standard" of the dietary collection methods because the data is usually more accurate than the other methods (Thompson & Byers, 1994). Data from food records is labor-intensive to collect and time-consuming to code

and enter for analysis; however, this method provides quantitatively accurate information on food consumption during the recording period (Thompson & Byers, 1994). The individual must write down all the food and drinks consumed with specific portion sizes, for a specific number of days (Lee & Nieman, 1996). In addition, features of the food consumed and mode of preparation must be included, such as kind of cooking method (fried, steam or baked), as well as brand names of the foods. Sometimes subjects are asked to measure or weigh food and beverages (Gibson, 1990a). Food records should be collected during periods not longer than 7 days. Food records of longer periods of time are inadequate because the individual can get exhausted with the process and this can produce incorrect data (Lee & Nieman, 1996; Thompson & Byers, 1994).

# **Nutrition Education**

Nutrition education interventions must be targeted toward a specific group and built around a theory to change behavior (Contento et al., 1988; Murphy, 1997). Nutrition education programs have shown improvements in pregnancy outcomes of adolescents (Hunt et al., 2002).

Cuskelly et al. (1996) conducted a study to assess the effectiveness of different types of interventions to improve folate status in 41 women. Dietary intake was assessed and blood samples were collected at the beginning of the study. Participants were instructed to exclude folic acid fortified food from their diet for 3 months. Then, a second blood sample was taken and their diet was assessed to evaluate compliance prior to the next 3 month intervention period. Participants were randomly assigned to one of five groups: folic acid supplement (additional 400  $\mu$ g/day); folic acid fortified foods

(additional 400 µg/day); dietary folate (400 µg/day natural occurring folate); dietary advice (nutrition education to increase consumption of folate rich foods); and a control group. Folic acid intake significantly increased in the four intervention groups as compared to the control group. Women in the folic acid supplement and the folic acid fortified groups increased RBC folate concentration significantly more than the other 3 groups. Researchers reported that serum folate doubled in the folic acid supplement and folic acid fortified groups, however a small increase in serum folate was observed in the dietary folate and dietary advice groups.

Venn et al. (2002) conducted a study using dietary counseling to increase consumption of folate from foods in 34 free-living subjects. Subjects were  $\geq$ 18 years old and had fasting plasma homocysteine levels  $\geq$  10 µmol/L. Subjects in the intervention group (n=20) were instructed to increased their folate intake by consuming 2 glasses of orange juice and 1 serving of legumes each day. In addition, researchers provided the subjects with a list of good sources of folate to complete the target amount of 600 µg of folate/day, avoiding fortified foods. The control group (n=14) received unfortified cereal (16 µg of folate/day). Blood samples were collected at baseline, week 4, and week 21. Since some genotypes affect folate and homocysteine metabolism, subjects were divided also by genotype, however no significant differences by genotype were found. Dietary and serum folate were significantly higher in the dietary group than the control group after the 4 week intervention. After the intervention homocysteine concentrations significantly decreased in the diet group compared to the control group.

A recent study conducted in Europe (Ashfield-Watt et al., 2003) assessed the effect of education to increase folic acid intake by consuming fortified foods or naturally

occurring folate on plasma folate and homocysteine concentrations. They used 135 healthy men and women with the same type of genotype (C677T) for

methylenetetrahydrofolate reductase mutation. Subjects were randomly divided into three groups: control (n=43), fortified diet (n=40), and natural folate diet (n=41). The intent of the fortified diet and naturally occurring folate diets were to increase folate intake by 100 µg/day over a 4-month period. Folate intake was measure by a food frequency questionnaire including specific questions about folate rich foods. The control group was advised to maintain their normal diet. The fortified diet group was advised to increase their consumption of folate by 100  $\mu$ g of folic acid/day from fortified foods (breads and cereals). The naturally occurring folate group was advised to increase folate consumption by eating 100 µg of folate/day from naturally folate rich foods (spinach, broccoli, orange juice, etc). Since there was a wide variation in fortification of cereals with folic acid, diet records were collected before the study started to assess cereal consumption; subjects in the control group and the naturally occurring folate group were required to maintain their baseline folate intake from fortified foods during the study. They used a point system to help the subjects increase the amount of folic acid in their diet and gave them a list of foods with the respective points. Subjects were required to complete records of their folate points over 2-weeks. Blood samples were taken at baseline and after 4 months. Folate intake increased 98  $\mu$ g/day in the fortified diet group and 50  $\mu$ g/day in the naturally occurring folate group. Plasma folate increased in both interventions groups as compared to the control group. There were no significant changes in plasma homocysteine.

Johnson et al. (2002) conducted an intervention to measure the impact of a seminar about folic acid on high school students. They conducted a pretest during the regular schedule of classes for the intervention and the control group. The intervention group received a 20 minute seminar about folic acid and birth defects prevention. Both groups received the post-test 3 weeks later and the control group received the seminar after the posttest. The intervention group showed a significant improvement in knowledge compared to the control group.

### Nutrition Education and Social Cognitive Theory

In the past, nutrition education programs have had minimal effect, due at least in part to limited use of a behavior change theory in planning the nutrition education intervention (Balch, 1995; Lytle, 1995). Behavior change theories that have been studied in several population groups include social cognitive (Bandura, 1986; Reynolds, 1997; Cusatis & Shannon, 1996). When learning about the target audience in order to plan an intervention, the inquiry needs to be based on the behavior change theory that will be used to develop the nutrition education intervention (Doner, 1997).

The relationship of the individuals with others and their environments influence behavior. Theories developed to explain these relations are called Theories of Interpersonal Health Behavior (Glanz & Rimer, 1997). One of these theories is the Social Cognitive Theory (SCT) which relates psychosocial dynamics of health behavior and the strategies to promote behavioral change (Baranowski et al., 1997). According to this theory, personal factors and the environment affect the behavior and behavior affects the environment. This constant interaction is called Reciprocal Determinism. According to

the SCT, personal attributes such as attitudes and perceptions, environmental influences such as availability of foods, and the person's behaviors all interact to determine a new behavior (Bandura, 1986), as is shown in the following Figure:





The SCT includes several concepts: environment, behavioral capability, expectations, self-efficacy, self-control, observational learning, and reinforcements (Bandura, 1986; Glanz & Rimer, 1997; Baranowski et al., 1997).

The *environment* can be defined as external factors that affect personal behavior. For example, making healthy foods available may influence food choices of childbearing age women. By changing the environment (i.e., providing the cereal) we expected to cause a change in behavior. Making the folic acid fortified food readily available to the participants should increase their consumption of these foods.

*Behavioral capability* is the presence of basic skills and knowledge required tp carry out the behavior. For example, women should know the basic food groups and which foods are good sources of folate to be able to identify them and include them in their diet.

*Self-efficacy* is the confidence of being able to perform the behavior. If the women feel confident about their knowledge and ability to choose good sources of folate, they will be more likely to maintain their dietary change.

*Self-control* includes self-monitoring and achievement of the goals. Setting realistic goals and helping people meet their goals may make them feel confident in their ability to change behavior. Self-monitoring is the process of observing and recording one's behavior to improve adherence to a dietary regime (Snetsalaar, 1989), and is a critical part of any successful nutrition plan (Licavoli, 1996). Self-monitoring has been shown to be effective in maintaining long-term behavioral change (Licavoli, 1996). One example of self-monitoring is regular and consistent record keeping such as a daily food diary. This process can help participants internalize eating guidelines, solve food selection problems, and improve dietary goal setting (Dwyer, 1989). The resultant awareness represents a first and necessary step in changing behaviors, teaching selfreliance, and achieving self-management (Snetsalaar, 1989; Ernst et al., 1988). A study using a diabetic population promoted behavioral change by using a self-management record that allowed them to get immediate behavioral feedback. This tool helped them to develop new attitudes, and provided specific skills that assisted in behavior change (Bielamowicz et al., 1995).

*Reinforcement* may increase or decrease the likelihood to repeat or not the behavior. It usually provides rewards, incentives or self rewards to maintain the behavioral change.

Many interventions using the social cognitive theory have resulted in behavior change of the participants (Reynolds, 1997; Grimm, 1983; Perry et al., 1987; Coates et

al., 1981; Baranowski et al., 1990; Perry et al., 1998; Luepker et al., 1996; Gortmaker et al., 1999a, 1999b). However, to our knowledge, nutrition interventions using the SCT have not been published using young women as subjects. The Stanford Heart Disease Prevention Program (Reynolds, 1997) and the Multiple Risk Factor Intervention Trials (Grimm, 1983) are two interventions based on the SCT that were successful in changing behaviors of high risk men. Two programs, The Minnesota Heart Health Program (MHHP) and the Heart Healthy Program developed interventions targeting school-age children and their parents (Perry et al., 1987; Coates et al., 1981); both programs resulted in behavior change. In the Heart Healthy Program, family eating patterns improved to be more heart healthy (Coates et al., 1981) and in the MHHP, the parents reported that their children were eating fewer sweets, less salt, and more fruits and vegetables (Perry et al., 1987). Another study targeting black families using the SCT noted less frequent consumption of high sodium foods by the boys in these families (Baranowski et al., 1990).

Social cognitive theory has been used in several studies to improve fruits and vegetable intake of school children (Perry et al., 1998; Luepker et al., 1996; Gortmaker et al., 1999a, 1999b). Social Cognitive Theory has also been used to explain factors that affect adolescent eating behaviors (Story et al., 2002). Story et al. (2002) noted four levels of influence in this population: individual influences (intrapersonal); social environmental influences (interpersonal); physical environmental influences (community settings); and macrosystem influences (societal). Among the personal influences were food preferences, taste, meanings of foods, confidence on eating healthy foods, and knowledge. Social environmental influences included family, demographic

characteristics, family meals, food availability, and peers influence. Physical environmental influences included schools, restaurants, vending machines, convenience stores, and worksites. Macrosystem influences included the media, cultural norms, social norms, food production and distribution systems. All these factors influenced the adolescent's eating habits.

Evans & Sawyer-Morse (2002) used SCT to develop and implement a 3-year intervention program to improve nutrition knowledge and unhealthful eating habits in a small university. Some of the constructs used were reinforcement, behavior knowledge, environment, perceived barriers, and expected outcome. Results of the first year showed significant increases in nutrition knowledge; consumption of fruit and fruit juices, and vegetables; and decreased fat consumption.

# **Intervention Mapping**

Intervention Mapping (IM) is a method used to facilitate the development of health education programs. IM includes a series of steps that help to organize and develop the necessary tasks for the nutrition education (Bartholomew et al., 2001). First, educators formulate proximal objectives based on the determinants of the behavior and its environment. Second, they choose theory-based intervention methods and strategies to meet the proximal objectives. Third, they design and organize the intervention. Fourth, educators adopt and implement the intervention in the target population. Fifth, they create an evaluation plan to assess changes in behavior or reduction of the health problem (Bartholomew et al., 2001; Bartholomew et al., 1998). IM is iterative and allows health

educators to go back to revise and improve the methods and strategies at each step of the process (Bartholomew et al., 2001; Heaney, 1998).

Cullen et al. (1998) used IM to develop an intervention plan to increase fruit and vegetable intake in 4<sup>th</sup> to 6<sup>th</sup> grade Girl Scouts. They described how they developed the first three steps of IM using constructs of the Social Cognitive Theory as a framework. The goal of the intervention was to increase fruits and vegetable consumption among 9-12 year old girls. They conducted a needs assessment in the target population to identify the determinants of the behavior to be changed. During the first step of the Intervention Mapping they developed proximal objectives based on the determinants of the behavior. For step 2, they developed methods to accomplish the objectives. For example, to identify fruits and vegetables in their diet (behavioral capability construct) they used: information transfer, role modeling, skill building and self-monitoring. In step 3, they developed applicable strategies for each method. For example, information transfer was accomplished by troop discussion of fruit and vegetable needs.

# Summary

Inadequate folate intake in childbearing age women is associated with an increased risk of a poor pregnancy outcome. Folate status in childbearing age women is important because it can prevent neural tube defects. Before fortification, women were not consuming enough folate to prevent neural tube defects. Since January 1998, all enriched grain products have been fortified with folic acid to improve folate status. Factors that influenced women food choices are not well understood. So, if those factors are known, nutrition educators could use these factors to plan educational programs to improve folate intake in young women. Cereal consumption is a single important way to

increase folic acid consumption in this population. It is important to continue to provide information to women about their food choices and how these choices could affect their chance of having a baby with a birth defect.

# **CHAPTER III**

# **METHODS**

Two studies were conducted. The first study used a mailed survey to determine the factors that influenced food choices of young women and their relationship with folate intake. Data was collected during Spring 2000. The purpose of the second study was to assess the effectiveness of targeted nutrition education and diet changes in improving folate status in young women. The nutrition education promoted increased cereal consumption. For this study we determined the effect of nutrition education on folate intake, serum folate, serum B12, and homocysteine concentrations. Results contrasted with a comparison group that received a general (nonspecific) nutrition education. Data for the second study was collected during Spring 2002.

# Study 1

#### **Research Design**

This study was designed as a descriptive, correlational study.

### Sample

Prior to the selection of the sample, the study received the approval of the Institutional Review Board of Oklahoma State University for studies involving human subjects (see Appendix A).

A random sample of 2,030 women (18-44 years old) from Oklahoma was used. Names, phone numbers and mailing addresses of the women were obtained from Survey Sampling, Inc, Fairfield, CT.

## Survey Design

Using results of focus groups and individual interviews with 75 low and middle income women (Russell, 1999; unpublished data) and the literature, researchers developed survey questions following the constructs of the Social Cognitive Theory. The survey included demographic information, perceived influences on food and supplement intake, ratings of self-efficacy, a repertory grid, and a short food frequency questionnaire to estimate folate intake (see Appendix B).

Demographic information included age, weight, height, work status, level of education, student status, exercise practices, pregnancy, people in the household, income and race.

Perceived influences on grain, fruit and vegetable intake were rated using a fourchoice Likert-type scale (strongly agree to strongly disagree). Questions asked about adequacy of current diet, and importance of eating grains, fruits and vegetables.

Self-efficacy for eating grains, fruits and vegetables was evaluated by asking women to indicate how confident they felt in eating these foods. An example is "Do you think you can... eat fruits as snack?". Subjects used a four-choice Likert-type scale (definitely can to definitely cannot) to respond to each item.

A repertory grid used ten foods as elements, and twelve factors that influence food choices as constructs. Foods were chosen to represent good and poor sources of folate for

each food group. Constructs were developed based on results of the focus group and individual interviews (Russell, 1999). An example is "I like the taste of this food (4), I don't like the taste of this food (1)". The repertory grid method is useful in obtaining perceptual data (constructs) about foods that are descriptive, categorical and may be rankordered. Kelly (1955) developed the RGM as a technique in which individuals were asked to enumerate their personal constructs for classifying people in their environment. Different researchers have successfully used the RGM in the elicitation of contextual information on food choices and consumption in adults (Andani & MacAfie, 1998; Frewer et al., 1996; Gains & Thompson, 1990; Jack et al., 1998, 1997, 1994; McEwan & Thompson, 1989,1988; Monteleone et al., 1997; Piggott & Watson, 1992; Raats & Shepperd, 1996, 1993, 1991; Scriven et al., 1989).

The Health Habits and History Questionnaire (HHHQ) was developed based on data from the NHANES II (Block et al., 1986). A short version of the HHHQ food frequency was used to determine the usual folate intake during the past year. The short food frequency questionnaire included 33 foods that provided 90% of folate in a population of young women (Contreras & Gates, 2000). Folate content was updated using the USDA database (1999) to reflect fortification (unpublished data). The DIETSYS Program was used to analyze the food frequency questionnaire (National Cancer Institute, HHHQ DIETSYS Analysis Software, Version 3.0, 1993).

## Survey Administration

A pilot test of the survey was mailed to a sample of 30 women. Pilot subjects were randomly selected from the original list of 2,030 women. From their responses

changes in the format of the questionnaire were incorporated into a final version of the survey. Distribution of the survey followed methods used by Dillman (2000). Surveys were mailed to a random sample of 2,000 women (18-44 years old) from Oklahoma during Spring 2000. The surveys included a cover letter on Oklahoma State University letterhead with original signature of the investigators. A reminder postcard was mailed two weeks later. To further increase response rates, another copy of the survey was mailed one month after the first mailing to those who had not yet responded. Respondents were offered the opportunity to participate in a drawing for \$25 gift certificates. A self-addressed, stamped envelope was provided with each survey.

## Data Analysis

Data analysis was conducted using the Statistical Package for the Social Sciences (SPSS) 10.0 for windows (SPSS, 2000). Ratings of perceived influences on grain, fruit and vegetable intake; influences on supplement intake; self-efficacy of women in eating grains, fruits and vegetables; and repertory grid underwent principal components analysis with a varimax rotation as a data reduction step (Bryant & Yarnold, 1995). Eigenvalues > 1.0 were used to determine the number of factors. Component loadings of 0.4 or higher were used to determine which constructs loaded on which factor and respondent ratings on the variables in each factor were summed to create scores for each factor.

The following hypotheses were analyzed:

1. Different factors influence women's grain, fruit and vegetable intake.

Statistical procedure: Principal Component Analysis.

2. There is a correlation between the factors that influence women food choices and demographic characteristics.

*Statistical procedure*: Pearson and Spearman correlation coefficients, ANOVA, and *t*-test.

3. There is a relationship between the factors that influence women's food choices and estimated folate intake.

Statistical procedure: Pearson correlation coefficients.

4. There are different perceived influences of women for eating grains, fruits, and vegetables.

Statistical procedure: Principal Component Analysis.

5. There is a relationship between self-efficacy and women's intake of grains, fruits, and vegetables.

Statistical procedure: Pearson correlation coefficients.

6. There is a relationship between self-efficacy and demographic characteristics. *Statistical procedure*: Pearson and Spearman correlation coefficients, ANOVA, and *t*-test.

7. There is a relationship between women's estimated folate intake and different demographic characteristics.

*Statistical procedure*: Pearson and Spearman correlation coefficients, ANOVA, and *t*-test.

8. There is a relationship between women's estimated folate intake and consumption of high folate containing foods.

Statistical procedure: Pearson correlation coefficients.

9. Factors that influence women's food choices and demographic characteristics are good predictors of estimated folate intake.

Statistical procedure: Regression analysis.

# Study 2

# **Research Design**

This study was designed as two-phase pre/post test experimental design. Subjects were assigned to the comparison and/or intervention group by simple random.

# <u>Sample</u>

Prior to the selection of the sample, the study received the approval of the Institutional Review Board of Oklahoma State University for studies involving human subjects (see Appendix C).

We recruited 23 young women (21-43 years old) who did not usually consume highly fortified cereals or folic acid supplements. Women were recruited by sending fliers through the campus mail to female staff members at Oklahoma State University, posting fliers around campus (see Appendix D), and placing newspaper advertisements in the Daily O'Collegian and Stillwater News Press (see Appendix E). Participants were screened (see Appendix F) and then scheduled for the first interview. Participants could not be pregnant, dieting for weight loss, live in a residence hall or sorority house, have a known serious medical condition or be taking multivitamins.

## Methods

During the first phase, subjects in the intervention group received a selfmonitoring kit (see Appendix G) and were instructed to increase folate in their diet using an educational plan. We provided the nutrition education once a week for two months. The comparison group received general nutrition education every two weeks during the first two months and a low folate cereal (Kashi cereal; 7  $\mu$ g of folate/30 g cereal) (see Appendix H). They were instructed to consume the cereal daily. Biochemical measurements were taken at baseline and at the completion of the first phase (see Figure 3.1).

In the second phase, the intervention group consumed cereal fortified with 400 µg of folic acid (Smart Start and/or Multigrain Cheerios) (see Appendix I) and the comparison group was no longer provided with the placebo cereal. This phase lasted two months. Nutrition education continued during the second phase as in the first phase for the intervention group and subjects in the comparison group received the self-monitoring kit and were instructed on increasing folate in their diet. Biochemical measurements were collected at the end of the second intervention to evaluate biochemical parameters following diet changes.

	Bas	eline 8 w	veeks 9 weeks
		Phase 1 (8 weeks)	Phase 2 (8 weeks)
Initial Visit	<b>Comparison</b> <b>Group</b> (n=10)	General Nutrition Education + Placebo cereal	Specific Nutrition Education
	Intervention Group (n=13)	Specific Nutrition Education	Specific Nutrition Education + Fortified Cereal

Figure 3.1 Phases of the study.

We compared changes in serum and red blood cell (RBC) folate, serum B12, and plasma homocysteine levels of the intervention group and the comparison group over time. We also compared folate intake over time.

# **Intervention Mapping**

Intervention mapping (IM) was used as a framework to design the specific nutrition education for the participants. Intervention mapping includes a series of steps that help to organize and develop the necessary tasks for the nutrition education (Bartholomew et al., 2001). Based on the IM structure and using constructs of the Social Cognitive Theory (Baranowski et al., 1997) a main goal was established and objectives to achieve the goal were created.

Goal: to increase consumption of highly fortified cereals every day.

Objective 1 To identify number of servings of grain consumed using food records. KNOWLEDGE and SKILLS: At the end of the nutrition education, women will be able to: - Identify the number of servings of fruits, vegetables and grains on the diet.

- List the recommended number of servings of each food group based on the Food Guide Pyramid.

- Compare the number of servings of each food group from their diet and the recommended FGP servings.

**SELF-EFFICACY:** At the end of the nutrition education, women will be able to:

- Feel confident in identifying fruits, vegetables and grains.

- Feel confident in keeping accurate food records.

- Feel confident in estimating a serving size.

**SELF-CONTROL**: At the end of the nutrition education, women will be able to:

- Keep the food record.

## **Objective 2** To plan meals that includes good sources of folate.

KNOWLEDGE and SKILLS: At the end of the nutrition education,

women will be able to:

- Identify good sources of folate.

- Plan meals that include good sources of folate.

- Include highly fortified cereal in one of their daily meals.

**SELF-EFFICACY**: At the end of the nutrition education, women will be able to:

- Feel confident in identifying good sources of folate.

- Feel confident in including good sources of folate on daily meals.

- Feel confident in including highly fortified cereals on daily meals.

**SELF-CONTROL**: At the end of the nutrition education, women will be able to:

- Set a realistic goal of numbers of servings of good sources of

folate to add to each daily meal.

- Monitor the success of the goal.

**AVAILABILITY:** At the end of the nutrition education, women will be able to:

- Increase availability of highly fortified cereals at home.

**Objective 3** To purchase good sources of folate.

**KNOWLEDGE and SKILLS**: At the end of the nutrition education, women will be able to:

- Identify good sources of folate.

- Select and buy good sources of folate in the grocery store.

- Read food labels.

**SELF-EFFICACY**: At the end of the nutrition education, women will be able to:

- Feel confident in identifying good sources of folate.

- Feel confident in selecting good sources of folate in the grocery

store.

- Feel confident in selecting highly fortified cereals in the grocery store.

**SELF- CONTROL:** At the end of the nutrition education, women will be able to:

- Set realistic goals to evaluate how many good sources of folate they will buy in the grocery store.

**AVAILABILITY:** At the end of the nutrition education, women will be able to:

- Buy good sources of folate including highly fortified cereals.

**REINFORCEMENT**: At the end of the nutrition education, women will be able to:

- Receive encouragement from the researchers.

**Objective 4** To prepare meals with high folate content foods.

KNOWLEDGE and SKILLS: At the end of the nutrition education,

women will be able to:

- Prepare meals with folate containing foods.

- Recognize recipes that include folate containing foods.

**SELF-EFFICACY**: At the end of the nutrition education, women will be able to:

- Feel confident in preparing foods that contain good sources of folate.
**SELF-CONTROL**: At the end of the nutrition education, women will be able to:

- Set a realistic goal of the number of meals prepared with good sources of folate.

**REINFORCEMENT**: At the end of the nutrition education, women will be able to:

- Receive encouragement from the researchers.

## **Nutrition Education**

Week 0

During the first visit, all subjects signed a consent form (see Appendix J), and completed demographic information (see Appendix K), a food frequency questionnaire (see Appendix L), and a multiple-pass 24-hour recall (see Appendix M). Subjects were also trained to complete a four-day food record (see Appendix N). Subjects were randomized into one of the two groups: intervention or comparison group.

## Intervention Group

# Week 1: Personal Interview

Approximately 1 week after the first interview, the baseline blood sample was drawn, and body weight and height were measured. Subjects returned the 4-day food record. The investigators reviewed the food record for accuracy and completeness. The principal investigator taught the participant about the food guide pyramid (US Department of Agriculture, 2002) (see Appendix O), and how to estimate serving sizes using food models and beanbags.

## Week 2: Personal Interview

The reported intake from the food record was compared to the food guide pyramid recommendations. Subjects were instructed in using a monitoring log to count the amount of folic acid they consumed each day (see Appendix G). They also received a list of the foods from the food frequency questionnaire that provided their main sources of folate (see Appendix P).

## Week 3: Mail

Subjects were mailed a pamphlet indicating the importance of folate in the diet (see Appendix Q) and a more complete list of the good sources of folate, indicating some of their good sources of folate based on the 4-day food record (see Appendix R). The monitoring log was checked to evaluate the number of points of folate they consumed during the past week and a goal was set with the participant to increase good sources of folate in their diet.

## Week 4: E-mail

An E-mail was sent to each participant to ask them about the monitoring log (how many points they were eating per day). Based on their answer, a goal to increase folate intake was set. A second E-mail reinforced the use of cereal to increase folate intake and included recommendations about easy and quick high folate recipes from the internet. Subjects were asked to try one of the recommended recipes that were high in folate (see Appendix S).

## Week 5: E-mail and mail

A brochure about reading labels was sent to the participants (US Department of Agriculture, 1997) (see appendix T). Also, subjects were sent an E-mail asking about their consumption of good sources of folate during the past week, and if they met the goal that was set during week 4 (see Appendix U). If the goal was met, the subject set a new goal to increase their intake of good sources of folate and buy more folate-containing foods.

## Week 6: Mail

A brochure was mailed to the subjects including a list of superfortified cereal by brand names, a list of some folate containing foods, and recipes with high folate content (see Appendix V).

#### Week 7: Phone call

A twenty-four hour recall was collected and reviewed to determine good sources of folate during that day. Subjects were asked about the consumption of fortified cereals. The subject's goal for folate intake was evaluated and a new goal was set when necessary. *Week 8: Phone call* 

A phone call was made to set an appointment for week 9.

#### Week 9: Personal Interview

The second blood sample was drawn, and body weight was measured. Subjects were given a 4-day food record. The principal investigator reviewed with the participant instructions on completing the 4-day food record. Fortified cereal was provided to the participant and participants were instructed on use of the monitoring log. The goal of 10 folate points (1 point = 40  $\mu$ g of folate) could be met by consuming the superfortified

cereal or other high folate foods. The participant was instructed in recording substitutions with food when the cereal was not consumed.

## Week 10: Personal Interview

The food record was reviewed for accuracy and completeness. The participant identified good sources of folate they consumed during the 4 days of the record. The monitoring log was viewed and a new goal was set when folate intake was not 10 points.

## Week 12: Phone call

An appointment was set for week 13.

## Week 13: Personal Interview

A 24-hour recall was collected, the goal set by the subject was reviewed and second month of cereal was provided.

# Week 16: Mail and Phone call

An appointment was set for the final interview. A 4-day food record was mailed to the participant.

# Week 17: Personal Interview

The final blood sample and body weight were collected. The 4-day food record was reviewed for completeness. A second food frequency questionnaire was completed.

## Comparison Group

## Week 1: Personal Interview

Approximately 1 week after the first interview, the baseline blood sample was drawn, and body weight and height were measured. Subjects returned the 4-day food

record. The investigator reviewed the food record for completeness. The first month of placebo cereal was given to the participant.

## Week 3: Mail

A brochure about reading food labels was sent to the participants (US Department of Agriculture, 1997) (see Appendix T).

## Week 4: Phone call

An appointment was set for week 5 and participants were reminded to bring empty bags of cereal consumed to check for accuracy of consumption.

## Week 5: Personal Interview

A 24-hour recall was collected. The principal investigator taught the participant about the food guide pyramid (see Appendix O), and how to estimate serving sizes using food models and beanbags. A second month supply of placebo cereal was given to the participant.

#### Week 8: Mail and Phone call

A brochure about Dietary Guidelines (US Department of Agriculture and the US Department of Health and Human Services, 2000) was sent to the participants (see Appendix W). Also an appointment was set for the next personal interview and they were reminded to bring empty cereal bags.

#### Week 9: Personal Interview

A second blood sample was drawn, and body weight was measured. Subjects were instructed in using a monitoring log to count the amount of folic acid they consumed each day. They also received a list of the foods from the food frequency questionnaire that

provided their main sources of folate (see Appendix P). The second 4-day food record was given.

#### Week 10: Personal Interview

Subjects returned the second 4-day food record. The principal investigator reviewed the food guide pyramid recommendations with the participants. The reported intake from the food record was compared to the food guide pyramid recommendations and good sources of folate were identified. A pamphlet indicating the importance of folate in the diet (see Appendix Q) and a more complete list of the good sources of folate, indicating some of their good sources of folate based on the food record was given to the subjects (see Appendix R). The monitoring log was checked to evaluate the number of points of folate they consumed during the past week and a goal was set with the participant to increase good sources of folate in their diet.

#### Week 11: E-mail and/or phone call

An E-mail was sent to each participant to ask them about the monitoring log (how many points they were eating per day). Based on their answer, a goal to increase folate intake was set. A second E-mail reinforced the use of cereal to increase folate intake and included recommendations about easy and quick high folate recipes from the internet. Subjects were asked to try one of the recommended recipes that is high in folate (see Appendix S).

## Week 12: E-mail

Subjects were sent an E-mailed asking about their consumption of good sources of folate, and if they met the goal that was set during week 11. If the goal was met, the

subject set a new goal to increase their intake of good sources of folate and buy more folate-containing foods.

## Week 13: E-mail and mail

Review of the goal set by the participant. Checked consumption of fortified cereal. A brochure was mailed to the subjects including a list of superfortified cereal by brand names, a list of some folate containing foods, and recipes with high folate content.

# Week 14: E-mail

An E-mail was sent to the subjects to review their folate points during the past week and evaluate their goal.

## Week 15: Phone call and E-mail

A 24-hour recall was collected and reviewed to determine good sources of folate during that day. Subjects were asked about the consumption of fortified cereals. The subject's goal for folate intake was evaluated and a new goal was set when necessary.

## Week 16: Mail and Phone call

A phone call was made to set an appointment for week 17. The third 4-day food record was mailed to the participants.

#### Week 17: Personal Interview

Last blood draw was performed and body weight was measured. Twenty fourhour food recall and food frequency questionnaires were collected.

#### **Folate Intake**

Four methods were used to estimate folate intake of the subjects who participated in the study: food frequency questionnaire, multiple-pass 24-hour recalls, food records, and biomarkers of folate status. When assessing dietary intake in a population, it is desirable to compare several methods of estimating intake to obtain a more accurate estimate (Riboli et al., 1997; Kaaks et al., 1995; Rimm et al., 1992; Liu et al., 1992). The food frequency questionnaire estimates intake over the past year; the 24 hour recalls and food records estimate intake over a recent short period; and biomarkers estimate recent intake (serum folate), body stores (erythrocyte folate), and tissue folate coenzyme activity (serum homocysteine) (O'Keefe et al., 1995; Bailey, 1990; Fanelli-Kucamarski et al., 1990; Lindenbaum & Allen, 1995).

# **Food Frequency Questionnaire**

All subjects completed a food frequency questionnaire at baseline and the end of the study. Food frequency methods are commonly used to rank study subjects by their frequency of consumption of specific foods or by estimated nutrient intake. The food frequency method was selected to collect usual food consumption data because it is easily administered and requires little time for respondents to complete (Kristal, 1997; Thompson & Byers, 1994). Analysis of the food frequency questionnaire was explained in methods for study one. According to our preliminary analysis, this questionnaire includes foods that represent 98% of dietary folate of women.

## 24-Hour Recall

Three 24-hour recalls were collected from each subject. The multiple-pass 24hour recall was used to obtain information about the foods consumed and to train subjects to keep the food record (Wright et al., 1993; US Department of Agriculture ARS, 1998).

Three passes were used to obtain accurate information about the food intake and a list of easy forgotten foods was reviewed. During the first pass, the interviewer asked the subject to recall the foods that were consumed during the previous 24 hours. During the second pass, a list of easy forgotten foods was reviewed with the subject to remind her of some foods such as soft drinks, cookies, coffee, tea, ice cream, and alcoholic beverages. In the third pass, a review of all meals and snacks was conducted, each meal was reviewed, and specific amounts were determined as well as modes of preparation, features of the food, and brand names. Bidimensional (pictures) and three-dimensional (dried beans in nylon mesh) food models were used to estimate serving sizes. In addition, spoon and cup measures were used to enhance the quality of the information.

## Food Records

Four-day food records were also used to measure nutrient intake. The subjects were trained with food models to estimate the portion size of the foods to keep the food record. All subjects were given food record supplies (measuring cups, spoons, ruler and beanbag standard measures) to increase the accuracy of their record (Chambers & Godwin, 1998) and assist with estimating the amount of food consumed. Instructions and a list of easily forgotten foods were given to the subjects. Participants kept the food records during four consecutive days. Investigators obtained 4-day food records from the subjects at baseline, at week 9 and 16. Prior to administering the food record, investigators trained participants on the level of detail needed to adequately describe foods and portion size estimation by using a multiple-pass 24-hour recall. Subjects in the

intervention groups were also asked to keep a daily self-monitoring log, which will include only folate containing foods.

Underreporting of food consumption is a constant problem in dietary intake studies and all methods experience this difficulty to some degree (Martin et al., 1996; Kroke et al., 1999; Seale & Rumpler, 1997; Rothenberg et al., 1998; Bratteby et al., 1998; Johnson et al., 1998). To minimize underreporting of foods, each subject was trained using non-biasing food models for portion size estimates (Johnston, 1985; Posner et al., 1992). These models, constructed of dried beans and nylon mesh, illustrated portion sizes from ¼ cup to 1 cup. The participants also received sets of plastic measuring cups and spoons.

Data from food records provided quantitatively accurate information on food consumption during the recording period (Thompson & Byers, 1994). Food records also allowed us to compare detailed information on folate intake with the estimate of folate intake from the food frequency questionnaire. The dietary standards used to evaluate intake were the Recommended Dietary Allowances (RDA) and the Estimated Average Requirement (EAR) (Food Nutrition Board, 1998).

Analyses of the 24-hour recall and food record data were determined using the dietary software program Food Processor (Version 7.8, ESHA Research, 2001). The Food Processor program calculates macronutrients, 16 vitamins and vitamin precursors, and 15 minerals. Nutrient data were compiled from the latest USDA data and other scientific sources. Validation studies of this diet analysis software show that it is equivalent to using the USDA databank and has a low frequency of missing values (Lee et al., 1995). However, generic products (usually a USDA food) were used to analyze the

foods consumed to avoid missing nutrients because most of the brand name products in the database did not provide information on folate.

## **Blood Samples**

## Specimen Preparation

Fasting blood samples were collected from all subjects at baseline, and weeks 9 and 16 of the study. Blood samples were drawn from a fasting subject (12 hours without food) by one of the main researchers (a licensed phlebotomist) or Medical Technicians at the Oklahoma State University Student Health Center. Two tubes were collected (6 mL/ each). One 6 mL tube of whole blood treated with EDTA as an anticoagulant was collected to be used for complete blood count and plasma samples. The plasma tube was put onto the rocker and covered with aluminum foil until it could be processed. A complete blood cell count was performed in the Student Health Center Laboratory (Beckman/Coulter ACT Diff2). The serum tubes were stored in a dark container with ice for at least 30 minutes to allow clot formation. Both tubes were centrifuged at 4000 rpm for 20 min at 4° C in a Jouan CR3i centrifuge (see Appendix X). Plasma and serum were aliquoted and stored at -20°C until analyzed.

## Vitamin Analysis

Serum folate, vitamin B12 and red blood cell folate were analyzed by radioimmunoassay using the Dualcount Solid Phase No Boil Assay kit (Diagnostic Products Corp., Los Angeles, CA) following the manufacturer's instructions. The kit determines the concentrations of vitamin B12 and folic acid simultaneously using Co<sup>57</sup>

and I<sup>125</sup> tracer for vitamin B12 and folic acid, respectively. The serum folate concentration was analyzed as an indicator of increased intake and compliance with the intervention, and the erythrocyte folate was analyzed as an indicator of long-term folate status (Bailey, 1990; Fanelli-Kucamarski et al., 1990). Vitamin B12 status was measured because it may influence plasma homocysteine levels (Ubbink et al., 1994; Ubbink, 1997). The inter assay CVs for anemia control were 2.8% for folate, and 5.9% for B12.

The reference normal ranges for each vitamin were:

Serum folic acid	3.0 - 17  ng/mL or	7 – 39 nmol/L (SI)
RBC folic acid	175 – 700 ng/mL or	395 – 1,585 nmol/L (SI)
Serum vitamin B12	200 – 950 pg/mL or	150 – 700 pmol/L (SI)

## Homocysteine Measures

Plasma homocysteine was analyzed with high performance liquid chromatography (HPLC) using a modification of the methods of Vester and Rasmussen (1991) and Ubbink et al. (1991). Two hundred forty microliters of plasma were mixed with  $60 \mu$ L of internal standard (2.5 mM acetylcysteine in 0.9% Sodium Chloride + 4 mM EDTA). Thirty microliters of 10% tri-n-butylphosphine in dimethylformamide were added, and the reduction allowed to proceed for 30 minutes at 4° C. Samples were then mixed with 300  $\mu$ L of 0.6 M perchloric acid with 1 mM EDTA, left at room temperature for 10 minutes, then centrifuged at 8000 rpm for 3 minutes, to precipitate the proteins. One hundred microliters were taken from the middle of the supernatant and mixed with 20  $\mu$ L of 1.55 M of sodium hydroxide and 250  $\mu$ L of 0.125 potassium tetraborate, pH 9.5, containing 4 mM EDTA, for reduction. Derivatisation was accomplished using 100  $\mu$ L

SBD-F (ammonium-7-fluorobenzo-2-oxa-1,3-diazole-4sulphonate) dissolved in potassium tetraborate and allowed to incubate for 1 hour at 60° C. After cooling in an ice bath, 10  $\mu$ L of derivatized sample were used for each injection into Waters Alliance HPLC system. Each of the samples was run in duplicate. An isocratic buffer consisting of 0.1 M acetate buffer (ph 4.0) containing 20 mL methanol/L buffer was used as the mobile phase set at a flow rate of 1.5 mL/minute. A Waters C18 column (3.9 x 150 mm) protected by Waters C18 guard column was used for the separation. The fluorescence intensities were measured at excitation wavelength of 385 nm and emission wavelength 515 nm. Elution time for homocysteine and acetylcysteine is approximately 4-10 minutes. Each of the samples was run in duplicate. The intra assay CV of the internal standards was 6.4%.

A calibration curve was obtained by adding different concentrations of homocysteine added to a plasma pool. Standards were injected at the beginning, middle and at the end of each run. The area under the curve for homocysteine was normalized to the area of acetylcysteine. The concentration of homocysteine is expressed in  $\mu$ mol/L. Normal range for this sample population was 3.7-10.4  $\mu$ mol/L (Selhub et al., 1999).

#### Data Analysis

Data analysis was conducted using the Statistical Package for the Social Sciences (SPSS) 11.0 for Windows (SPSS, 2001).

The following hypotheses were analyzed:

1. Estimated folate intake in childbearing age women will be lower than the EAR and RDA at the baseline visit

*Statistical procedure*: one sample *t*-tests.

2. Estimated folate intake in childbearing age women from the intervention group will be higher than estimated folate intake from the comparison group at week 9 and 16 of the study.

Statistical procedure: Analysis of variance.

3. Serum Folate and RBC folate will be higher in childbearing age women from the intervention group than the comparison group at week 9 and 16 of the study. *Statistical procedure:* Analysis of variance.

4. Homocysteine concentration will be lower in childbearing age women from the intervention group than the comparison group at week 9 and 16 of the study. *Statistical procedure*: Analysis of variance.

## **CHAPTER IV**

## FACTORS THAT INFLUENCE WOMEN'S FOLATE INTAKE

## Abstract

Factors that influence food choices of young women and their relationship with folate intake were studied with a questionnaire mailed to women 18-44 years old. Response rate was 33%. The main factors that influenced women's perceptions of high and low folate foods were familiarity, convenience, availability, and health. Women who had children and who lived with another adult were more influenced by familiarity and convenience than women who did not have children or lived alone. Women who were more educated and believed that they could eat more fruits, vegetables and cereal had higher estimated folate intake. Folate intake was predicted by ratings of importance of buying grains, fruits, and vegetables; confidence in their ability to drink orange juice and eat cereal; age; education; and perceptions of familiarity and convenience of foods.

Key Words: Folate/folic acid intake, young women, dietary change, self-efficacy.

Gates, GE. & Contreras, MD. (2002). Factors that affect women's folate intake. *Topics in Clinical Nutrition*. 17(2):40-48.

#### Introduction

Most women in their childbearing years consume less folate than the 400  $\mu$ g/day recommended to prevent neural tube defects.<sup>1, 2</sup> Before fortification, average daily folate

intake for women was about 200  $\mu$ g, with 92.5% consuming less than the recommended 400  $\mu$ g.<sup>3</sup> Since January 1998, all enriched grain products have been fortified with folic acid.<sup>4</sup> Tucker et al.<sup>5</sup> estimated that folic acid fortification would increase folate intake by 100  $\mu$ g/day. However, despite fortification, many women are not consuming enough folate to prevent neural tube defects.<sup>6</sup>

We need to understand the factors that affect women's food choices because these choices influence folic acid intake and pregnancy outcome. Previous research has shown that characteristics such as education, physical activity, income, diet patterns, and beliefs about food influence food choices.<sup>7-14</sup> The Social Cognitive Theory may be used as a framework to understand women's decisions to consume folate-rich foods. According to this theory personal attributes such as attitudes and perceptions, environmental influences such as availability of foods, and the person's behaviors all interact to determine a new behavior.<sup>15</sup>

The purpose of this study was to describe the factors that influence food choices of young women and determine their relationship with folate intake. To accomplish this purpose, perceived influences on grain, fruit and vegetable intake; confidence in ability to eat these foods; demographic characteristics; and folate intake were studied using a mailed questionnaire.

#### Methods

A questionnaire was mailed to a random sample of 2,000 women (18-44 years old) in a Midwestern state. The questionnaire included demographic information; perceptions of food; confidence in their ability to eat grains, fruits and vegetables; and

environmental influences such as availability of foods. Survey questions were developed from focus group discussions conducted with women of childbearing age in an earlier study.<sup>16</sup>

Respondents rated their perceptions of 10 foods that were high (e.g., broccoli, cereal) or low (e.g., lettuce, milk) in folate using 12 personal constructs (see Table 4.1). High sources of folate were defined as foods that provide at least 10% of the Recommended Dietary Allowances.<sup>17</sup> Each construct was measured using a four point semantic differential scale (e.g., 1 = I don't like the taste of this food, 4 = I like the taste of this food). Responses of a sample of 61 subjects chosen randomly from all survey respondents were analyzed using principal component analysis with varimax rotation to determine scores for perceptions of the foods. This technique identifies sets of questions for which respondents gave similar answers.<sup>18</sup> Factor loadings of 0.4 or higher were used to determine factors. We summed the respondent ratings of each construct for the 10 foods (e.g., ratings of taste for all 10 foods were summed), then we created a factor score by averaging the ratings of constructs in each factor. These factor scores were used in the analyses. Factor loadings are shown in Table 4.1. Factor 1 explained greatest amount of the variance (23%) in perceptions of the 10 foods and was characterized by convenience and familiarity with the foods eaten. Factor 2 was characterized by availability and effect on health. Factor 3 was characterized by constructs related to affordability.

The women's confidence in their ability to eat grains, fruits and vegetables (selfefficacy) was measured using a four-point scale (1 = definitely cannot, 4 = definitely can) (see table 4.1). An example is "Do you think you can... eat fruits as snack?". Women's perceptions of the importance of buying grains, fruits and vegetables and adequacy of

intake were evaluated using a four-point Likert-type scale (1 = strongly disagree, 4 = strongly agree). These questions were analyzed by principal component analysis of the responses of all women.

Folate intake was estimated using a 36-item food frequency questionnaire (Unpublished data) adapted from the Health Habits and History Questionnaire (HHHQ).<sup>19</sup> This shortened questionnaire, updated to reflect folic acid fortification, estimated 90% of the folate in women's diets. The HHHQ was developed based on 24hour recall from NHANES II including the foods that provided most energy and nutrients. Respondents indicated portion sizes for each food item (small, medium, or large) and frequency of food consumption using 9 categories (never or less than once a month to 2 or more times per day).

A pilot test of the questionnaire was mailed to a sample of 30 women. From their responses, revisions were incorporated into a final version. The questionnaire was mailed in January 2000 with distribution of the questionnaire following methods recommended by Dillman.<sup>20</sup>

We compared folate intake and scores for perceptions of food choices by demographic characteristics using Pearson correlations, t-tests and analysis of variance using SPSS for Windows.<sup>21</sup> Regression analysis was used to determine the amount of variation in folate intake that was explained by demographic characteristics and the constructs described in the Social Cognitive Theory, and to determine which variables contributed significantly to our model.

## Results

Completed questionnaires were returned by 641 women (33% response rate). Mean age was  $37 \pm 6$  years old. Demographic characteristics of the participants are shown in Table 4.2. Most of the women were white, employed full-time, had attended college or technical school, reported annual incomes above \$35,000, and had at least one child at home (76%). Most of the respondents were unsatisfied or very unsatisfied with their body weight (72%), but only about 20% reported following a diet to change their weight and most exercised less than once a week.

#### **Influences On Perceptions Of Foods**

The women were asked to rate their perceptions of 10 foods using 12 personal constructs (see Table 4.1). Women agreed most strongly with statements that the foods were available in stores and they could afford the foods. They were less likely to agree that the foods were good for their health. Women's folate intake was significantly correlated with ratings of familiarity and convenience (r=.16; p<.01), and availability and health (r=.11; p<.01). Therefore, women who perceived foods to be more familiar, convenient, tasty, available, and healthy consumed more folate.

Women who had 2 or more children and respondents who lived with another adult indicated that their food choices were influenced more strongly by ratings of familiarity and convenience than women who did not have children (p<.001) or lived alone (p=.003) (see Table 4.3). Women with less education rated familiarity and convenience (r= -.089; p=.026) slightly more important than women with more education.

Women who exercised reported that availability and health were stronger influences on their food choices than women who did not exercise (p=.001) (see Table 4.3). Women who had lower body weights reported that their food choices were influenced more strongly by availability and health than women with higher body weights (r= -.114, p=.01). Women who had at least 2 children indicated that their food choices were more strongly influenced by availability and health than women who did not have any children (p=.016).

Women who lived alone were less concerned about affordability of food than women who lived with someone else (p=.003). Women with lower incomes were more concerned about affordability (r=.14; p=.001) than women with higher incomes.

## Perceived Influences For Eating Grains, Fruits and Vegetables

Most women felt that it was important for them to buy grains, vegetables, and fruits, but many did not think they consumed adequate amounts of fruits or vegetables (see Table 4.1). Most women thought they consumed enough grains. Women's perceptions about the importance of buying grains, fruits and vegetables were significantly higher for women who worked part-time than women who worked full-time (p=.006). Women who had children (p<.001) and those who lived with other adults (p<.01) had significantly higher perception of the importance of buying these foods than women who did not have children or lived alone (see Table 4.3).

## Perceived Confidence In Ability To Eat Grains, Fruits And Vegetables

Most women were confident they could buy and eat more vegetables, fruit, and cereal (see Table 4.1). Women who were more confident that they could eat more orange juice and cereal (r=.23, p<.01) and vegetables (r=.13, p<.01) had higher estimated folate intake.

Women who exercised (p=.003) and women with 2 or more children (p=.003) reported that they were more willing to eat vegetables and make dietary changes than women who did not exercise or had one or no children. Education level was positively correlated with women's willingness to eat vegetables and make dietary changes (r=.13; p=.002). Women with lower BMI (r= -.09; p=.02) and higher income (r= .13; p=.001) were more willing to eat vegetables and make dietary changes. Women who followed a weight loss diet (22.0 ± 1.5) were more willing to eat vegetables and make dietary changes than women who reported following a normal diet (21.1 ± 2.1) (p=.012).

## Influences On Folate Intake

More than half (57%) of the respondents reported an inadequate intake of folate (they consumed less than the Estimated Average Requirement of 320 µg/day) and only 24% met the Recommended Dietary Allowances (RDA) of 400 µg/day. Median estimated folate intake was 296 µg/day. A higher folate intake was associated with more frequent consumption of foods high in naturally occurring folate (e.g., beans, broccoli) (r=.69; p<.001), cold cereals (r=.59; p<.001), and fortified foods (r=.74; p<.001).

Several demographic characteristics influenced folate intake. Younger (r= -.19; p<.001) and more educated (r=.12; p=.003) women reported consuming more folate.

Dietary folate intake was not associated with race, number of adults or children in the household, body mass index (BMI), exercise practices, type of diet, or use of vitamin/mineral supplement.

Women's perceptions of the importance of buying grains, fruits, and vegetables; their confidence in their ability to drink orange juice and eat cereal; age; educational level; and perceptions of familiarity and convenience of foods significantly predicted estimated folate intakes (p<.001). These predictors explained 18% of the variance in estimated folate intake.

# **Preferred Interventions**

Respondents indicated that television (23%), newsletters (20%), and personal counseling (19%) were the best ways to reach them with nutrition advice. They wanted information on suggested ways to prepare food (66%), recipes (65%), and information on healthy low cost food items (48%). They felt that the most helpful nutrition information would indicate how food choices affect their weight (21%), health benefits of food (21%), and how nutrition affects the health of their children (15%). Over half (56%) indicated that knowing that their food choices affected their chance of having a baby with a birth defect would be more likely to influence them than knowing they could decrease their risk of developing heart disease (37%).

## Discussion

The Social Cognitive Theory proposes that personal perceptions about food (e.g., taste, health, familiarity, and convenience), one's ability to perform a determined

behavior (e.g. ability to increase vegetable consumption) and environment (e.g., availability, affordability) will influence women's food choices.<sup>15</sup> In our study, folate intake was significantly predicted by the importance of buying grains, fruits, and vegetables; confidence in their ability to drink orange juice and eat cereal; age; education; and perceptions of familiarity and convenience of foods. Similar factors have been found to affect fruit and vegetable intake in young adults.<sup>22, 23</sup> Higher education and increased age have been related to increased consumption of healthy foods.<sup>11</sup> Confidence in one's ability to increase fruit and vegetable intake has also been shown to be an important influence on food choices.<sup>24-26</sup>

In our study, the main factors that influenced women's perceptions of high and low folate foods were familiarity, convenience, availability, and health. Comparable findings were shown by Betts et al.;<sup>12, 23</sup> as in our study, convenience, familiarity and availability of foods they ate influenced the food choices of young adults. Eating foods that were perceived as good for health and not fattening were important factors that also affected young people's food choices. Krebs-Smith et al.<sup>22</sup> found similar results when assessing factors associated with fruit and vegetable consumption.

Some demographic characteristics were significant influences on folate intake. Women who were more educated were more willing to eat fruits, vegetables, and cereal, and had higher folate intake. Hunt et al.<sup>11</sup> found that more educated women ate more fruits and vegetables. Women who exercised were also more willing to eat fruit, vegetables and cereals than non-exercisers. Similar results were found in a group of young adults.<sup>27</sup>

In our study, women who believed that they could eat more fruits, vegetables and cereal had higher estimated folate intake. Studies have shown that adults with high self-efficacy ratings had a higher intake of fruits and vegetables than those with low self-efficacy ratings.<sup>24-26</sup>

Most respondents had folate intake below the Estimated Average Requirement.<sup>2</sup> Lewis et al.<sup>6</sup> also found that most women of childbearing age consumed less than the recommended amounts of folic acid. However, a recent report from the 1999 National Health and Nutrition Examination Survey, based on blood samples collected after fortification of grain products, showed improvement in the folate status of childbearing age women.<sup>28</sup> Jacques et al.<sup>29</sup> also showed improvement in folate status between 1991 and 1998 among participants of the Framingham Offspring Study cohort.

In our study, we found that women who ate more cereals, fortified foods and folate rich foods had significantly higher estimated folate intake. Albertson and Marquart<sup>30</sup> found that women who ate cereal consumed about 80  $\mu$ g of folic acid more than non-cereal eaters. Cuskelly et al.<sup>31</sup> conducted a study in which they excluded cereals fortified with folic acid from the diets of young women; this reduction in folic acid intake by about 80  $\mu$ g/day reduced blood folate concentrations. Daly et al.<sup>32</sup> and Wald et al.<sup>33</sup> estimated that increasing folic acid intake by 100  $\mu$ g would reduce the incidence of neural tube defects by about 20%.

Although this study was conducted using a random sample of childbearing age women, the generalizability of the results is limited because data is self-reported. The generalizability of the shortened questionnaire may be limited because self-reported food intake may overestimate or underestimate food consumption.<sup>34</sup> Another limitation was

that the median income reported by women in our study was higher than the median for the state population<sup>35</sup> and most women were educated beyond high school. These limitations are reported for most mailed questionnaires.<sup>36</sup>

## Conclusions

Most women were not consuming enough folate despite recent fortification of grain products with folic acid. The women's ratings of the familiarity and convenience of foods, self-efficacy and importance of buying fruits, vegetables and grains were significant predictors of estimated folate intake. Women who lived with children or another adult had greater concern about the foods they ate. Women felt they did not currently consume enough fruits and vegetables, but recognized that they needed to and were willing to eat more. However, women felt they ate enough grains.

## Implications

The researchers recommend that nutrition educators use these results to design interventions to increase women's folate intake through improved food choices or supplements. Most women did not consume adequate amounts of folate, so it is important to continue to provide information to women about their food choices and how these choices could affect their chance of having a baby with a birth defect. Convenience and familiarity of foods were important influences on women's food choices. Therefore, nutrition educators should help consumers identify folate rich foods that they already consume occasionally and that are easy to prepare to increase confidence in their ability to eat more fruits, vegetables, and cereals. According to the women in our study,

interventions should use television or newsletters to provide information on preparation

ideas or easy recipes for low cost folate-rich foods.

# References

- 1. Centers for Disease Control and Prevention. Recommendations for the use of folic acid to reduce the number of cases of spina bifida and other neural tube defects. *Morb Mortal Weekly Rep.* 1992;41:1-7.
- 2. Food and Nutrition Board, National Academy of Sciences. *Dietary Reference Intakes for Thiamin, Riboflavin, Niacin, Vitamin B6, Folate, Vitamin B12, Pantothenic Acid, Biotin, and Choline.* Washington, DC: National Academy Press 1998.
- 3. Subar AF, Block G, James LD. Folate intake and food sources in the US population. *Am J Clin Nutr* 1989;50:508-516.
- 4. US Department of Health and Human Services. *Food and Drug Administration. Food standards: amendment of the standards of identity for enriched grain products to require addition of folic acid.* Federal Register. 1996;61(44):8781-8807.
- 5. Tucker KL, Selhub J, Wilson PWF, Rosenberg IH. Dietary intake pattens relates to plasma folate and homocysteine concentrations in the Framingham Heart Study. *J Nutr* 1996;126(12):3025-3031.
- 6. Lewis CJ, Crane NT, Wilson DB, Yetley EA. Estimated folate intakes: data updated to reflect food fortification, increased bioavailability, and dietary supplement use. *Am J Clin Nutr* 1999:70:198-207.
- 7. Keim KS, Stewart B, Voichick J. Vegetable and fruit intake and perceptions of selected young adults. *J Nutr Educ* 1997;29:80-85.
- 8. Georgiou CC, Arquitt AB. Different food sources of fat for young women who consumed lower-fat diets and those who consumed higher fat diets. *J Am Diet Assoc* 1992;92:358-360.
- 9. Georgiou CC, Betts NM, Hoerr SL, Keim K, Peters PK, Stewart B, Voichick J. Among young adults, college students and graduates practiced more healthful habits and made more healthful choices than did nonstudents. *J Am Diet Assoc* 1997;97:754-759.
- 10. Stewart B, Tinsley A. Importance of food choice influences for working young adults. *J Am Diet Assoc* 1995;95:227-230.

- 11. Hunt MK, Stoddard AM, Glanz K, Hebert JR, Probart C, Sorensen G, Thomson S, Hixson ML, Linnan L, Palombo R. Measures of food choice behavior related to intervention messages in worksite health promotion. *J Nutr Educ* 1997;29:3-11.
- 12. Betts NM, Amos RJ, Georgiou C, Hoerr SL, Ivaturi R, Keim KS, Tinsley A, Voichick J. What young adults say about factors affecting their food intake. *Ecol Food Nutr* 1995;34:59-64.
- 13. Subar A, Heimendinger J, Patterson BH, Krebs-Smith SM, Pivonka E, Kessler R. Psychological factors associated with fruit and vegetable consumption. *Am J Health Promot* 1995;10:98-104.
- 14. Williams HM, Woodward DR, Ball PJ, Cumming FJ, Hornsby H, Boon JA. Food perceptions and food consumption among Tasmanian high school students. *Australian J Nutr Diet* 1993;50:156-163.
- 15. Bandura A. Foundation of Thought and Action: A Social Cognitive Theory. Englewood Cliffs: Prentice-Hall, Inc. 1986.
- 16. Russell, MC. *Women's Perceptions of Folate-Containing Foods*. Unpublished Masters Thesis. Oklahoma State University. Stillwater, OK. 1999.
- 17. Stehlin D. A little 'lite' reading. FDA Consumer 1993;27(4):29-33.
- 18. Portney LG, Watkins MP. Foundations of Clinical Research: Applications to Practice. Upper Saddle River, NJ Prentice Hall Health; 2000.
- 19. National Cancer Institute. *Health Habits and History Questionnaire DIETSYS Analysis Software*, Version 3.0. 1993.
- 20. Salant P, Dillman D. *How To Conduct Your Own Survey*. New York: John Wiley and Sons, 1994.
- 21. Statistical Package for Social Sciences for Windows. Version 10.0. 2000.
- 22. Krebs-Smith SM, Heimendinger J, Patterson BH, Subar AF, Kessler R, Pivonka E. Psychosocial factors associated with fruit and vegetable consumption. *Am J Health Promot* 1995;10(2):98-104.
- 23. Betts NM, Amos RJ, Georgiou C, Keim KS, Peters P, Stewart B. Ways young adults view foods. *J Nutr Educ* 1997;29:73-79.
- 24. Campbell MK, Symons M, Demark-Wahnefried W, Polhamus B, Bernhardt JM, McClelland JW, Washington C. Stages of change and psychosocial correlates of fruit and vegetable consumption among rural African-American church members. *Am J Health Promot* 1998;12(3):185-191.

- 25. Brug J, Glanz K, Kok G. The relationship between self-efficacy, attitudes, intake compared to others, consumption, and stages of change related to fruit and vegetables. *Am J Health Promot* 1997;12(1):25-30.
- 26. Havas S, Treiman K, Langenberg P, Ballesteros M, Anliker J, Damron D, Feldman R. Factors associated with fruit and vegetable consumption among women participating in WIC. *J Am Diet Assoc* 1998;98:1141-1148.
- 27. Georgiou CC, Betts NM, Hoos T, Glenn M. Young adult exercisers differ in food attitudes, perceived dietary changes and food choices. *Intern J Sport Nutr* 1996;6:402-413.
- 28. Centers for Disease Control and Prevention. Folate status in women of childbearing age, United States. *Morb Mortal Weekly Rep* Oct 27, 2000;49(42):962.
- 29. Jacques PF, Selhub J, Bostom AG, Wilson PWF, Rosenberg IH. The effect of folic acid fortification on plasma folate and total homocysteine concentrations. *N Eng J Med.* 1999;340(19):1449-1454.
- 30. Albertson AM, Marquart L. Estimated dietary folate intake and food sources for American adults classified by ready-to-eat cereal consumption pattern. *Top Clin Nutr* 1999;14(2):60-70.
- 31. Cuskelly GJ, McNulty H, Scott JM. Fortification with low amounts of folic acid makes a significant difference in folate status in young women: implications for the prevention of neural tube defects. *Am J Clin Nutr* 1999;70:234-239.
- 32. Daly S, Mills JL, Molloy AM, Conley M, Lee YJ, Kirke PN, Weir DG, Scott JM. Minimum effective dose of folic acid for food fortification to prevent neural tube defects. *Lancet*. 1997;350(9092):1666-1669.
- 33. Wald NJ, Law M, Jordan R. Folic acid food fortification to prevent neural tube defects. *Lancet* 1998;351:834-835.
- 34. Thompson FE, Byers T. Dietary Assessment Resource manual. *J Nutr* 1994;124:2245S-2317S.
- 35. U.S. Census Bureau, Current Population Survey, March 1998, 1999, 2000. http://www.census.gov/hhes/income/income99/99tabled.html. Accessed April 2000.
- 36. Dittus KL, Hillers VN, Beerman KA. Benefits and barriers to fruit and vegetable intake: Relationship between attitudes and consumption. *J Nutr Educ* 1995;27:120-126.

Constructs	Factor Loadings	Mean ± SD
Perceptions of foods <sup>1</sup> (N=627)		
Familiarity and Convenience		$33.6\pm2.8$
I buy this food because people in my house want to eat it	.776	$32.5\pm4.4$
I eat this food all year	.762	$33.8\pm5.3$
I like the taste of this food	.689	33.6 ± 4.2
I grew up eating this food	.584	$33.8 \pm 5.0$
This food is easy to prepare	.520	$32.9 \pm 3.5$
I have time to prepare this food	.481	$34.9 \pm 5.1$
Availability and Health		$\textbf{32.0} \pm \textbf{3.4}$
This food is not fattening	.799	31.0 ± 5.3
I eat this food because is good for my health	.597	$26.1\pm7.8$
This food is available in stores where I shop	.574	$38.8 \pm 2.5$
Affordability		$33.5\pm3.6$
I can afford to buy this food	.707	$38.3 \pm 5.3$
This food does not spoil too quickly	.647	32.7 ± 6.1
This food is filling	.525	$29.5 \pm 5.3$
Perceived influences for eating grains, fruits and vegetables <sup>2</sup>		
Adequacy of the meal (N=623)		$10.9 \pm 2.4$
I eat adequate amounts of vegetables each day	.741	$2.4 \pm 0.8$
I eat adequate amounts of fruit each day	.723	$2.1\pm0.6$
I don't feel I had a meal unless I have eaten a vegetable	.718	$2.7\pm0.8$
I don't feel I had a meal unless I have eaten a fruit	.685	$2.0\pm0.6$
I don't feel I had a meal unless I have eaten a beans	.487	$1.7\pm0.6$
Importance of buying grains, fruits and vegetables (N=624)		$15.0\pm2.6$
It is important for me to buy grains	.868	$3.2\pm0.7$
I don't feel I had a meal unless I have eaten grains	.725	$2.7\pm0.9$
I eat adequate amounts of grains each day	.717	$2.8 \pm 0.7$
It is important for me to buy fruit	.494	$3.1 \pm 0.7$
It is important for me to buy vegetables	.479	$3.3 \pm 0.7$

Table4.1 Main factors that describe young women's perceptions of foods.

# Table 4.1 Continued...

Constructs	Factor Loadings	Mean ± SD
Perceived confidence in ability to eat grains, fruits and vegetables <sup>3</sup>		
Confidence in ability to eat vegetables and make dietary		$21.2 \pm 2.1$
changes (N=622)		
Do you think you can		
Buy vegetables at the store?	.707	$3.9 \pm 0.4$
Eat a vegetable with the evening meal?	.692	$3.8 \pm 0.5$
Eat a vegetable at lunch?	.648	$3.4\pm0.7$
Buy fruit at the store?	.645	$3.9\pm0.4$
Eat more green leafy vegetables?	.475	$3.4 \pm 0.7$
Make dietary changes easily	.460	$2.8 \pm 0.7$
Confidence in ability to eat orange juice and cereal ( $N=623$ )		$16.6\pm2.8$
Drink orange juice with breakfast?	.756	$3.2 \pm 1.0$
Drink orange juice at some other time?	.746	$3.1\pm0.9$
Eat cold cereal for breakfast?	.616	$3.5 \pm 0.8$
Eat cold cereal as snack?	.598	$3.3 \pm 0.9$
Eat fruit as snack?	.496	$3.5 \pm 0.6$

<sup>1</sup>Constructs were rated on a 4-point semantically differential scale, with higher score representing agreement with the statement. (e.g., 1= this food is fattening, 4=this food is not fattening) <sup>2</sup> Perceptions about food were measured using a 4-point scale (1= strongly disagree, 4=strongly agree) <sup>3</sup> Confidence in the ability to eat grains, fruits and vegetables was measured using a 4-point scale (1=definitely cannot, 4=definitely can)

Characteristics	%	
Race	100	
White	89.7	
American Indian/Alaska Native	4.5	
Black	2.9	
Other	3.0	
Current work status	100	
Employed full-time	61.6	
Employed part-time	14.3	
Homemaker or Unemployed/other	27.2	
Level of education	100	
Less than High School graduate	1.7	
High School Graduate/GED	16.9	
Some Technical School/Some College	27.0	
Technical School or Associate Degree	12.1	
Bachelor's Degree	31.5	
Graduate School	11.0	
Income from all sources over the past year (N=606)	100	
\$50,000 and over	42.7	
\$35,000 - \$49,999	18.3	
\$20,000 - \$34,999	25.9	
Under \$20,000	13.1	
Exercise frequency	100	
Daily	12.3	
Two or three times a week	33.5	
Once a week	8.8	
One or three times a month	8.5	
Rarely or never	37.0	
Type of diet	100	
Normal/General	74.6	
Weight Loss	15.5	
Weight gain	5.7	
Other	16.7	

Table4.2 Demographic characteristics of the participants (N=629).

	N	Influences (Mean ± SD)				
Demographic Characteristics		Familiarity and Convenience	Availability and Health	Affordability	Importance Of Buying Grains, Fruits And Vegetables	Confidence In Ability To Eat Vegetables And Make Dietary Changes
Children						
None	147	$32.8\pm3.0^{\text{a}}$	$31.4 \pm 3.4^{\mathrm{a}}$	$33.2 \pm 3.6$	$14.2 \pm 2.9^{a}$	$20.9 \pm 2.3^{\mathrm{a}}$
One child	167	$33.5\pm2.8^{ab}$	$31.8\pm3.6^{ab}$	$33.3 \pm 3.7$	$15.1 \pm 2.6^{b}$	$20.9 \pm 2.1^{a}$
$\geq$ 2 children	297	$34.0\pm2.7^{b}$	$32.4\pm3.3^{\mathrm{b}}$	$33.7 \pm 3.6$	$15.3\pm2.4^{\rm b}$	$21.5 \pm 1.9^{b}$
N <sup>o</sup> of adults in household						
Live alone	81	$33.0\pm2.9^{a}$	$31.5 \pm 3.1$	$32.4\pm3.7^{a}$	$10.9\pm2.3^{\rm a}$	$21.1 \pm 1.9$
Live with other adults	546	$33.7\pm2.8^{b}$	$32.0\pm3.5$	$33.7\pm3.6^{b}$	$15.0 \pm 2.6^{b}$	$21.2 \pm 2.1$
Exercise						
Yes	401	$33.5\pm2.8$	$32.3\pm3.3$ <sup>a</sup>	$33.6\pm3.6$	$14.5\pm2.7$	$21.4 \pm 2.0^{a}$
No	224	$33.6\pm2.8$	$31.3\pm3.6^{\rm b}$	$33.3 \pm 3.7$	$15.2 \pm 2.5$	$20.8 \pm 2.1^{b}$
Work Status						
Full-time	384	$33.5\pm2.9$	$31.8\pm3.4$	$33.5\pm3.6$	$14.8\pm2.5^{\mathrm{a}}$	$21.1 \pm 2.1$
Part-time	89	$33.5\pm2.8$	$31.8\pm3.6$	$33.3\pm3.8$	$15.6 \pm 2.9^{b}$	$21.4 \pm 2.1$
Unemployed/Homemaker	149	$33.9\pm2.7$	$32.3\pm3.3$	$33.8 \pm 3.4$	$15.3 \pm 2.5^{ab}$	$21.3 \pm 1.9$

ì

 Table
 4.3 Differences in influences on food choices by demographic characteristics of women of childbearing age.

<sup>a,b</sup> Superscripts in a column that are different indicate significant differences between means (p<.05).

estimates. Serum folate at week 16 tended to be higher than baseline values. RBC folate at week 16 was significantly higher than baseline values. Homocysteine concentration at week 9 was significantly higher than baseline and week 16. There were no significant differences between groups. Targeted nutrition education and cereal consumption improved folate status in young women.

KEY WORDS: Folate, Young Women, Cereal, Homocysteine.

## Introduction

Low dietary intake is the most common cause of compromised folate status (Sauberlich, 1990). Before fortification, mean daily folate intake for all women was  $207\pm$  2.9 µg, with 92.5% of women in the Second National Health and Nutrition Examination Survey (NHANES II) consuming less than the RDA of 400 µg folate (Subar et al., 1989). Since January 1998, all enriched grain products have been fortified with folic acid (US Department of Health and Human Services, 1996). It was estimated that folate fortification would increase folate intake by 100 µg/day (Food and Nutrition Board, 1998; Tucker et al., 1996). Recent studies (CDC, 2000; Caudill et al., 2001; Choumenkovitch et al., 2002; Quinlivan & Gregory, 2003) showed that consumption of folate after fortification was higher than expected.

Studies have shown that women's folate intake has been related to cereal consumption (Tucker et al., 1996; Albertson & Marquart, 1999; Cuskelly et al., 1999; Gates & Contreras, 2002). Gates & Contreras (2002) found that higher estimated folate intake in young women was associated with increased consumption of cereals (r=.59;

## CHAPTER V

# EFFECT OF NUTRITION EDUCATION AND CEREAL CONSUMPTION ON PLASMA HOMOCYSTEINE, SERUM VITAMIN B-12, SERUM AND RED BLOOD CELL FOLATE

#### Abstract

Studies have shown that supplementation of at least 400 µg of folic acid/day in women of childbearing age can prevent neural tube defects. The effects of nutrition education and consumption of highly fortified cereal on plasma homocysteine, serum and RBC folate, and serum vitamin B12 were studied in 23 young women (21-43 years old). The study lasted 4 months. Subjects were randomized into two groups. The intervention group (n=13) received nutrition education focused on increasing folate intake for 8 weeks and a fortified ready-to-eat cereal (400 µg folic acid) for 8 more weeks. The comparison group (n=10) received unfortified cereal and general nutrition education during the first 8 weeks, and during the following 8 weeks they received the nutrition education focused on increasing folate intake. All subjects completed 24-hour food recalls and food records at baseline, weeks 9 and 16. Food frequency questionnaires were collected at baseline and at the end of the study. Blood samples were collected at baseline, week 9, and week 16. Participants in the two groups were not significantly different at baseline. At baseline, estimated intake of folate by the three dietary assessment methods was not significantly different from the Estimated Average Requirement (320 µg of folate/day). Estimated folate intake by the 24 hour recall at week 16 was significantly higher than baseline

p<.001). Tucker et al. (1996) found that people who consume ready-to-eat cereal at least 2 times per week had higher plasma folate (p<.0001) and lower homocysteine concentrations (p<.0001) than non-cereal eaters. Albertson and Marquart (1999) found that women who ate cereal consumed about 80 µg/day of folate more than non-cereal eaters. Cuskelly et al. (1999) found that exclusion of folic acid fortified cereals from the diets of young women reduced folic acid intake by about 80 µg/day, and as a consequence, reduced blood folate concentrations.

Malinow et al. (2000) hypothesized that exclusion of usual folic acid fortified cereal consumption from the diet would increase plasma homocysteine concentrations. They also hypothesized that consuming 200  $\mu$ g of folic acid/day would maintain plasma homocysteine concentrations. Seventy-nine healthy subjects and patients with stable coronary heart disease completed the study during a 15-week period. Subjects were blocked by age and gender and received cereal with 10  $\mu$ g or 273 ± 21  $\mu$ g of folic acid daily. They found that excluding breakfast cereals from the diet of regular cereal eaters increased homocysteine concentrations, and that providing a daily intake of 200  $\mu$ g of folic acid/serving of cereal was enough to maintain lower plasma homocysteine concentrations.

A recent intervention study assessed the effect of education to increase folic acid intake by fortified foods or foods with naturally occurring folate on plasma folate and homocysteine concentrations on 124 healthy subjects over a 4-month period (Ashfield-Watt et al., 2003). Subjects were divided in 3 groups: fortified diet, naturally folate diet and control group. Subjects in the two intervention groups were advised to increase folate consumption by 100 µg/day. They found that folate intake increased more in the fortified

diet group (98  $\mu$ g/day) than the naturally occurring folate group (50  $\mu$ g/day). Plasma folate increased in both intervention groups as compared to the control group (*p*=.01). However, there were no significant changes in plasma homocysteine.

The purpose of this study was to assess the effectiveness of targeted nutrition education and diet changes in improving folate status in young Oklahoma women. The objective of the nutrition education was to promote increased cereal consumption to meet the recommendations of 400 µg of folic acid/day. For this study we determined the effect of the nutrition education on folate intake, serum folate, serum B12, and plasma homocysteine. During the first part of the study the comparison group received a general (nonspecific) nutrition education and a placebo cereal; and the intervention group received nutrition education focused on increasing folate intake. During the second part of the study the comparison group received nutrition education focused on increasing folate intake and the intervention group received a daily cereal that provided 400 µg of folic acid.

## Methods

## Subjects

We recruited 23 young women (21-43 years old) who did not usually consume highly fortified cereals or folic acid supplements. Participants were ineligible if they were pregnant, dieting for weight loss, lived in a residence hall or sorority house, had a known serious medical condition or took multivitamins regularly. All subjects signed a consent form. The Institutional Review Board at Oklahoma State University approved the study.
#### Study Design

This study was designed as two-phase pre/post test experimental design. Subjects were assigned to the comparison and/or intervention group by simple random.

	Bas	eline 8 w	eeks 9 weeks
		Phase 1 (8 weeks)	Phase 2 (8 weeks)
Initial Visit	Comparison Group (n=10)General Nutrition Education + Placebo cereal		Specific Nutrition Education
	Intervention Group (n=13)	Specific Nutrition Education	Specific Nutrition Education + Fortified Cereal

Figure 5.1 Phases of the study.

# **Methods**

During the first phase, subjects in the intervention group received a selfmonitoring kit, and were instructed to increase folate in their diet using an educational plan. We provided the nutrition education in person, by telephone, and e-mail once a week for two months. The comparison group received general nutrition education every two weeks during the first two months and a low folate cereal (7  $\mu$ g of folate/30 g of cereal). They were instructed to consume the cereal daily. Biochemical measurements were taken at baseline and at the completion of the first phase. In the second phase, the intervention group consumed fortified cereal (400  $\mu$ g of folic acid/day) and the comparison group no longer received the placebo cereal. This phase lasted two months. Nutrition education continued during the second phase as in the first phase for the intervention group and subjects in the comparison group received the self-monitoring kit and were instructed on increasing folate in their diet. Biochemical measurements were collected at the end of the second intervention to evaluate biochemical parameters following diet changes.

All subjects completed 24-hour food recalls and 4-day food records at consecutive days at baseline, weeks 9 and 16. Food frequency questionnaires were collected at baseline and at the end of the study.

We compared changes in serum and red blood cell (RBC) folate, serum B12, plasma homocysteine concentrations and folate intake of the intervention group and the comparison group over time.

# **Nutrition Education**

Intervention mapping (IM) was used as a framework to design the specific nutrition education for the participants. Education was based on the IM structure (Bartholomew et al., 2001) and used constructs of the Social Cognitive Theory (Baranowski et al., 1997). The main goal was to increase consumption of highly fortified cereals. Participants were taught to compare their food records to the recommended number of servings of grain, fruits and vegetables (US Department of Agriculture, 2002); to plan and prepare meals including folate rich foods; and to choose folate-rich foods in the grocery store.

#### **Assessment of Folate Intake**

Four methods were used to estimate folate intake of the subjects who participated in the study: food frequency questionnaire, multiple-pass 24-hour recalls, food records, and biomarkers of folate status. When assessing dietary intake in a population, it is desirable to compare several methods of estimating intake to obtain a more accurate estimate (Riboli et al., 1997; Kaaks et al., 1995; Rimm et al., 1992; Liu et al., 1992). The food frequency questionnaire estimated intake over the past year; the 24 hour recalls and food records estimated intake over a recent short period; and biomarkers estimated recent intake (serum folate), body stores (red blood cell folate), and tissue folate coenzyme activity (serum homocysteine) (O'Keefe et al., 1995; Bailey, 1990; Fanelli-Kucamarski et al., 1990; Lindenbaum & Allen, 1995).

Underreporting of food consumption is a constant problem in dietary intake studies and all methods experience this difficulty to some degree (Martin et al., 1996; Kroke et al., 1999; Seale & Rumpler, 1997; Rothenberg et al., 1998; Bratteby et al., 1998; Johnson et al., 1998). To minimize underreporting of foods, each subject was trained using non-biasing food models for portion size estimates (Johnston, 1985; Posner et al., 1992). These models, constructed of dried beans and nylon mesh, illustrated portion sizes from ¼ cup to 1 cup. The participants also received sets of plastic measuring cups and spoons.

Analyses of the 24-hour recall and 4-day food record data were determined using the dietary software program Food Processor (Version 7.8, ESHA Research, 2001). The DIETSYS Program was updated to reflect folic acid fortification and used to analyze the

food frequency questionnaire (National Cancer Institute, HHHQ DIETSYS Analysis Software, Version 3.0, 1993).

### **Blood Samples**

Fasting blood samples (12 hour without food) were collected from all subjects at baseline, and weeks 9 and 16 of the study. Two tubes were collected (6 mL/ each). One 6 mL tube of whole blood treated with EDTA as an anticoagulant was collected to be used for plasma samples. A complete blood count was performed in the Student Health Center Laboratory (Beckman/Coulter ACT Diff2). The serum tubes were stored in a dark container with ice for at least 30 minutes to allow clot formation. Both tubes were centrifuged at 4000 rpm for 20 min at 4° C in a Jouan CR3i centrifuge.

Serum folate, vitamin B12 and erythrocyte folate were analyzed by radioimmunoassay using the Dualcount Solid Phase No Boil Assay kit (Diagnostic Products Corp., Los Angeles, CA) following the manufacturer's instructions. The inter assay CVs for anemia control were 2.8% for folate, and 5.9% for B12.

Plasma homocysteine was analyzed with high performance liquid chromatography (HPLC) using a modification of the methods of Vester and Rasmussen (1991) and Ubbink et al. (1991). Each of the samples was run in duplicate. The intra assay CV of the internal standards was 6.4%. The fluorescence intensities were measured at excitation wavelength of 385 nm and emission wavelength 515 nm. Elution time for homocysteine and acetylcysteine was approximately 4-10 minutes. All samples were thawed only once for analysis.

#### **Data Analysis**

Data analysis was conducted using the Statistical Package for the Social Sciences (SPSS) 11.0 for Windows (SPSS, 2001). One sample *t*-tests were used to determine differences between participant's folate and vitamin B12 intake at baseline and the Estimated Average Requirement (EAR) and the Recommended Dietary Allowances (RDA) (Food and Nutrition Board, 1998). ANOVA was used to determine differences between groups and over time in folate and vitamin B12 intake, serum and RBC folate, and homocysteine. Least Significant Difference (LSD) post-hocs were used to adjust for multiple comparisons.

# Results

Participants were between the ages of 21 to 43 years old with a mean age of  $29 \pm$ 7 years old. Demographic characteristics of the study participants by group are shown in Table 5.1. Thirteen women were white and 6 were Hispanic. Most of the participants were professional/technical or clerical/sales workers. Ten women were full time employees and 9 were part-time employees. Eleven participants had salaries below \$20,000. Sixteen women were college graduates or attended graduate school.

Vitamin supplement use by group is shown in Table 5.2. Eight participants did not consume vitamin supplements and eleven consumed them but not regularly. Nine participants used multivitamins, but none consumed them regularly.

Current diet and weight satisfaction by group are shown in Table 5.3. Almost all participants consumed a normal diet. Most were unsatisfied or very unsatisfied with their current weight.

Compliance of cereal consumption was measured by the monitoring log and counting empty bags of the cereal provided to the participants. In the intervention group compliance ranged from 50 to 100%, and in the comparison group compliance ranged from 63 to 100% during the two-month period when the cereal was provided.

Estimates of folate intake at baseline are shown in Table 5.4. Estimated folate intake from diet records at baseline was not significantly different from the EAR (320  $\mu$ g of folate) in the intervention or comparison groups. Estimated folate intake by the food frequency questionnaire tended (p=.052) to be lower than the RDA (400  $\mu$ g of folate) at baseline in the comparison group and estimates from the 24-recall were significantly lower than the RDA in the intervention group (p=.009). Five participants in the comparison group did not meet the EAR for folate on the three dietary assessment methods at baseline. Nine participants in the intervention group did not meet the EAR for folate based on the food record and 24-hour recall, and 8 from the food frequency questionnaire. Seven participants in the comparison group did not meet the RDA for folate based on the food record and the food frequency questionnaire, and 6 on the 24hour recall. Based on the food record, only two participants in the intervention group met the RDA for folate.

There were no significant differences in estimated folate intake between the groups at baseline based on independent sample *t* test. Folate intake estimated by the food records at week 9 tended (p=.054) to be higher than baseline estimates (see Table 5.5). Estimated folate intake by the 24-hour recall at week 16 was significantly higher than baseline estimates (p=.026). No significant differences were found between the groups.

Homocysteine, serum B12, RBC and serum folate concentrations by group and time are shown in Table 5.6. Serum folate was not significantly different by group or over time. However, serum folate at week 16 tended to be higher than baseline values in both groups (p=.067). RBC folate at week 16 was significantly higher than baseline values in both groups (p=.049). There were no significant differences in serum vitamin B12 by group or over time.

The range of homocysteine concentrations varied from  $4.7-11.0 \ \mu mol/L$  of serum homocysteine. These values are very similar to the normal range of homocysteine (3.7-10.4  $\mu mol/L$ ; Selhub et al., 1999). Only one person was over the normal range at baseline. There were no significant differences between the groups. However, there were significant differences over time. Homocysteine concentration was significantly lower at baseline and week 16 than week 9.

#### Discussion

Earlier studies showed that folic acid supplementation improved folate status and decreased the risk of having a baby with a neural tube defect (Laurence et al., 1981; Schorah et al., 1983; Schorah & Smithells, 1991; MRC Vitamin Study Research group, 1991; Holmes-Siedle et al., 1992; Daly et al., 1997; Vergel et al., 1990; Honein et al., 2001). The use of food fortification has improved the nutrient intake in the United States and other countries (Cuskelly et al., 1999; Choumenkovitch et al., 2002; Ray et al., 2002). According to Romano et al. (1995), behavior change is not a barrier for meeting daily vitamin requirements when food has been fortified. So folic acid fortification is thought to be the simplest way to increase folate intake in the US population (Tamura,

1997). A low level of folic acid fortification should save health care costs and prevent neural tube defects (Romano et al., 1995).

In this study we used a sample of 23 young women to investigate the effect of targeted nutrition education and diet changes focused on improving folate status. Although the participants were not regular cereal eaters, estimates of folate intake were similar to the EAR at baseline. Other studies have reported similar estimates of folate intake were folic acid fortification was implemented (Jacques et al., 1999; CDC, 2000; Caudill et al., 2001; Choumenkovitch et al., 2002; Quinlivan & Gregory, 2003). Both groups reported higher folate intake in the 24-hour recall at the end of the study after nutrition education and fortified cereal were provided in the intervention group and nutrition education was implemented in the comparison group. Increased folate intake has been related to cereal consumption (Tucker et al., 1996; Albertson & Marquart, 1999; Cuskelly et al., 1999). As shown by Ashfield-Watt et al. (2003) consumption of fortified foods, mainly cereals, had a greater impact on folate intake than consumption of naturally occurring folate.

Because subjects received a low folate cereal during the first phase of the study in the comparison group, estimated folate intake was similar at baseline and week 9 based on the food record. However, after targeted nutrition education was implemented in the comparison group, estimated folate intake increased about 144  $\mu$ g/day. Several participants reported that including cereal in their meals would easily increase their folic acid intake. However, two participants who were vegetarians thought that it was easy for them to meet daily folate requirements without consuming cereal. Similar results were found in a study conducted in the UK where participants were advised to increase folate

intake by consuming naturally occurring folate or folic acid fortified foods (Ashfield-Watt et al., 2003).

Although there were no significant differences in serum folate by group or over time, there was a tendency toward increased serum folate, especially after the implementation of the nutrition education and the consumption of the superfortified breakfast cereal. Because serum folate is an indicator of recent folate intake (Bailey, 1990), several studies have related increased serum folate concentration to fortified cereal consumption (Ashfield-Watt et al., 2003, 2002; Tucker et al., 1996; Cuskelly et al., 1999; Schorah et al., 1998; Malinow et al., 2000). Brouwer et al. (1999) found significant increases in plasma and RBC folate in healthy subjects after four weeks of intervention to increase folate and folic acid intake. Jacques et al. (1999) found improved plasma folate in subjects exposed to folic acid fortification. Ashfield-Watt et al. (2003) found significantly increased serum folate in healthy subjects by increasing 100 µg of folate/day from fortified foods or folate rich foods. However, Malinow et al. (2000) found no significant differences in plasma folate between a control group and an intervention

RBC folate is an indicator of long-term folate status (Bailey, 1990). We found that RBC folate concentrations were significantly higher at week 16 than baseline, although there were not significant differences between the groups. This demonstrates that increased consumption of folic acid affects RBC folate concentration. Cuskelly et al. (1999) found that women who consumed breakfast cereal regularly had greater decrease in RBC folate when cereal was excluded from their diet than women who did not consume cereals regularly. Data from 1999-2000 NHANES showed that the 2010

objective for folate has been met based on the twofold increase in RBC folate in childbearing age women (CDC, 2002).

Homocysteine values were not significantly different by group. However, homocysteine concentrations at week 9 were higher than concentrations at baseline and week 16. In other studies, homocysteine concentrations decreased as folate status is improved because of consumption of folate rich foods, fortified foods, or supplements (Malinow et al., 2000; Schorah et al., 1998; Pullin et al., 2001; Quinlivan et al., 2002; Brouwer et al., 1999; Tucker et al., 1996; Ashfield-Watt et al., 2002; Cuskelly et al., 1996). Although mean homocysteine concentration was between normal limits at all times, it is not clear why homocysteine increased in the intervention group when this group reported increased folate intake. Malinow et al. (2000) found that homocysteine concentration increased, but not significantly, in a group healthy subjects with stable coronary heart disease whom do not usually consume cereal, even though they were being fed with a cereal fortified with 200 µg of folic acid.

# Limitations

One of the main limitations of the study was the small sample size. It was difficult to recruit young women who did not consume vitamin/mineral supplements or cereals. Most women interested in participating were consuming supplements. Another limitation of the study was the length; four months was too long for some people and we did not have any other incentive besides the two-month cereal supply.

Because we recruited women who did not eat cereal regularly, some subjects thought that it was difficult to consume cereal everyday, and for others it was difficult to

estimate the points of folate based on their current foods. It was easier for vegetarians to consume adequate folate than for non-vegetarians.

For some subjects, the process of keeping a record of their food intake helped them to be more aware of their nutritional needs.

The use of E-mail to communicate with the participants was easy for some participants but difficult for others. However, most participants indicated that it was easier than meeting in person each week.

Homocysteine analysis was performed over a period of 3 days. During the first day, the slope of the standards for the baseline concentrations was about half of the slope of the next two days of samples. It is not clear if there was a methodological or equipment problem that made the homocysteine concentration higher at week 9 than during baseline and week 16 of the study, or if there was a true increase in homocysteine.

#### Conclusion

The purpose of this study was to assess the effect of targeted nutrition education and diet changes in improving folate status in young women. Estimated folate intake from diet records at baseline was not significantly different from the EAR ( $320 \mu g$  of folate) in the intervention or comparison groups. Folate intake estimated by the food records at week 9 tended to be higher than baseline estimates. Estimated folate intake by the 24-hour recall at week 16 was significantly higher than baseline estimates. Serum folate at week 16 tended to be higher than baseline values. RBC folate at week 16 was significantly higher than baseline. Homocysteine concentration was significantly lower at baseline and week 16 than week 9. Targeted nutrition education and cereal consumption

improved folate status in childbearing age women.

#### References

Albertson, AM. & Marquart, L. (1999). Estimated dietary folate intake and food sources for American adults classified by ready-to-eat cereal consumption pattern. *Topics in Clinical Nutrition*. 14(2):60-70.

Ashfield-Watt, PAL.; Whiting, JM.; Clark, ZE.; Moat, SJ.; Newcombe, RG.; Burr, ML.; McDowell IFW. (2003). A comparison of the effect of advise to eat either '5a-day' fruit and vegetables or folic acid-fortified foods on plasma folate and homocysteine. *European Journal of Clinical Nutrition*. 57:316-323.

Ashfield-Watt, PAL.; Pullin, CH.; Whiting, JM.; Clark, ZE.; Moat, SJ.; Newcombe, RG.; Burr, ML.; Lewis, MJ.; Powers, HJ.; McDowell IFW. (2002). Methylenetetrahydrofolate reductase  $677C \rightarrow T$  genotype modulates homocysteine responses to a folate-rich diet or a low-dose folic acid supplement: a randomized controlled trial. *American Journal of Clinical Nutrition*. 76:180-186.

Bailey, LB. (1990). Folate status assessment. *Journal of Nutrition*. 120:1508-1511.

Baranowski, T.; Perry, CL.; Parcel, GS. (1997). How individuals, environments, and health behavior interact. In: *Health Behavior and Health Education*: Theory, Research and Practice. Eds. Glanz K, Lewis FM, Rimer BK. San Francisco, CA. Jossey-Bass, 153-177.

Bartholomew, LK.; Parcel, GS.; Kok, G.; Gottlieb, NH. (2001). *Intervention Mapping*. Mountain View, California. Mayfield Publishing Company.

Bratteby, LE.; Sandhagen, B.; Fan, H.; Enghardt, H.; Samuelson, G. (1998). Total energy expenditure and physical activity as assessed by the doubly labeled water method in Swedish adolescents in whom energy intake was underestimated by 7-d diet records. *American Journal of Clinical Nutrition*. 67(5):905-11

Brouwer, IA.; van Dusseldoep, M.; West, CE.; Meyboom, S.; Thomas, CMG.; Duran, M.; van het Hof, KH.; Eskes, TKAB.; Hautvast, JGAJ.; Steehers-Theunissen, RPM. (1999). Dietary folate from vegetables and citrus fruit decreases plasma homocysteine concentrations in humans in a dietary controlled trial. *Journal of Nutrition*. 129:1135-1139. Caudill, MA.; Le, T.; Moonie, SA.; Efahani, ST.; Cogger, EA. (2001). Folate status in women of childbearing age residing in Southern California after folic acid fortification. *Journal of the American College of Nutrition*. 20:129-134.

Centers for Disease Control and Prevention. (2000). Folate status in women of childbearing age: United States, 1999. *Morbidity and Mortality Weekly Report*. 49:962-965.

Centers for Disease Control and Prevention. (2002). Folate status in women of childbearing age, by race/ethnicity: United States, 1999-2000. *Morbidity and Mortality Weekly Report.* 51(36):808-810.

Choumenkovitch, SF.; Selhub, J.; Wilson, PWF.; Rader, JI.; Rosenberg, IH.; Jacques, PF. (2002). Folic acid intake from fortification in the United States exceeds predictions. *Journal of Nutrition*. 132:2792-2798.

Cuskelly, GJ.; McNulty, H.; Scott, JM. (1999). Fortification with low amounts of folic acid makes a significant difference in folate status in young women: implications for the prevention of neural tube defects. *American Journal of Clinical Nutrition*. 70:234-239.

Daly, S.; Mills, JL.; Molloy, AM.; Conley, M.; Lee, YJ.; Kirke, PN.; Weir, DG.; Scott, JM. (1997). Minimum effective dose of folic acid for food fortification to prevent neural tube defects. *The Lancet*. 350(9092):1666-1669.

ESHA Researh, (2001). Nutrition Analysis & Fitness Software. Food Processor for Windows. Version 7.81. Salem, OR.

Fanelli-Kucamarski, M.; Johnson, CL.; Elias, L.; Najjar, MF. (1990). Folate status of Mexican American, Cuban, and Puerto Rican women. *American Journal of Clinical Nutrition*. 52:368-372.

Food and Nutrition Board. (1998). Dietary Reference Intakes for Thiamin, Riboflavin, Niacin, Vitamin  $B_6$ , Folate, Vitamin  $B_{12}$ , Panthotenic Acid, Biotin and Choline. National Academy Press. Washington, DC.

Gates, GE. & Contreras, MD. (2002). Factors that affect women's folate intake. *Topics in Clinical Nutrition*. 17(2):40-48.

Holmes-Siedle, M.; Lindenbaum, RH.; Galliard, A. (1992). Recurrence of neural tube defect in a group of at risk women: a 10 year study group of Pregnavite Forte F. *Journal of Medical Genetics*. 29:134-135.

Honein, MA.; Paulozzi, LJ.; Mathews, TJ.; Erickson, JD.; Wong, LYC. (2001). Impact of folic acid fortification on the US food supply on the occurrence of neural tube defects. *Journal of the American Medical Association*. 285(23):2981-2986. Jacques, PF.; Selhub, J.; Bostom, AG.; Wilson, PWF.; Rosemberg, IH. (1999). The effect of folic acid fortification on plasma folate and total homocysteine concentrations. *New England Journal of Medicine*. 340(19):1449-1454.

Johnson, RK.; Soultanakis, RP.; Matthews, DE. (1998). Literacy and body fatness are associated with underreporting of energy intake in US low-income women using the multiple-pass 24-hour recall: A doubly labeled water study. *Journal of the American Dietetic Association*. 98(10):1136-1140.

Johnston, FE (1985). Health implications of childhood obesity. *Annals of Intern Medicine*. 103:1068-1072.

Kaaks, R.; Riboli, E.; vanStaveren, WA. (1995). Calibration of dietary intake measurements in prospective cohort studies. *American Journal of Epidemiology*. 142:548-556.

Kroke, A.; Klipstein-Grobusch, K.; Voss, S.; Möseneder, J.; Thielecke, F.; Noack, R.; Boeing, H. (1999). Validation of a self-administered food-frequency questionnaire administered in the European Prospective Investigation into Cancer and Nutrition (EPIC) Study: comparison of energy, protein, and macronutrient intakes estimated with the doubly labeled water, urinary nitrogen, and repeated 24-h dietary recall methods. *American Journal of Clinical Nutrition*. 70(4):439-47.

Laurence, KM.; James, N.; Miller, M.; Tennant, GB.; Campbell, H. (1981). Double-blind randomized controlled trial of folate treatment before conception to prevent recurrence of neural tube defects. *British Medical Journal*. 282:1509-1511.

Lindenbaum, J. & Allen, RH. (1995). Clinical spectrum and diagnosis of folate deficiency. In: Bailey LB, ed. *Folate in Health and Disease*. New York: Marcel Dekker Inc. 43-73.

Liu, T.; Wilson, NP.; Craig, CB.; Tamura, T.; Soong, S.; Saulberlich, HE.; Cole, P.; Butterworth, CE Jr. (1992). Evaluation of three nutritional assessment methods in a group of women. *Epidemiology*. 3:496-502.

Malinow, MR.; Duell, PB.; Irvin-Jones, A.; Upson, BM.; Graf, EE. (2000). Increased plasma homocyst(e)ine after withdrawal of ready-to-eat breakfast cereal from the diet: prevention by breakfast cereal providing 200 µg folic acid. *Journal of the American College of Nutrition*. 19(4):452-457.

Martin, LJ.; Su, W.; Jones, PJ.; Lockwood, GA.; Tritchler, DL.; Boyd, NF. (1996). Comparison of energy intakes determined by food records and doubly labeled water in women participating in a dietary-intervention trial. *American Journal of Clinical Nutrition*. 63(4):483-90.

MRC Vitamin Study Research Group. (1991). Prevention of neural tube defects: Results of the medical research council vitamin study. *The Lancet*. 338(8760):131-137.

National Cancer Institute. (1993). Health Habits and History Questionnaire DIETSYS Analysis Software, Version 3.0.

O'Keefe, CA.; Bailey, LB.; Thomas, EA.; et al. (1995). Controlled dietary folate affects folate status in nonpregnant women. *Journal of Nutrition*. 1995;125:2717-2725.

Posner, BM.; Smigelski, C.; Duggal, A.; Morgan, JL.; Conn, J.; Cupples, LA. (1992). Validation of two-dimensional models for estimation of portion size in nutrition research. *Journal of the American Dietetic Association*. 92:738-741.

Pullin, CH.; Ashfield-Watt, PAL.; Burr, ML.; Clark, ZE.; Lewis, MJ.; Moat, SJ.; Newcombe, RG.; Stats, C.; Powers, HJ.; Whiting, JM.; McDowell IFW. (2001). Optimization of dietary folate or low-dose folic acid supplements lower homocysteine but do not enhance endothelial function in healthy adults, irrespective of the methylenetetrahydrofolate reductase (C677T) genotype. *Journal of American College of Cardiology*. 38(7):1799-1805.

Quinlivan, EP.; McPatlin J.; McNulty, H.; Ward, M.; Strain, JJ.; Weir, DG.; Scott, JM. (2002). Importance of both folic acid and vitamin B12 in reduction of risk of vascular disease. *The Lancet*. 359:227-228.

Quinlivan, EP. & Gregory III, JF. (2003). Effect of food fortification on folic acid intake in the United States. *American Journal of Clinical Nutrition*. 77:221-225.

Ray, JG.; Meier, C.; Vermeulen, MJ.; Boss, S; Wyatt, PR.; Cole, DEC. (2002). Association of neural tube defects and folic acid food fortification in Canada. *The Lancet*. 360:2047-2048.

Riboli, E.; Toniolo, P.; Kaaks, R. et al. (1997). Reproducibility of a food frequency questionnaire used in the New York University Women's Health Study: Effect of self-selection by study subjects. *European Journal of Clinical Nutrition*. 51:437-442.

Rimm, EB.; Giovannucci, EL.; Stampfer, MJ.; et al. (1992). Authors' response to "Invited commentary: some limitations of semiquantitative food frequency questionnaires". *American Journal of Epidemiology*. 135:1133-1136.

Romano, PS.; Waitzman, NJ.; Scheffler, RM.; Pi, RD. (1995). Folic acid fortification of grain: An economic analysis. *American Journal of Public Health*. 85:667-676.

Rothenberg, E.; Bosaeus, I.; Lernfelt, B.; Landahl, S.; Steen, B. (1998). Energy intake and expenditure: validation of a diet history by heart rate monitoring, activity diary and doubly labeled water. *European Journal of Clinical Nutrition*. 52:832-8.

Saulberlich, HE. (1990). Evaluation of folate nutrition in population groups. In: Picciano MF, Stokstad ELR, Gregory JF, eds. *Folic Acid Metabolism in Health and Disease*. New York, NY: Wiley-Liss, pp 212-235. Schorah, CJ.; Wild, J.; Hartley, R.; Sheppard, S.; Smithells, RW. (1983). The effect of periconceptional supplementation on blood vitamin concentrations in women at recurrence risk for neural tube defect. *British Journal of Nutrition*. 49:203-211.

Schorah, CJ. & Smithells, RW. (1991). A possible role for periconceptional multivitamin supplementation in the prevention of the recurrence of neural tube defects. In: *Micronutrients in Health and Disease Prevention*. Ed. Bendich, A., Butterworth, CE. Marcel Delcker Inc. p 263-285.

Schorah, CJ.; Devitt, H.; Lucock, M.; Dowell, AC. (1998). The responsiveness of plasma homocysteine to small increases in dietary folic acid: a primary care study. *European Journal of Clinical Nutrition*. 52:407-411.

Seale, JL. & Rumpler, WV. (1997). Comparison of energy expenditure measurements by diet records, energy intake balance, double labeled water and room calorimetry. *European Journal of Clinical Nutrition*. 51:856-63.

Selhub, J.; Jacques, PF., Rosenberg, IH.; Rogers, G.; Bowman, BA.; Gunter, EW.; Wright, JD.; Johnson, CL. (1999). Serum total homocysteine concentrations in the Third National Health and Nutrition Examination Survey (1991-1994): Population reference ranges and contribution of vitamin status to high serum concentrations. *Annals of Internal Medicine*. 131:331-339.

SPSS. (2001). Statistics Package for Social Sciences for Windows. Version 10.0.

Subar, AF.; Block, G.; James, LD. (1989). Folate intake and food sources in the US population. *American Journal of Clinical Nutrition*. 50:508-516.

Tamura, T. (1997). Bioavailability of folic acid in fortified food. *American Journal of Clinical Nutrition*. 66:1299-1300.

Tucker, KL.; Slehub, J.; Wilson, PWF.; Rosenberg, IH. (1996). Dietary intake pattens relates to plasma folate and homocysteine concentrations in the Framingham Heart Study. *Journal of Nutrition*. 126(12):3025-3031.

Ubbink, JB.; Vermaak, WJ.; Bissbort, S. (1991). Rapid high performance liquid chromatographic assay for total homocysteine levels in human serum. *Journal of Chromatography*. 565:441-446.

US. Department of Agriculture (2002). *Using the Food Guide Pyramid*. Food Nutrition and Consumer Services. http://www.nal.usda.gov/fnic/Fpyr/guide.pdf

US Department of Health and Human Services. (1996). Food and Drug Administration. Food standards: amendment of the standards of identity for enriched grain products to require addition of folic acid. *Federal Register*. 61(44):8781-8807. Vergel, RG.; Sanchez, LR.; Heredero, BL.; Rodriguez, PL.; Martinez, AJ. (1990). Primary prevention of neural tube defects with folic acid supplementation: Cuban experience. *Prenatal Diagnosis*. 10:149-152.

Vester, B. & Rasmussen, K. (1991). High performance liquid chromatography method for rapid and accurate determination of homocysteine in plasma and serum. *European Journal of Clinical Chemistry and Clinical Biochemistry*. 29:549-554.

Characteristics	Comparis (n=	son Group =10)	Intervention Group (n=13)		
Age (years)	27	$\pm 5^{a}$	31 ± 8		
<b>BMI</b> <sup>b</sup> (kg/m <sup>2</sup> )	25	± 7	$24 \pm 2$		
	N	%	n	%	
Race					
White	6	60	7	54	
American Indian/Alaska Native	1	10	0	0	
Asian/Pacific Islander	2	20	0	0	
Other	1	10	6	46	
Hispanic Origin					
Yes	1	10	6	46	
No	9	90	7	54	
Current work status					
Employed full-time	5	50	5	38	
Employed part-time	5	50	4	31	
Homemaker or Unemployed/other	0	0	4	31	
Level of education					
High School Graduate/GED	0	0	2	15	
Some Technical School/Some College	2	20	2	15	
College Graduate	5	60	4	31	
Graduate School	2	20	5	39	
Current student status					
Full-time student	5	50	6	46	
Part-time student	0		1	8	
Not a student	5	50	6	46	
Income over the past year					
Under \$20,000	4	40	7	54	
\$20,000 - \$34,999	5	50	1	8	
\$35,000 - \$49,999	0	0	1	8	
\$50,000 and over	1	10	2	15	

Table5.1 Demographic characteristics of the participants (N=23)

<sup>a</sup>Plus-minus values are means  $\pm$  SD

<sup>b</sup>Body Mass Index = weight (kg)/height (m<sup>2</sup>)

Vitamin and mineral supplement	Comparis (n=	son Group 10)	Intervention Group (n=13)		
	Ν	%	n	%	
Use of vitamin/mineral supplement					
No	3	30	5	39	
Yes, fairly regularly	1	10	3	23	
Yes, but not fairly regularly	6	60	5	39	
Type of supplement taken					
Multivitamin	5	50	4	31	
Vitamin C			4	31	
Other	1	10			

# Table5.2 Vitamin and mineral supplement use.

Table5.3 Current diet and weight satisfaction.

Current diet and weight satisfaction	Comparis (n=	son Group =10)	Intervention Group (n=13)		
	Ν	%	n	%	
Current diet					
Normal/General	10	100	7	54	
Weight Loss			3	23	
Weight gain			1	8	
Other			2	15	
Weight satisfaction					
Very satisfied	1	10	3	23	
Satisfied	1	10	3	23	
Unsatisfied	7	70	5	39	
Very unsatisfied	· 1	10	2	15	

Dietary Assessment	Comparison Group (n=10)						Intervention Group (n=13)					
	Mean ± SD Median		SD Median Below EAR		Bel	Below RDA Mean ± SD		Median	Below EAR		Below RDA	
	(µg)	(µg)					(µg)	(µg)				
			n	%	n	%			n	%	n	%
24-hr recall	359 ± 214	322	5	50	6	60	$269 \pm 152^{a}$	222	9	69	10	77
Food record	363 ± 145	321	5	50	7	70	$342\pm286$	260	9	69	11	85
Food frequency	$318 \pm 116^{a}$	311	5	50	7	70	316 ± 168	299	8	62	9	69

# Table5.4 Folate intake from baseline diet assessment by group.

<sup>a</sup> Significantly lower than the RDA (400  $\mu$ g) using one-sample *t* test.

Time/Dietary	С	omparison Grou	p	Intervention Group					
Assessment	·	<u>(n=10)</u>		(n=13)					
	Energy	Folate	Vitamin B12	Energy	Folate	Vitamin B12			
	(kcal)	(µg)	(µg)	(kcal)	(µg)	(µg)			
Baseline									
24-hr recall	$1697 \pm 555$	$359 \pm 214^{x}$	$3.16 \pm 2.01^{x}$	$1665 \pm 547$	$269 \pm 152^{\times}$	$2.01 \pm 1.36^{x}$			
Food record	$1911 \pm 561$	$363 \pm 145$	$2.54 \pm 1.63$ <sup>x</sup>	$1855\pm365$	$342\pm286$	$2.62 \pm 1.16^{x}$			
Food frequency	$903 \pm 277$	$318 \pm 116$		$960 \pm 424$	$316 \pm 168$				
Nine weeks									
24-hr recall	$1817\pm535$	371±219	$2.28 \pm 1.63$	$1871 \pm 607$	$404 \pm 441$	4.11 ± 3.09			
Food record	$1842\pm976$	$370\pm248$	$3.04 \pm 2.67$	$1674 \pm 486$	$580 \pm 139$	$7.61 \pm 2.69$			
Sixteen weeks									
24-hr recall	$1935 \pm 645^+$	$498 \pm 210^{+x}$	$3.19 \pm 1.57^{+ x}$	$2122 \pm 713^{++}$	$529 \pm 333^{++x}$	$7.06 \pm 4.27^{++x}$			
Food record	$1968 \pm 699^+$	$448 \pm 221^{+}$	$2.56 \pm 1.96^{+x}$	$1620 \pm 411^{++}$	$481 \pm 175^{++}$	$5.88 \pm 2.48^{++x}$			
Food frequency	$1224 \pm 539$	596 ± 315		$1053 \pm 446$	548 ± 203				

5.5 Nutrient intake of participants by group and time based on type of dietary assessment. Table

<sup>+</sup>n=9 <sup>++</sup>n=12

<sup>x</sup>Significant differences between baseline and week 16.

Time/Dietary Assessment		Compar (n	ison Group =10)	Intervention Group (n=13)				
	Homocysteine	<b>RBC</b> folate	Serum folate	Serum B12 (ng/mL)	Homocysteine	RBC folate	Serum folate	Serum B12 (ng/mL)
Baseline	$(\mu m 0 / L)$ 6.79 ± 1.90 <sup>a</sup>	(Hg/HL) 643± 179 <sup>a</sup>	(1.09,1112) 15.4 ± 4.7 <sup>++</sup>	320.6 ± 99.9	$(\mu m 0 / L)$ 6.11 ± 1.04 <sup>a</sup>	$(112)^{(112)}$ 669 ± 153 <sup>+a</sup>	(11g/111L) 15.6 ± 4.1 <sup>+</sup>	339.3 ± 145.6
Nine weeks	9.52 ± 3.13 <sup>b</sup>	709 ± 155	$14.7 \pm 5.2^{++}$	323.9 ± 74.3	8.91 ± 1.32 <sup>b</sup>	$721 \pm 144^{+}$	$17.2 \pm 4.4^{+}$	337.2 ± 160.2
Sixteen weeks	7.19 ± 2.58ª	$715 \pm 204^{b}$	$16.7 \pm 4.0^{+++}$	344.9 ± 87.1	6.30 ± 1.55ª	793 ± 129 <sup>+b</sup>	19.8 ± 4:3	445.5 ± 243.6

Table 5.6 Homocysteine, serum B12, RBC and serum folate concentrations by group and time based.

n = 12n = 9n = 8

<sup>a, b</sup> Means in a column with different superscripts were significantly different over time.

#### CHAPTER VI

#### SUMMARY AND RECOMMENDATIONS

#### Study 1

Factors that influence food choices of young women (18-44 years old) and their relationship with folate intake were studied using a mailed questionnaire. A better understanding of factors that affect women's food choices may improve folic acid intake and pregnancy outcome. Previous research has shown that several personal and demographic characteristics influence food choices. The Social Cognitive Theory may be used as a framework to understand women's decisions to consume folate-rich foods. The purpose of this study was to describe the factors that influence food choices of young women and determine their relationship with folate intake. To achieve this purpose, perceived influences on grain, fruit and vegetable intake; confidence in ability to eat these foods; demographic characteristics; and folate intake were studied using a mailed questionnaire.

In this population the main factors that influenced women's perceptions of high and low folate foods were familiarity, convenience, availability, and health. Women who lived with children or other adults were more influenced by familiarity and convenience than women who did not have children or lived alone. Women who believed that they could eat more fruits, vegetables and cereal had higher estimated folate intake. Also more educated women had higher folate estimates than women who were less educated. Folate intake was predicted by ratings of importance of buying grains, fruits, and vegetables;

confidence in their ability to drink orange juice and eat cereal; age; education; and perceptions of familiarity and convenience of foods.

Most women felt they did not currently consume enough fruits and vegetables, but recognized that they needed to and were willing to eat more. However, women felt they ate enough grains.

Nutrition educators may use these results to design interventions to increase women's folate intake through improved food choices or supplements. Most women did not consume adequate amounts of folate, so it is important to maintain information about folate and their main sources available to women in order to improve their food choices and how these choices could affect their chance of having a baby with a birth defect. Interventions should use mass media to promote information about easy recipes for low cost folate-rich foods to improve folate status in young women.

#### Study 2

The effects of targeted nutrition education and increased consumption of highly fortified cereal on serum and RBC folate, plasma homocysteine, and serum B12 were studied in a small sample of childbearing age women (21-43 years old). Participants were randomized in two groups: comparison and intervention group. The intervention group received targeted nutrition education based on the results of the first study to increase consumption of folate rich foods and/or fortified cereals over an 8-week period; then, they received a ready-to-eat cereal supply for 8 more weeks. The comparison group received a low folate cereal and general nutrition education during the first 8-weeks; then

they received the same targeted nutrition education as the intervention for the final 8 weeks of the study.

All subjects completed 24-hour food recalls and food records at baseline, weeks 9 and 16. Food frequency questionnaires were collected at baseline and at the end of the study. Blood samples were collected at baseline, week 9, and week 16.

Participants in the two groups were not significantly different at baseline in folate intake, serum and RBC folate, serum B12 and plasma homocysteine. At baseline, estimated intake of folate by the three dietary assessment methods was not significantly different from the Estimated Average Requirement (320µg of folate/day). Estimated folate intake by the 24-hour recall at week 16 was significantly higher than baseline estimates. Serum folate, a measure of recent folate intake, at week 16 tended to be higher than baseline values. RBC folate, a measure of long term folate status, at week 16 was significantly higher than baseline values. Homocysteine concentration, a measure of folate metabolism, at week 9 was significantly higher than baseline and week 16. There were no significantly differences between groups.

After nutrition education was implemented in both groups folate intake and blood values increased, and homocysteine decreased. As a consequence, we concluded that targeted nutrition education and cereal consumption improved folate status in this sample of young women.

In conclusion, familiarity, convenience, availability, and health were some of the major factors women use to choose their foods and breakfast cereals are thought to be familiar and convenient. Biomarkers of folate status tended to improve after the consumption of ready-to-eat cereals and nutrition education designed to increase folate

intake. Therefore, superfortified ready-to-eat cereals may be an effective strategy to improve folate intake in this population.

#### Recommendations

- Nutrition educators should use these results to design interventions to increase women's folate intake through improved food choices or supplements.

- It is important to keep women informed about how their food choices could affect their chance of having a baby with a birth defect.

- Nutrition education should focus on informing women about the main sources of folate, although we did not assess knowledge about the sources of folate for several women folate was unknown, or they heard about it but did not know which foods provides it.

- Since convenience and familiarity of foods were important influences on women's food choices, nutrition education should be focus on providing easy and convenient recipes to prepare folate rich foods to women based on their own food choices.

- The inclusion of ready-to-eat cereals in women' diet is an effective strategy when trying to improve folate intake. Therefore, larger studies should be conducted using childbearing age women to determine the long term effect of cereal consumption on folate intake and homocysteine concentration as an indicator of folate status.

- A larger study using women with higher baseline homocysteine concentrations could be conducted to test the effect of targeted nutrition education and diet changes to improve folate status.

#### BIBLIOGRAPHY

Albertson, AM. & Marquart, L. (1999). Estimated dietary folate intake and food sources for American adults classified by ready-to-eat cereal consumption pattern. *Topics in Clinical Nutrition*. 14(2):60-70.

Andani, Z.; MacFie, HJH. (1998). Consumer preferences, expectations and quality perceptions of dessert apples. *Postharvest News Info.* 9(3):39N-44N.

Ashfield-Watt, PAL.; Whiting, JM.; Clark, ZE.; Moat, SJ.; Newcombe, RG.; Burr, ML.; McDowell IFW. (2003). A comparison of the effect of advise to eat either '5a-day' fruit and vegetables or folic acid-fortified foods on plasma folate and homocysteine. *European Journal of Clinical Nutrition*. 57:316-323.

Ashfield-Watt, PAL.; Pullin, CH.; Whiting, JM.; Clark, ZE.; Moat, SJ.; Newcombe, RG.; Burr, ML.; Lewis, MJ.; Powers, HJ.; McDowell IFW. (2002). Methylenetetrahydrofolate reductase 677C→T genotype modulates homocysteine responses to a folate-rich diet or a low-dose folic acid supplement: a randomized controlled trial. *American Journal of Clinical Nutrition*. 76:180-186.

Bailey, LB. (1998). Dietary reference intakes for folate: The debut of dietary equivalents. *Nutrition Reviews*. 56(10):294-299.

Bailey, LB. (1990). Folate status assessment. *Journal of Nutrition*. 120:1508-1511.

Bailey, LB.; Wagner, PA.; Davis, CG.; Dinning, JS. (1984). Food frequency related to folacin status in adolescents. *Journal of the American Dietetic Association*. 84:801-804.

Bailey. LB.; Wagner, PA.; Christakis, GJ.; Davis, CG.; Appledorf, H.; Araujo, PE.; Dorsey, E.; Dinning, JS. (1982a). Folacin and iron status and hematological findings in Black and Spanish-American adolescents from urban low-income households. *American Journal of Clinical Nutrition*. 35:1023-1032.

Bailey, LB.; Wagner, PA.; Christakis, GJ. (1982b). Folacin and iron status of adolescents from low-income rural households. *Nutrition Research*. 2:397-407.

Balch, GI. (1995). Nutrition education for adults. *Journal of Nutrition Education*. 27:312-328.

Bandura, A. (1986). *Foundation of Thought And Action: A Social Cognitive Theory*. Englewood Cliffs: Prentice-Hall, Inc.

Baranowski, J.; Henske, J.; Simons-Morton, B. (1990). Dietary change for cardiovascular disease prevention among black-American families. *Health Education Research*. 5:433-443.

Baranowski, T.; Perry, CL.; Parcel, GS. (1997). How individuals, environments, and health behavior interact. In: *Health Behavior and Health Education*: Theory, Research and Practice. Eds. Glanz K, Lewis FM, Rimer BK. San Francisco, CA. Jossey-Bass, 153-177.

Baron, JA.; Sandler, RS.; Haile, RW.; Mandel, JS.; Mott, LA.; Greenberg, ER. (1998). Folate intake, alcohol consumption, cigarette smoking, and risk of colorectal adenomas. *Journal of the National Cancer Institute*. 90(1):57-62.

Bartholomew, LK.; Parcel, GS.; Kok, G.; Gottlieb, NH. (2001). *Intervention Mapping*. Mountain View, California. Mayfield Publishing Company.

Bartholomew, LK.; Parcel, GS.; Kok, G. (1998). Intervention Mapping: a process for developing theory- and evidence-based health education programs. *Health Education & Behavior*. 25(5):545-563.

Berdanier, C. (1998). Advanced Nutrition Micronutrients. Boca Raton, Florida: CRC Press LLC.

Betts, NM.; Amos, RJ.; Georgiou, C.; Hoerr, SL.; Ivaturi, R.; Keim, KS.; Tinsley, A.; Voichick, J. (1995). What young adults say about factors affecting their food intake. *Ecology of Food and Nutrition*. 34:59-64.

Betts, NM.; Amos, RJ.; Georgiou, C.; Keim, KS.; Peters, P.; Stewart, B. (1997). Ways young adults view foods. *Journal of Nutrition Education*. 29:73-79.

Bielamowicz, MK.; Miller, WC.; Elkins, E.; Ladewig, HW. (1995). Monitoring behavioral changes in diabetes care with the diabetes self-management record. *Diabetes Education*. 21;5:426-431.

Block, G. & Abrams, B. (1993). Vitamin and mineral status of women of childbearing potential. *Annals of the New York Academy of Sciences*. 678:244-254.

Block, G; Hartman, AM.; Dresser, CM.; Carroll, MD.; Gannon, J.; Gardner, L. (1986). A data-based approach to diet questionnaire design and testing. *American Journal of Epidemiology*. 124(3):453-469.

Block, G; Hartman, AM.; Naughton, D. (1990b). A reduced dietary questionnaire: development and validation. *Epidemiology*. 1(1):58-64.

Block, G; Thompson, FE; Hartman, AM.; Larkin, FA.; Guire, KE. (1992). Comparison of two dietary questionnaires validated against multiple dietary records collected during a 1-year period. *Journal of the American Dietetic Association*. 92(6):686-693.

Block, G.; Woods, M.; Potosky, A.; Clifford, C. (1990a). Validation of a selfadministered diet history questionnaire using a multiple diet records. *Journal of Clinical Epidemiology*. 43(12):1327-1335. Bratteby, LE.; Sandhagen, B.; Fan, H.; Enghardt, H.; Samuelson, G. (1998). Total energy expenditure and physical activity as assessed by the doubly labeled water method in Swedish adolescents in whom energy intake was underestimated by 7-d diet records. *American Journal of Clinical Nutrition*. 67(5):905-11

Briefel, RR.; Flegal, KM.; Winn, DM.; Loria, CM.; Johnson, CL.; Sempos, CT. (1992). Assessing the nation's diet: limitations of the food frequency questionnaire. *Journal of the American Dietetic Association*. 92:959-962.

Brody, T.; Shane, B.; Stokstad, ELR. (1984). Folic acid. In: *Handbook of Vitamins*. Eds. Laurence J. Machlin. Hoffman-La Roche, Inc. Nutley, New Jersey.

Brouwer, IA.; van Dusseldoep, M.; West, CE.; Meyboom, S.; Thomas, CMG.; Duran, M.; van het Hof, KH.; Eskes, TKAB.; Hautvast, JGAJ.; Steehers-Theunissen, RPM. (1999). Dietary folate from vegetables and citrus fruit decreases plasma homocysteine concentrations in humans in a dietary controlled trial. *Journal of Nutrition*. 129:1135-1139.

Brug, J.; Glanz, K.; Kok, G. (1997). The relationship between self-efficacy, attitudes, intake compared to others, consumption, and stages of change related to fruit and vegetables. *American Journal of Health Promotion*. 12(1):25-30.

Bryant, FB. & Yarnold, PR. (1995). Principal components analysis and exploratory and confirmatory analysis. In: *Reading and Understanding Multivariate Statistics*. Grimm LG., Yarnold PR Eds. Washington, DC. pp. 99-136.

Butterworth Jr., CE. & Bendich, A. (1996). Folic acid and the prevention of birth defects. *Annual Reviews of Nutrition*. 16:73-97.

Campbell, MK.; Symons, M.; Demark-Wahnefried, W.; Polhamus, B.; Bernhardt, JM.; McClelland, JW.; Washington, C. (1998). Stages of change and psychosocial correlates of fruit and vegetable consumption among rural African-American church members. *American Journal of Health Promotion*. 12(3):185-191.

Caudill, MA.; Le, T.; Moonie, SA.; Efahani, ST.; Cogger, EA. (2001). Folate status in women of childbearing age residing in Southern California after folic acid fortification. *Journal of the American College of Nutrition*. 20:129-134.

Centers for Disease Control and Prevention. (1992). Recommendations for the use of folic acid to reduce the number of cases of spina bifida and other neural tube defects. *Morbidity and Mortality Weekly Report.* 41:1-7.

Centers for Disease Control and Prevention. (1998). Birth defects prevention, an urgent need for folic acid to prevent birth defects!. Division of Birth Defects and Developmental Disabilities.

http://www.cdc.gov/nceh/programs/infants/brthdfct/prevent/bd prev.htm

Centers for Disease Control and Prevention. (2000). Folate status in women of childbearing age: United States, 1999. *Morbidity and Mortality Weekly Report*. 49:962-965.

Centers for Disease Control and Prevention. (2002). Folate status in women of childbearing age, by race/ethnicity: United States, 1999-2000. *Morbidity and Mortality Weekly Report.* 51(36):808-810.

Chambers, E. & Godwin, SL. (1998). Cognitive issues associated with the use of portion size estimation. *Seminar: What We Eat in America- Research and Results*. Sept. 14-15.

Choumenkovitch, SF.; Jacques, PF.; Nadeau, MR.; Wilson, PWF.; Rosenberg, IH.; Selhub, J. (2001). Folic acid fortification increases red blood cell folate concentrations in the Framingham Study. *Journal of Nutrition*. 131:3277-3280.

Choumenkovitch, SF.; Selhub, J.; Wilson, PWF.; Rader, JI.; Rosenberg, IH.; Jacques, PF. (2002). Folic acid intake from fortification in the United States exceeds predictions. *Journal of Nutrition*. 132:2792-2798.

Coates, TJ.; Jeffery, RW.; Slinkard, LA. (1981). Heart healthy eating and exercise: introducing and maintaining changes in health behaviors. *American Journal of Public Health*. 71:15-23.

Contento, IR.; Michela, JL.; Goldberg, CJ. (1988). Food choice among adolescents: population segmentation by motivations. *Journal of Nutrition Education*. 20:289-298.

Contreras, MD. & Gates, GE. (2000). A shortened food frequency to evaluate women's folate intake. *The Fourth International Conference on Dietary Assessment Methods*. September 17-20, 2000. Tucson, Arizona.

Cullen, KW.; Bartholomew, LK.; Parcel, GS.; Kok, G. (1998). Intervention mapping: Use of theory and data in the development of a fruit and vegetable nutrition program for girl scouts. *Journal of Nutrition Education*. 30:188-195.

Cusatis, DC. & Shannon, BM. (1996). Influences on adolescent eating behavior. *Journal of Adolescent Health.* 18:27-34

Cuskelly, GJ.; McNulty, H.; Scott, JM. (1996). Effect of increasing dietary folate on red-cell folate: implications for prevention of neural tube defects. *The Lancet*. 347:657-659.

Cuskelly, GJ.; McNulty, H.; Scott, JM. (1999). Fortification with low amounts of folic acid makes a significant difference in folate status in young women: implications for the prevention of neural tube defects. *American Journal of Clinical Nutrition*. 70:234-239.

Daly, S.; Mills, JL.; Molloy, AM.; Conley, M.; Lee, YJ.; Kirke, PN.; Weir, DG.; Scott, JM. (1997). Minimum effective dose of folic acid for food fortification to prevent neural tube defects. *The Lancet*. 350(9092):1666-1669.

de Bree, A.; van Dusseldorp, M.; Brouwer, IA.; van het Hof, KH.; Steegers-Theunissen, RP. (1997). Folate intake in Europe: recommended, actual and desired intake. *European Journal of Clinical Nutrition*. 51(10):643-660.

Dillman, DA. (2000). *Mail and Internet Surveys: the Tailored Design Method*. 2nd Ed. New York: J. Wiley.

Dittus, KL.; Hillers, VN.; Beerman, KA. (1995). Benefits and barriers to fruit and vegetable intake: Relationship between attitudes and consumption. *Journal of Nutrition Education*. 27:120-126.

Doner, L. (1997). Charting the Course of Evaluation: How Do We Measure the Success of Nutrition Education and Promotion in Food Assistance Programs?. US Department of Agriculture.

Dwyer, J. (1989). Assessing and monitoring dietary behaviors. In: Snetsalaar L, ed. *Nutrition Counseling Skills:Assessment, Treatment, and Evaluation*. Rockville, MD: Aspen Publishers; pp.106-113.

Eck, LH.; Klesges, RC.; Hanson, CL.; Slawson,D.; Portis, L.; Lavasque, ME. (1991). Measuring short-term dietary intake: Development and testing of a 1-week food frequency questionnaire. *Journal of the American Dietetic Association*. 91(8):940-945.

Ernst, ND.; Cleeman, J.; Mullis, R.; Sooter-Bochenel, J.; Van Horn, L. (1988). The National Cholesterol Education Program: implications for dietetic practitioners from the Adult Treatment Panel recommendations. *Journal of the American Dietetic Association.* 88:1401-1408.

Ervin, RB. & Smiciklas-Wright, H. (1998). Using encoding and retrieval strategies to improve 24-hour dietary recalls among older adults. *Journal of the American Dietetic Association*. 98(9):989-994.

ESHA Research, (2001). Nutrition Analysis & Fitness Software. Food Processor for Windows. Version 7.81. Salem, OR.

Evans, AE. & Sawyer-Morse, MK. (2002). The right bite program: a theory-based nutrition intervention at a minority college campus. *Journal of the American Dietetic Association*. 102(3):S89-S93.

Fanelli, MT. & Stevenhagen, KJ. (1986). Consistency of energy and nutrient intakes of older adults: 24-hour recall vs. 1-day food record. *Journal of the American Dietetic Association*. 86(5):665-667.

Fanelli-Kucamarski, M.; Johnson, CL.; Elias, L.; Najjar, MF. (1990). Folate status of Mexican American, Cuban, and Puerto Rican women. *American Journal of Clinical Nutrition*. 52:368-372.

Firth, Y.; Murtaugh, MA.; Tangney, CC. (1998). Estimation of individuals intakes of folate in women of childbearing age with and without simulation of folic acid fortification. *Journal of the American Dietetic Association*. 98(9):985-988.

Food and Drug Administration. (1999). The Food Label. http://www.fda.gov/opacom/backgrounders/foodlabel/newlabel.html

Food and Nutrition Board. (1989). *Recommended Dietary Allowances*. 10<sup>th</sup> ed. Washington, DC: National Academy Press.

Food and Nutrition Board. (1998). Dietary Reference Intakes for Thiamin, Riboflavin, Niacin, Vitamin  $B_6$ , Folate, Vitamin  $B_{12}$ , Panthotenic Acid, Biotin and Choline. National Academy Press. Washington, DC.

Frewer, LJ.; Howard, C.; Hedderly, D.; Sheperd, R. (1996). What determines trust in information about food-related risks? Underlying psychological constructs. *Risk Analysis*. 16(4):473-486.

Frosst, P.; Blom, HJ.; Milos, R.; Goyette, P.; Sheppard, CA.; Matthews, RG.; Boers, GJH.; den Heijer, M.; Kluijtmans, LAJ. Van den Heuvel, LP.; Rozen, R. (1995). A candidate genetic risk-factor for vascular disease: A common mutation in methylenetetrahydrofolate reductase. *Nature Genetics*. 10:111-113.

Gains, N.; Thompson, DMH. (1990). Contextual evaluation of canned lagers using repertory grid method. *International Journal of Food Science and Technology*. 25:699-705.

Gates, GE. & Contreras, MD. (2002). Factors that affect women's folate intake. *Topics in Clinical Nutrition*. 17(2):40-48.

Gates, GE. & Holmes, TW. (1999). Folate intake and supplement use in women of childbearing age. *Family Economics and Nutrition Reviews*. 12(1): 14-25.

Gibson, RS. (1990a). Principles of Nutritional Assessment. Oxford University Press. New York, Oxford.

Gibson, RS. (1990b). Validity in dietary assessment: A review. *Journal of the Canadian Dietetic Association*. 51:275-280.

Georgiou, CC.& Arquitt, AB. (1992). Different food sources of fat for young women who consumed lower-fat diets and those who consumed higher fat diets. *Journal of the American Dietetic Association* 92:358-360.

Georgiou, CC.; Betts, NM.; Hoerr, SL.; Keim, K.; Peters, PK.; Stewart, B.; Voichick J. (1997). Among young adults, college students and graduates practiced more healthful habits and made more healthful choices than did nonstudents. *Journal of the American Dietetic Association*. 97:754-759.

Georgiou, CC.; Betts, NM.; Hoos, T.; Glenn, M. (1996). Young adult exercisers differ in food attitudes, perceived dietary changes and food choices. *International Journal of Sport Nutrition*. 6:402-413.

Giovannucci, E.; Stampfer, MJ.; Colditz, GA.; Rimm, E.; Trichopolous, D.; Rosner, B.; Speizer, F.; Willett, WC. (1993). Folate, methionine, and alcohol intake and risk of colorectal adenoma. *Journal of the National Cancer Institute*. 85:875-83.

Glanz, K. & Rimer, BK. (1997). *Theory At Glance: A Guide For Health Promotion And Practice*. U.S. Department of Health and Human Services. National Cancer Institute. (NIH Publication No. 97-3896). September, 22-24.

Goodwin, TW. (1963). *The Biosynthesis of Vitamins and Related Compounds*. Academic Press. New York, NY.

Gorbach, SL. & Theoharides, TC. (1992). Antimicrobial chemotherapy. In: *Pharmacology*. Eds. Theoharis C. Theoharides.

Gortmaker, SL.; Peterson, K.; Wiecha, J.; Sobol, AM.; Dixit, S.; Fox, MK.; Laird N. (1999a). Reducing obesity via school-based interdisciplinary intervention among youth. *Archives of Pediatric and Adolescent Medicine*. 153:409-418.

Gortmaker, SL.; Cheung, LWY.; Peterson, KE.; Chomitz, G.; Cradle, JH.; Dart, H.; Fox, MK.; Bullock, RB.; Sobol, AM.; Colditz, G.; Field, AE.; Laird N. (1999b). Impact of a school-based interdisciplinary intervention on diet and physical activity among urban primary school children. *Archives of Pediatric and Adolescent Medicine*. 153:975-983.

Green, R. & Jacobsen, DW. (1995). Clinical implications of hyperhomocysteinemia. In: *Folate in Health and Disease*. Ed. Lynn Bailey. New York, NY.

Green, NS. (2002). Folic acid supplementation and prevention of birth defects. *Journal of Nutrition*. 132:2356S-2360S.

Gregory, JF. (1997). Bioavailability of folate. *European Journal of Clinical Nutrition*. 51(S1):S54-S59.

Grimm, RH. (1983). The multiple risk factor intervention trial in the U.S.A. Summary of results at four years in special intervention and usual care men. *Preventive Medicine*. 12:185-190.

Hale, F. (1933). Pigs born without eyeballs. Journal of Heredity. 24:105-106.

Havas, S.; Treiman, K.; Langenberg, P.; Ballesteros, M.; Anliker, J.; Damron, D.; Feldman, R. (1998). Factors associated with fruit and vegetable consumption among women participating in WIC. *Journal of the American Dietetic Association* 98:1141-1148.

Heaney, CA. (1998). Intervention mapping and the new health promotion. *Health Education & Behavior*. 25(5):564-570.

Hibbard, BM. (1964). The role of folic acid in pregnancy –with a particular reference to anemia, abruption and abortion. *The Journal of Obstetrics and Gynecology of the British Commonwealth*. 71:529-542.

Hibbard, ED. & Smithells, RW. (1965). Folic acid metabolism and human embriopathy. *The Lancet*. 1:1254.

Holmes-Siedle, M.; Lindenbaum, RH.; Galliard, A. (1992). Recurrence of neural tube defect in a group of at risk women: a 10 year study group of Pregnavite Forte F. *Journal of Medical Genetics.* 29:134-135.

Honein, MA.; Paulozzi, LJ.; Mathews, TJ.; Erickson, JD.; Wong, LYC. (2001). Impact of folic acid fortification on the US food supply on the occurrence of neural tube defects. *Journal of the American Medical Association*. 285(23):2981-2986.

Hunt, DJ.; Stoecker, BJ.; Hermann, JR.; Kopel, BL.; Williams, GS.; Claypool, PL. (2002). Effects of nutrition education programs on anthropometric measurements and pregnancy outcomes of adolescents. *Journal of the American Dietetic Association*. 102(3):S100-S102.

Hunt, MK.; Stoddard, AM.; Glanz, K.; Hebert, JR.; Probart, C.; Sorensen, G.; Thomson, S.; Hixson, ML.; Linnan, L.: Palombo, R. (1997). Measures of food choice behavior related to intervention messages in worksite health promotion. *Journal of Nutrition Education* 29:3-11.

Jack, FR.; Piacentini, MG.; Schroeder, MJK. (1998). Perception and role of fruit in the workday diets of Scottish lorry drivers. *Appetite*. 30,139-149.

Jack, FR.; O'Neill, J.; Piacentini, MG.; Scroeder, MJA. (1997). Perception of fruit as a snack: a comparison with manufactured snack foods. *Food Quality Preferences*. 8(3):175-182.

Jack, FR.; Piggott, JR.; Paterson, A. (1994). Use and appropriateness in cheese choice, and an evaluation of attributes influencing appropriateness. *Food Quality Preferences*. 5;281-290.

Jacques, PF.; Sulsky, SI.; Sadowski, JA.; Phillips, JCC.; Rush, D.; Willett, WC. (1993). Comparison of micronutrient intake measured by a dietary questionnaire and biochemical indicators of micronutrient status. *American Journal of Clinical Nutrition*. 57:182-189.

Jacques, PF.; Selhub, J.; Bostom, AG.; Wilson, PWF.; Rosemberg, IH. (1999). The effect of folic acid fortification on plasma folate and total homocysteine concentrations. *New England Journal of Medicine*. 340(19):1449-1454.

Jeffery, DR. (1999). Nutrition and disease of the nervous system. In: *Modern Nutrition in Health and Disease.* Eds. M. Shils, J. Olson, M. Shike, AC. Ross. Baltimore, MD. Williams & Wilkins.

Johnston, FE (1985). Health implications of childhood obesity. *Annals of Intern Medicine*. 103:1068-1072.

Johnson, RK.; Driscoll, P.; Goran, MI. (1996). Comparison of multiple-pass 24hour recall estimates of energy intake with total energy expenditure determined by the doubly labeled water method in young children. *Journal of the American Dietetic Association*. 96(11):1140-1160.

Johnson, RK.; Soultanakis, RP.; Matthews, DE. (1998). Literacy and body fatness are associated with underreporting of energy intake in US low-income women using the multiple-pass 24-hour recall: A doubly labeled water study. *Journal of the American Dietetic Association*. 98(10):1136-1140.

Johnson, PA.; Stadler, DD.; Feldkamp, M.; Webber, B. (2002). Impact of an educational seminar on high school students' knowledge of folic acid supplementation and its role in the prevention of birth defects. *Journal of the American Dietetic Association*. 102(3):S78-S81.

Kaaks, R.; Riboli, E.; vanStaveren, WA. (1995). Calibration of dietary intake measurements in prospective cohort studies. *American Journal of Epidemiology*. 142:548-556.

Keim, KS.; Stewart, B.; Voichick, J. (1997). Vegetable and fruit intake and perceptions of selected young adults. *Journal of Nutrition Education*. 29:80-85.

Kelly, G. (1955). *The Psychology of the Personal Constructs*. The Ohio State University. W.W. Norton & Company. INC. New York.

Kloeblen, AS. (1999). Folate knowledge, intake from fortified grain products, and periconceptional supplementation patterns of a sample of low-income pregnant women according to the health belief model. *Journal of the American Dietetic Association*. 99(1):33-38.

Krebs-Smith, SM.; Heimendinger, J.; Subar, AF.; Patterson, BH.; Pivonka, E. (1995). Using food frequency questionnaire to estimete fruit and vegetable intake: Association between the number of questions and total intake. *Journal of Nutrition Education*. (27(2):80-85.

Kristal A. Choosing appropriate dietary data collection methods to assess behavior changes. (1997). In: Doner L, ed. *Charting the Course for Evaluation: How Do*  we Measure the Success of Nutrition Education and Promotion in Food Assistance *Programs?* U.S. Department of Agriculture, 39-41.

Kroke, A.; Klipstein-Grobusch, K.; Voss, S.; Möseneder, J.; Thielecke, F.; Noack, R.; Boeing, H. (1999). Validation of a self-administered food-frequency questionnaire administered in the European Prospective Investigation into Cancer and Nutrition (EPIC) Study: comparison of energy, protein, and macronutrient intakes estimated with the doubly labeled water, urinary nitrogen, and repeated 24-h dietary recall methods. *American Journal of Clinical Nutrition*. 70(4):439-47.

Larkin, M. (1998). Kilmer McCully: Pioneer of the homocysteine theory. *The Lancet*. 352(9137):1364.

Laurence, KM.; James, N.; Miller, M.; Campbell, H. (1980). Increased risk of recurrence of pregnancies complicated by fetal neural tube defects in mothers receiving poor diets, and possible benefit of dietary counseling. *British Medical Journal*. 281:1592-1594.

Laurence, KM.; James, N.; Miller, M.; Tennant, GB.; Campbell, H. (1981). Double-blind randomized controlled trial of folate treatment before conception to prevent recurrence of neural tube defects. *British Medical Journal*. 282:1509-1511.

Lawrence, JM.; Petitti, DB.; Watkins, M.; Umekubo, MA. (1999). Trends in serum folate after food fortification. *The Lancet*. 354:915-916.

Lazaros, B. & Theoharides, TC. (1992). Cancer chemotherapy. In: *Pharmacology*. Eds. Theoharis C. Theoharides.

Lee, RD.; Nieman, DC.; Rainwater, M. (1995). Comparison of eight microcomputer dietary analysis programs with the USDA nutrient data base for standard reference. *Journal of the American Dietetic Association*. 95:858-867.

Lee, RD. & Nieman, DC. (1996). Nutritional Assessment. St. Louis, Missouri: Mosby-Year Book, Inc.

Lewis, CJ.; Crane, NT.; Wilson, DB.; Yetley, EA. (1999). Estimated folate intakes: data updated to reflect food fortification, increased bioavailability, and dietary supplement use. *American Journal of Clinical Nutrition*. 70:198-207.

Lindenbaum, J. & Allen, RH. (1995). Clinical spectrum and diagnosis of folate deficiency. In: Bailey LB, ed. *Folate in Health and Disease*. New York: Marcel Dekker Inc. 43-73.

Liu, T.; Wilson, NP.; Craig, CB.; Tamura, T.; Soong, S.; Saulberlich, HE.; Cole, P.; Butterworth, CE Jr. (1992). Evaluation of three nutritional assessment methods in a group of women. *Epidemiology*. 3:496-502.
Licavoli, L. (1996). Boosting your effectiveness as a counselor. In: *Beyond Nutrition Counseling: Achieving Positive Outcomes Through Nutrition Therapy*. Isreal D, Moores S, ed. Chicago: American Dietetic Association, 3-14.

Lucock, M. (2000). Folic acid: nutritional biochemistry, molecular biology, and role in disease processes. *Molecular Genetics and Metabolism*. 71:121-138.

Luepker, RV.; Perry, CL.; McKinlay, SM.; Nader, PR.; Parcel, GS.; Stone, EJ.; Webber, LS.; Elder, JP. Feldman HA.; Johnson, CC.; Kelder, SH.; Wu, M. (1996). Outcomes of a field trial to improve children's dietary patterns and physical activity. *Journal of the American Medical Association*. 275:768-776.

Lytle L. (1995). Nutrition education for school-aged children. *Journal of Nutrition Education*. 27:298-311.

McEwan, JA. & Thomson, DMH. (1988). An investigation of the factors influencing consumer acceptance of chocolate confectionary using the repertory grid method. In: *Food Acceptability*. London, New York: Elsevior. pp. 347-361.

McEwan, JA. & Thomson, DMH. (1989). The repertory grid method and preference mapping in market research: a case study on chocolate confectionary. *Food Quality Preferences*. 2:59-68.

Malinow, MR.; Duell, PB.; Irvin-Jones, A.; Upson, BM.; Graf, EE. (2000). Increased plasma homocyst(e)ine after withdrawal of ready-to-eat breakfast cereal from the diet: prevention by breakfast cereal providing 200 µg folic acid. *Journal of the American College of Nutrition*. 19(4):452-457.

Martin, LJ.; Su, W.; Jones, PJ.; Lockwood, GA.; Tritchler, DL.; Boyd, NF. (1996). Comparison of energy intakes determined by food records and doubly labeled water in women participating in a dietary-intervention trial. *American Journal of Clinical Nutrition*. 63(4):483-90.

Mason, JB. (1995). Folate status: Effects on carcinogenesis. In: *Folate in Health and Disease*. Ed. Lynn Bailey. New York, NY. M. Dekker.

McCollum, EV. (1957). A History of Nutrition. The Riverside Press. Cambridge, Massachusetts.

Mertz, W. (1997). Food fortification in the United States. *Nutrition Reviews*. 55(2):44-49.

Mitchell, HK.; Snell, EE.; Williams, RJ. (1941). The concentration of folic acid. *Journal of the American Chemical Society*. 63:2284.

Monteleone, E.; Raats, MM.; Mela, DJ. (1997). Perceptions of starchy food dishes: application of the repertory grid method. *Appetite*. 28:255-265.

Moore, KL. (1988). *The Developing Human: Clinically Oriented Embryology*. WB Saunders Company. Harcourt Brace Jovanovich, Inc. Philadelphia, PA.

MRC Vitamin Study Research Group. (1991). Prevention of neural tube defects: Results of the medical research council vitamin study. *The Lancet*. 338(8760):131-137.

Mulinare, J. & Erickson, JD. (1997). Prevention of neural tube defects. *Teratology*. 56:17-18.

Murphy A. (1997). Doing the best evaluation possible. In: Doner L, ed. *Charting the Course for Evaluation: How Do we Measure the Success of Nutrition Education and Promotion in Food Assistance Programs?* U.S. Department of Agriculture, pp 28-30.

Murray, RK.; Granner, DK.; Mayes, PA.; Rodwell, VW. (1996). *Harper's Biochemistry*. Stamford, Connecticut: Appleton & Lange.

National Academy of Sciences, (1997a). Origin and framework of the development of Dietary Reference Intakes. *Nutrition Reviews*. 55(9):332-334.

National Academy of Sciences. (1997b). Dietary Reference Intakes. *Nutrition Reviews*. 55(9):319-326.

National Academy of Sciences, (1997c). Uses of Dietary Reference Intakes. *Nutrition Reviews*. 55(9):327-331.

National Cancer Institute. (1993). *Health Habits and History Questionnaire* DIETSYS Analysis Software, Version 3.0.

Obeid, OA.; Mannan, N.; Perry, G.; Iles, RA.; Boucher, BJ. (1998). Homocysteine and folate in healthy east London Bangladeshis. *The Lancet*. 352(9143):1829-1830.

O'Keefe, CA.; Bailey, LB.; Thomas, EA.; Hofler, SA.; Davis, BA.; Cerda, JJ.; Gregory, JF. (1995). Controlled dietary folate affects folate status in nonpregnant women. *Journal of Nutrition*. 1995;125:2717-2725.

Perry, CL.; Crockett, SJ.; Pirie, P. (1987). Influencing parental health behavior: implications of community assessments. *Health Education*. 18:68-77.

Perry, CL.; Bishop, DB.; Taylor, G.; Murray, D.; Mays, RW.; Dudovitz, BS.; Smyth, M.; Story, M. (1998). Changing fruit and vegetable consumption among children: the 5-day power plus program in St. Paul, Minnesota. *The American Journal of Public Health.* 88(4):603-609.

Petrini, J.; Damus, K.; Johnston, RB. (1997). An overview of infant mortality and birth defects in the United States. *Teratology*. 56:8-9.

Piggott, JR. & Watson, MP. (1992). A comparison of free-choice profiling and the repertory grid method in the flavor profiling of cider. *Journal of Sensory Studies*. 7:133-145.

Portney, LG. & Watkins, MP. (2000). Foundations of Clinical Research: Applications to Practice. Upper Saddle River, NJ Prentice Hall Health.

Posner, BM.; Smigelski, C.; Duggal, A.; Morgan, JL.; Conn, J.; Cupples, LA. (1992). Validation of two-dimensional models for estimation of portion size in nutrition research. *Journal of the American Dietetic Association*. 92:738-741.

Pullin, CH.; Ashfield-Watt, PAL.; Burr, ML.; Clark, ZE.; Lewis, MJ.; Moat, SJ.; Newcombe, RG.; Stats, C.; Powers, HJ.; Whiting, JM.; McDowell IFW. (2001). Optimization of dietary folate or low-dose folic acid supplements lower homocysteine but do not enhance endothelial function in healthy adults, irrespective of the methylenetetrahydrofolate reductase (C677T) genotype. *Journal of American College of Cardiology*. 38(7):1799-1805.

Quinlivan, EP.; McPatlin J.; McNulty, H.; Ward, M.; Strain, JJ.; Weir, DG.; Scott, JM. (2002). Importance of both folic acid and vitamin B12 in reduction of risk of vascular disease. *The Lancet*. 359:227-228.

Quinlivan, EP. & Gregory III, JF. (2003). Effect of food fortification on folic acid intake in the United States. *American Journal of Clinical Nutrition*. 77:221-225.

Raats, MM. & Shepherd, R. (1996). Developing a subject-derived terminology to describe perceptions of chemicals in foods. *Risk Analysis*. 16(2):133-146.

Raats, MM. & Shepherd, R. (1993). The use and perceived appropriateness of milk in the diet: a cross-country evaluation. *Journal of Technology of Food and Nutrition*. 30:253-273.

Raats, MM. & Shepherd, R. (1991). An evaluation of the use and perceived appropriateness of milk using the repertory grid method and the 'item by use' appropriateness method. *Food Quality Preferences*. 3:89-100.

Ray, JG.; Meier, C.; Vermeulen, MJ.; Boss, S; Wyatt, PR.; Cole, DEC. (2002). Association of neural tube defects and folic acid food fortification in Canada. *The Lancet*. 360:2047-2048.

Reynolds, EH. (2002). Folic acid, ageing, depression, and dementia. *British Medical Journal.* 324:1512-1515.

Reynolds K. (1997). Social learning theory. In: Doner L, ed. *Charting the Course* for Evaluation: How Do we Measure the Success of Nutrition Education and Promotion in Food Assistance Programs? US Department of Agriculture, pp.17-19.

Riboli, E.; Toniolo, P.; Kaaks, R.; Shore, RE.; Casagrande, C.; Pasternack, BS. (1997). Reproducibility of a food frequency questionnaire used in the New York University Women's Health Study: Effect of self-selection by study subjects. *European Journal of Clinical Nutrition*. 51:437-442.

Rimm, EB.; Giovannucci, EL.; Stampfer, MJ.; Colditz, GA.; Litin, LL.; Willet, WC. (1992). Authors' response to "Invited commentary: some limitations of semiquantitative food frequency questionnaires". *American Journal of Epidemiology*. 135:1133-1136.

Rimm, EB.; Willet, WC.; Hu, FB.; Sampson, L.; Colditz, GA.; Manson, JE.; Hennekens, C.; Stampfer, MJ. (1998). Folate and vitamin B6 from diet and supplements in relation to risk of coronary heart disease among women. *Journal of the American Medical Association*. 279(5):359-364.

Roberts, LJ. (1958). Beginning of the Recommended Dietary Allowances. *Journal of the American Dietetic Association*. 34: 903-908.

Romano, PS.; Waitzman, NJ.; Scheffler, RM.; Pi, RD. (1995). Folic acid fortification of grain: An economic analysis. *American Journal of Public Health*. 85:667-676.

Rosenquist, TH. & Finnell, RH. (2001). Genes, folate, and homocysteine in embryonic development. *Proceedings of the Nutrition Society*. 60:53-61.

Rothenberg, E.; Bosaeus, I.; Lernfelt, B.; Landahl, S.; Steen, B. (1998). Energy intake and expenditure: validation of a diet history by heart rate monitoring, activity diary and doubly labeled water. *European Journal of Clinical Nutrition*. 52:832-8.

Russell, MC. (1999). *Women's Perceptions of Folate-Containing Foods*. Unpublished Master Theses. Oklahoma State University. Stillwater, OK.

Salant, P. & Dillman, D. (1994). *How To Conduct Your Own Survey*. New York: John Wiley and Sons.

Sauberlich, HE. (1990). Evaluation of folate nutrition in population groups. In: Picciano MF, Stokstad ELR, Gregory JF, eds. *Folic Acid Metabolism in Health and Disease*. New York, NY: Wiley-Liss, pp 212-235.

Schaller, DR. & Olson, BH. (1996). A food industry perspective on folic acid fortification. *Journal of Nutrition*. 126(3):S761-763.

Schorah, CJ.; Wild, J.; Hartley, R.; Sheppard, S.; Smithells, RW. (1983). The effect of periconceptional supplementation on blood vitamin concentrations in women at recurrence risk for neural tube defect. *British Journal of Nutrition*. 49:203-211.

Schorah, CJ. & Smithells, RW. (1991). A possible role for periconceptional multivitamin supplementation in the prevention of the recurrence of neural tube defects.

In: *Micronutrients in Health and Disease Prevention*. Ed. Bendich, A., Butterworth, CE. Marcel Delcker Inc. p 263-285.

Schorah, CJ.; Devitt, H.; Lucock, M.; Dowell, AC. (1998). The responsiveness of plasma homocysteine to small increases in dietary folic acid: a primary care study. *European Journal of Clinical Nutrition*. 52:407-411.

Scriven, FM.; Gains, N.; Green, SR.; Thomson, DMH. (1989). A contextual evaluation of alcoholic beverages using the repertory grid method. *International Journal of Food Science and Technology*. 24:173-182.

Seale, JL. & Rumpler, WV. (1997). Comparison of energy expenditure measurements by diet records, energy intake balance, double labeled water and room calorimetry. *European Journal of Clinical Nutrition*. 51:856-63.

Selhub, J.; Jacques, PF.; Bostom, AG.; D'Agostino, RB.; Wilson, PW.; Belanger, AJ.; O'Leary, DH.; Wolf, PA.; Rush, D.; Shaefer, EJ.; Rosenberg, IH. (1996). Relationship between plasma homocysteine, vitamin status and extracranial carotid-artery stenosis in the Framingham Study. *Journal of Nutrition*. 126(4):1258S-1265S.

Selhub, J. & Rosenberg, IH. (1996). Folic acid. In: *Present Knowledge in Nutrition*. Eds. Ziegler, EE. and Filer, LJ. Washington, DC.

Selhub, J.; Jaques, PF.; Rosenberg, IH.; Rogers, G.; Bowman, BA.; Gunter, EW.; Wright, JD.; Johnson, CJ. (1999). Serum total homocysteine concentrations in the Third National Health and Nutrition Examination Survey (1991-1994): population reference ranges and contribution of vitamin status to high serum concentrations. *Annals of Internal Medicine*. 131:331-339.

Smiciklas-Wright, H. & Mitchell, DC. (1998). Experience with telephone dietary recalls. Washington, DC. *What We Eat in America: Research and Results*. September 14.

Smithells, RW.; Seller, MJ.; Harris, R; Fielding,; Schorah, CJ.; Nevin, NC.; Sheppard, S.; Read, AP.; Walker, S.; Wild, J. (1983). Further experience of vitamin supplementation for prevention of neural tube defects recurrences. *The Lancet*. 1:1027-1031.

Snetsalaar, L. (1989). Nutrition Counseling Skills: Assessment, Treatment, and Evaluation. Rockville, MD: Aspen Publishers, pp.78-79.

SPSS. (2001). Statistics Package for Social Sciences for Windows. Version 11.0.

Stehlin, D. (1993). A little 'lite' reading. FDA Consumer. 27(4):29-33.

Stewart, B. & Tinsley, A. (1995). Importance of food choice influences for working young adults. *Journal of the American Dietetic Association*. 95:227-230.

Story, M.; Newmark-Sztainer, D.; French, S. (2002). Individual and environmental influences on adolescent eating behaviors. *Journal of the American Dietetic Association*. 102(3):S40-S52.

Subar, AF.; Block, G.; James, LD. (1989). Folate intake and food sources in the US population. *American Journal of Clinical Nutrition*. 50:508-516.

Subar, AF.; Harlan, LC.; Mattson, ME. (1990). Food and nutrient intake differences between smokers and non-smokers in the US. *Journal of Public Health*. 80:1323-1329.

Subar, A.; Heimendinger, J.; Patterson, BH.; Krebs-Smith, SM.; Pivonka, E.; Kessler, R. (1995). Psychological factors associated with fruit and vegetable consumption. *American Journal of Health Promotion*. 10:98-104.

Subar, AF.; Thompson, FE.; Kipnis, V.; Midthune, D.; Hurwitz, P.; McNutt, S.; McIntosh, A.; Rosenfeld, S. (2001). Comparative validation of the Block, Willet and National Cancer Institute food frequency questionnaires: the eating at America's table study. *American Journal of Epidemiology*. 154(12):1089-1099.

Tamura, T. (1997). Bioavailability of folic acid in fortified food. *American Journal of Clinical Nutrition*. 66:1299-1300.

Thompson, FE. & Byers, T. (1994). Dietary assessment resource manual. *Journal* of Nutrition. 124(11S):2245S-2317S.

Tice, JA.; Ross, E.; Coxson, PG.; Rosemberg, I.; Weinstein, MC.; Hunink, MGM.; Goldman; PA.; Williams, L.; Goldman, L. (2001). Cost-effectiveness of vitamin therapy to lower plasma homocysteine levels for the prevention of coronary heart disease: Effect of grain fortification and beyond. *Journal of the American Medical Association*. 286:936-943.

Tucker, KL.; Selhub, J.; Wilson, PWF.; Rosenberg, IH. (1996). Dietary intake pattens relates to plasma folate and homocysteine concentrations in the Framingham Heart Study. *Journal of Nutrition*. 126(12):3025-3031.

Ubbink, JB.; Vermaak, WJ.; Bissbort, S. (1991). Rapid high performance liquid chromatographic assay for total homocysteine levels in human serum. *Journal of Chromatography*. 565:441-446.

Ubbink, JB.; Vermaak, WJH.; van der Merwe, A.; Becker, PJ.; Delport, R.; Potgieter, HC. (1994). Vitamin requirements for the treatment of hyperhomocysteinemia in humans. *Journal of Nutrition*. 124:1927-1933.

Ubbink, JB. (1997). The role of vitamin in the pathogenesis and treatment of hyperhomocysteinemia. *Journal of Inheritance and Metabolic Diseases*. 20:316-325.

US Census Bureau, Current Population Survey, March 1998, 1999, 2000. http://www.census.gov/hhes/income/income99/99tabled.html. Accessed April 2000.

US Department of Agriculture (2002). Using the Food Guide Pyramid. Food Nutrition and Consumer Services. http://www.nal.usda.gov/fnic/Fpyr/guide.pdf

US Department of Agriculture and the US Department of Health and Human Services. (2000). *Dietary Guidelines for Americans*. http://www.usda.gov/cnpp/Pubs/DG2000/DietGuidBrochure.pdf

US Department of Agriculture ARS. (1998). *Design and Operation: The Continuing Survey of Food Intakes by Individuals and the Diet and Health Knowledge Survey*, 1994-96.

US Department of Agriculture. (1997). *How to Use the New Food Label*. North Central Regional Extension. Publication 559.

US Department of Health and Human Services. (1996). Food and Drug Administration. Food standards: amendment of the standards of identity for enriched grain products to require addition of folic acid. *Federal Register*. 61(44):8781-8807.

van der Put, NM.; Steegers-Theunissen, RP.; Frosst, P.; Trijbels, FJM.; Eskes, TKAB.; van den Heubel, LP.; Mariman, ECM.; Den Heyer, M.; Rozen, R.; Blom, HJ. (1995). Mutated methylenetetrahydrofolate reductase as a risk factor for spina bifida. *The Lancet*. 346:1070-1071.

van der Put, NMJ.; van Straaten, HWM.; Trijbels, FJM.; Blom, HJ. (2001). Folate, homocysteine and neural tube defects: an overview. *Experimental Biology and Medicine*. 226(4):243-270.

Venn, BJ.; Mann, JI.; Williams, SM.; Riddell, LJ.; Chisholm, A.; Harper, MJ.; Aitken, W. (2002). Dietary counseling to increase natural folate intake: a randomized, placebo-controlled trial in free-living subjects to assess effects on serum folate and plasma total homocysteine. *American Journal of Clinical Nutrition*. 76:758-765.

Vergel, RG.; Sanchez, LR.; Heredero, BL.; Rodriguez, PL.; Martinez, AJ. (1990). Primary prevention of neural tube defects with folic acid supplementation: Cuban experience. *Prenatal Diagnosis.* 10:149-152.

Vester, B. & Rasmussen, K. (1991). High performance liquid chromatography method for rapid and accurate determination of homocysteine in plasma and serum. *European Journal of Clinical Chemistry and Clinical Biochemistry*. 29:549-554.

Wald, N.J.; Law, M.R.; Morris, J.K.; Wald, D.S. (2001). Quantifying the effect of folic acid. *The Lancet*. 358:2069-2073.

Wei, MM.; Bailey, LB.; Toth, JP.; Gregory, JF. (1996). Bioavailability for humans of deuterium-labeled monoglutamyl and polyglutamyl folates is affected by selected foods. *Journal of Nutrition*. 126(12):3100-3108.

Werler, MM.; Louik, C.; Mitchell, AA. (1999). Achieving a public health recommendation for preventing neural tube defects with folic acid. *American Journal of Public Health.* 89(11):1637-1640.

Willett, WC. (1990). Nutrition Epidemiology. Ed. Brian MacMahon. Oxford, NY.

Williams, HM.; Woodward, DR.; Ball, PJ.; Cumming, FJ.; Hornsby, H.; Boon, JA. (1993). Food perceptions and food consumption among Tasmanian high school students. *Australian Journal of Nutrition and Dietetics*. 50:156-163.

Witschi, JC. (1990). Short-term dietary recall and recording methods. In: *Nutrition Epidemiology*. Ed. Brian MacMahon. Oxford, NY.

Wright, JD.; Ervin, B.; Brielf, RR. (1993). Consensus Workshop on Dietary Assessment: Nutrition Monitoring and Tracking the Year 2000 Objectives. National Center for Health and Statistics. Division of Health Examination Statistics. Hyattsville, MD.

# **APPENDICES**

#### APPENDIX A

# **IRB Approval Study 1**

#### OKLAHOMA STATE UNIVERSITY INSTITUTIONAL REVIEW BOARD HUMAN SUBJECTS REVIEW

Date: 09-11-97

IRB#: HE-98-007

Proposal Title: IMPROVING FOLATE INTAKE IN YOUNG WOMEN

Principal Investigator(s): Gail Gates, Kathy Keim

Reviewed and Processed as: Expedited

Approval Status Recommended by Reviewer(s): Approved

ALL APPROVALS MAY BE SUBJECT TO REVIEW BY FULL INSTITUTIONAL REVIEW BOARD AT NEXT MEETING, AS WELL AS ARE SUBJECT TO MONITORING AT ANY TIME DURING THE APPROVAL PERIOD.

APPROVAL STATUS PERIOD VALID FOR DATA COLLECTION FOR A ONE CALENDAR YEAR PERIOD AFTER WHICH A CONTINUATION OR RENEWAL REQUEST IS REQUIRED TO BE SUBMITTED FOR BOARD APPROVAL.

ANY MODIFICATIONS TO APPROVED PROJECT MUST ALSO BE SUBMITTED FOR APPROVAL.

Comments, Modifications/Conditions for Approval or Disapproval are as follows:

Sign hair of Institutio ew Board

Date: September 16, 1997



Survey

# We need your opinion





Department of Nutritional Sciences Oklahoma State University Stillwater, OK 74078-6141 (405) 744-5032

Do	you think you can	Definitely Can	Probably Can	Probably Can Not	Definitely Can Not
1	Fat more green leafy vegetables such as broccoli or spinach?	4	3	2	1
2	Eat a vegetable at lunch?	4	3	2	1
3	Eat a vegetable with the evening meal?	4	3	2	1
4	Eat beans like pinto or kidney beans twice a week?	4	3	2	1
5	Eat fruit as a snack?	4	3	2	1
6	Drink orange juice with breakfast?	4	3	2	1
7	Drink orange juice at some other time?	4	3	2	1
8	Buy fruit at the store?	4	3	2	1
g.	Buy vegetables at the store?	4	3	2	1
10	Eat cold cereal as a snack?	4	3	2	1
11	Eat cold cereal for breakfast?	4	3	2	1
12	Eat at least 6 servings of grains (nasta bread, rice, or cereal) each day?	4	3	2	1
13	Make dietary changes easily?	4	3	2	1
14	Take vitamin supplements daily?	4	3	2	1
		-			
Ci ya	ircle the number that shows how much ou agree with the following statements.	Strongl) Agree	Agree	Disagree	Strongly Disagree
C: yc 15.	ircle the number that shows how much ou agree with the following statements.	<ul> <li>Strongly</li> <li>Agree</li> </ul>	പ Agree	2 Disagree	→ Strongly Disagree
<b>C</b> <b>y</b> 15. 16.	ircle the number that shows how much ou agree with the following statements. I don't feel I have had a meal unless I have eaten a FRUIT. I don't feel I have had a meal unless I have eaten a VEGETABLE.	4 Strongly Agree	ა Agree	5 Disagree	L L Strongly Disagree
<b>C</b> <b>y</b> ( 15. 16. 17.	ircle the number that shows how much bu agree with the following statements. I don't feel I have had a meal unless I have eaten a FRUIT. I don't feel I have had a meal unless I have eaten a VEGETABLE. I don't feel I have had a meal unless I have eaten a GRAIN (Grains include pasta, bread, rice, or cereal.)	Strongly Agree	ა ა Agree	2 2 2 2	L L Strongly Disagree
<b>C</b> <b>y</b> ( 15. 16. 17. 18.	ircle the number that shows how much bu agree with the following statements. I don't feel I have had a meal unless I have eaten a FRUIT. I don't feel I have had a meal unless I have eaten a VEGETABLE. I don't feel I have had a meal unless I have eaten a GRAIN (Grains include pasta, bread, rice, or cereal.) I don't feel I have had a meal unless I have eaten BEANS.	4 4 Agree	ы разви В разви В разви	2 2 2 2 2	1 1 Strongly Disagree
<b>C</b> <b>y</b> ( 15. 16. 17. 18. 19.	ircle the number that shows how much bu agree with the following statements. I don't feel I have had a meal unless I have eaten a FRUIT. I don't feel I have had a meal unless I have eaten a VEGETABLE. I don't feel I have had a meal unless I have eaten a GRAIN (Grains include pasta, bread, rice, or cereal.) I don't feel I have had a meal unless I have eaten BEANS. I eat adequate amounts of FRUIT each day.	A A A B A B C C C A C C C D B C C C C C C D B C C C C C C C	ала В Agree	2 2 2 2 2 2	1 1 1 Strongly Disagree
<b>C</b> <b>y</b> ( 15. 16. 17. 18. 19. 20.	ircle the number that shows how much bu agree with the following statements. I don't feel I have had a meal unless I have eaten a FRUIT. I don't feel I have had a meal unless I have eaten a VEGETABLE. I don't feel I have had a meal unless I have eaten a GRAIN (Grains include pasta, bread, rice, or cereal.) I don't feel I have had a meal unless I have eaten BEANS. I eat adequate amounts of FRUIT each day. I eat adequate amounts of VEGETABLES each day.	P A A A B C R C A B C C C A	я З З З З З З З З З З	2 2 2 2 2 2 2 2 2	L L L L Strongly Disagree
<b>C</b> <b>y</b> ( 15. 16. 17. 18. 19. 20. 21.	ircle the number that shows how much bu agree with the following statements. I don't feel I have had a meal unless I have eaten a FRUIT. I don't feel I have had a meal unless I have eaten a VEGETABLE. I don't feel I have had a meal unless I have eaten a GRAIN (Grains include pasta, bread, rice, or cereal.) I don't feel I have had a meal unless I have eaten BEANS. I eat adequate amounts of FRUIT each day. I eat adequate amounts of VEGETABLES each day. I eat an adequate amount of GRAINS each day.	A A A A B G C G C C C C C C C C C C C C C C C C	Agree S S S S S S	2 2 2 2 2 2 2 2 2 2 2 2 2 2 2 2 2 2 2	L L L L Strongly Disagree
<b>C</b> <b>y</b> ( 15. 16. 17. 18. 19. 20. 21. 22.	<ul> <li>ircle the number that shows how much bu agree with the following statements.</li> <li>I don't feel I have had a meal unless I have eaten a FRUIT.</li> <li>I don't feel I have had a meal unless I have eaten a VEGETABLE.</li> <li>I don't feel I have had a meal unless I have eaten a GRAIN (Grains include pasta, bread, rice, or cereal.)</li> <li>I don't feel I have had a meal unless I have eaten BEANS.</li> <li>I eat adequate amounts of FRUIT each day.</li> <li>I eat adequate amounts of VEGETABLES each day.</li> <li>I eat an adequate amount of GRAINS each day.</li> <li>It is important for me to buy FRUIT.</li> </ul>	A A A A B G C C C C C C C C C C C C C C C C C C	нала В В В В В В В В В В В В В В В В В В В	2 2 2 2 2 2 2 2 2 2 2 2 2 2 2 2 2 2 2	L L L L L Strongly Disagree
<b>C</b> y( 15. 16. 17. 18. 19. 20. 21. 22. 23.	<ul> <li>ircle the number that shows how much bu agree with the following statements.</li> <li>I don't feel I have had a meal unless I have eaten a FRUIT.</li> <li>I don't feel I have had a meal unless I have eaten a VEGETABLE.</li> <li>I don't feel I have had a meal unless I have eaten a GRAIN (Grains include pasta, bread, rice, or cereal.)</li> <li>I don't feel I have had a meal unless I have eaten BEANS.</li> <li>I eat adequate amounts of FRUIT each day.</li> <li>I eat adequate amounts of VEGETABLES each day.</li> <li>I eat an adequate amount of GRAINS each day.</li> <li>It is important for me to buy FRUIT.</li> <li>It is important for me to buy VEGETABLES.</li> </ul>	A A A A Bree A Bree	Agree S S S S S S S	2 2 2 2 2 2 2 2 2 2 2 2 2 2 2 2 2 2 2	L L L L Strongly Disagree
<b>C y</b> ( 15. 16. 17. 18. 19. 20. 21. 22. 23. 24.	<ul> <li>ircle the number that shows how much bu agree with the following statements.</li> <li>I don't feel I have had a meal unless I have eaten a FRUIT.</li> <li>I don't feel I have had a meal unless I have eaten a VEGETABLE.</li> <li>I don't feel I have had a meal unless I have eaten a GRAIN (Grains include pasta, bread, rice, or cereal.)</li> <li>I don't feel I have had a meal unless I have eaten BEANS.</li> <li>I eat adequate amounts of FRUIT each day.</li> <li>I eat adequate amounts of VEGETABLES each day.</li> <li>I eat an adequate amount of GRAINS each day.</li> <li>It is important for me to buy FRUIT.</li> <li>It is important for me to buy VEGETABLES.</li> <li>It is important for me to buy GRAINS.</li> </ul>	A A A A A B G C G A A A C C A A A A A A A A A A A A	Agree S S S S S S S S S S S S S S S S S S	2 2 2 2 2 2 2 2 2 2 2 2 2 2 2 2 2 2 2	L L L L L Strongly Disagree

#### Preferred Interventions

26. Consider the following ways of reaching you with nutrition advice. Which source of nutrition information would you MOST likely use? (Circle one.)
1 Television

- 2 Magazine ads 3 Brochures
- 4 Newsletters
- 5 Internet
- 6 Personal one-on-one counseling

- 27. What type of nutrition information would help you make better food choices? (Circle all that apply.)
  - 1 Recipes
  - 2 Suggested ways to prepare food
  - 3 Information about the vitamin content of foods
  - 4 How many servings to eat
  - 5 Serving size information
  - 6 Information on low cost items that are good for my health

28. What type of nutrition or health information would you find MOST helpful? (Circle one.)

- 1 Specific health risks of poor nutrition
- 2 How many people are affected by poor food intake
- 3 How nutrition affects the way I will feel today
- 4 How nutrition affects the way I will feel in the future
- 5 How food choices affect my weight
- 6 How nutrition affects my child's health
- 7 Information about the health benefits of food
- 29. If you knew that your food choices affected your chance of developing heart disease or having a baby with a birth defect, which would MOST influence you to change your diet? (Circle one.)
  - 1 Baby with a birth defect
  - 2 Heart disease
  - 3 Knowing about these conditions wouldn't change my diet

#### Vitamin Supplement Information

30. During the past year, have you taken any vitamin or mineral supplements? (Circle one.)

- 1 No
- 2 Yes, fairly regularly
- 3 Yes, but not regularly

31. If yes, circle the supplements that you take. (Circle all that apply)

- A Multivitamin
- B B Complex
- C Folic Acid
- D Other, specify \_

When I think about taking a vitamin/mineral supplement, I think	Strongl Agree	Agree	Disagre	Strongl Disagre
32. I need to take supplements because I don't get what I need from food.	4	3	2	1
33. It is hard for me to remember to take a supplement.	4	3	2	1
34. I will feel better.	4	3	2	1
35. I can't afford to buy supplements.	4	3	2	1
36. I will feel sick or nauseated.	. 4	3	2	1
37. It is hard for me to decide which supplement to take.	4	3	2	1
38. Supplements are good for my health.	4	3	2	1
39. It is difficult to swallow pills.	4	3	2	1
40. Supplements give me energy.	4	3	2	1

~

<u>~</u> e

#### Now, please tell us about you...

41. ft\_\_\_\_\_ in Current height in feet and inches

42. Current weight in pounds

43.\_\_\_\_ Age in years

44. How satisfied are you with your current weight? (Circle one)

- 1 Very satisfied
- 2 Satisfied
- 3 Unsatisfied
- 4 Very unsatisfied

#### 45. Do you exercise?

- 1 No (please go to question 48)
- 2 Yes

46. If yes, what kind of exercise? (Circle all that apply.)

1 Walk 2 Run or jog

- 3 Aerobics
- 47. How often do you exercise? (Circle one)
  - 1 Daily
  - 2 Two or three times a week
  - 3 Once a week
  - 4 One to three times a month
  - 5 Rarely or never

48. Are you currently pregnant?

- 1 No
- 2 Yes

49. Do you use birth control pills?

- 1 No
- 2 Yes

50. Which of the following best describes your eating habits? (Circle all that apply.)

- 1 Normal/General (not restricted in any way)
- 2 Weight loss 3 Weight gain 4 Diabetic

- 5 Vegetarian
- \_\_\_\_\_(For example: Low Fat/Low Cholesterol; Low Salt/Low Sodium; High Fiber) 6 Other, specify\_\_\_\_
- 51. Do you smoke?
  - 1 No
  - 2 Yes

52. What is your marital status? (Circle one)

- 1 Never married
- 2 Married/Living as married
- 3 Separated
- 4 Divorced
- 5 Widowed

- 4 Lift weights
- 5 Swim
- 6 Other: \_

#### 53. List the people who live in your household. Relationship

		Relationship	<u>Age</u>	
	for	example, son	<u>15 ye</u>	ears
				<u>.                                </u>
	<u> </u>			
				, <u>, ,</u> -
54. \	What	t is the highest level of education that you have co	mple	ted? (Circle one)
	1	Elementary School (grades 1-5)		
	2	Middle School or Junior High (grades 6-8)		
	3	Some High School		
	4	High School Graduate/GED		
	6	Technical School or Associates Degree		
	7	Bachelor's Degree		
	8	Graduate School		
55	Whic	h of the following describes your current student s	tatus	(Circle one)
00.	1	Full-time student		
	2	Part-time student		
	3	Not a student		
56.	Whic	h of the following describes your current work stat	us?	(Circle one)
	1	Employed full-time		
	2	Employed part-time		
	3	Homemaker		
	4	chemployed		
57.	Wha	t is your race? (Circle one)		
	1	White		
	23	Black Asian/Pacific Islander		
	4	American Indian/Alaska Native		
	5	Other		
50	Aron	(ou of Hispanic origin? (Circle one)		
J0. I	1	Yes		
	2	No		
F0 1	1. 1/h : -			
09.	vvniC 1	Under \$10.000	e pas	\$25 000 - \$29 999
	2	\$10,000 - \$14,999	6	\$30,000 - \$34,999
	3	\$15,000 - \$19,999	7	\$35,000 - \$49,999
	4	\$20,000 - \$ 24,999	8	\$50,000 and over

60. How often are you unable to purchase food that you want because you do not have transportation? (Circle one.)

- 1 Often
- 2 Sometimes
- 3 Never

							and the second			
DIRECTIONS Give each food a score from 1 to 4 for each of the pairs. For example:	Broccoli	lceberg Lettuce Salad	Orange Juice	Ready- to-eat Cereal	Beans (like pinto beans)	White bread	Fried Potatoes	Milk	Banana	Pasta
If messy was (1) and not messy was (4), you might score the foods like this:	1	2	4	3	3	4	2	4	4	2
This food is quick & easy to prepare (4)										
It is DIFFICULT to prepare (1)										
I like the taste of this food (4)			1						······	
I DON'T like the taste (1)										
It is available in stores where I shop (4)										
It is NOT available in stores where I shop (1)										
I buy this food because people in my house want to eat it (4) I DON'T buy it because people in my house won't eat it (1)										
I eat it because it is good for my health (4)										
I DON'T think about whether this food is good for my health (1)					· ·					
I CAN'T afford to buy this food (4)	1									
I can afford to buy it (1)										
This food spoils too quickly (4)										
It DOESN'T spoil too quickly (1)										
This food makes me fat (4)										
It is NOT fattening (1)										
I have time to prepare this food (4)				1						
I DON'T have time to prepare (1)										
I eat this food all year (4)										
I only eat it CERTAIN TIMES of year (1)										
This food is filling (4)										
It is NOT filling (1)										
I grew up eating this food (4)	1				1					
I DIDN'T grow up eating this food (1)										

When you go to a store or restaurant, what do you think about each of these foods?

#### Food Frequency Questionnaire

The following section is about your usual eating habits. Think back over the past year. How often do you usually eat the foods listed?

First: Mark ( $\sqrt{}$ ) the column to show how often, on the average, you ate the food during the past year. Please BE CAREFUL which column you put your answer in. It will make a big difference if you say "Hamburger once a day" when you mean "Hamburger once a week"!

For example, if you eat bananas twice a week put a  $\sqrt{}$  in the "2 per week" column.

Mark ( $\sqrt{}$ ) whether your usual serving size is small, medium, or large.

Please DO NOT OMIT serving size.

Additional comments:

Second:

A small serving is about one-half the medium serving size shown, or less.

A large serving is about one-an-a-half times as much, or more.

Please DO NOT SKIP any foods. If you never eat a food, mark "Never or less than once a month."

TYPE OF FOOD	HOW OFTEN								<u>_, , ,</u>	HOW MUCH		
	Never or less than once per month	1 per month	2-3 per month	1 per week	2 per week	3-4 per week	5-6 per week	1 per day	2+ per day	Medium Serving	Your Servin Size S M	g I L
Example: Oranges				V						1 medium	V	
Bananas										1 medium		
Oranges	ą									1 medium		
Orange juice or grapefruit juice										6 ounce glass		
High fiber, bran or granola cereals, shredded wheat				-						1 medium bowł		
Highly fortified cereals, such as Total, Just Right or Product 19	¢									1 medium bowl		
Other cold cereals, such as corn flakes, Rice Krispies			-				-			1 medium bowl		
Cooked cereal, or grits										1 medium bowl	``	
Milk on cereal										1/2 cup		
Eggs										2 medium		
String beans, green beans									-	½ cup		

EXAMPLE: This person ate one medium orange about once per week.

TYPE OF FOOD				НС	OW OFTE	N				HOW	MUCH	1
	Never or less than once per month	1 per month	2-3 per month	1 per week	2 per week	3-4 per week	5-6 per week	1 per day	2+per day	Medium Serving	Your Servi Size S	ing M L
Peas										½ cup		
Other beans such as baked beans, pintos, kidney, limas, and lentils										¾ сир		
Com										½ cup		
Tomatoes, tomato juice										1 medium or 6 oz. glass		
Broccoli										½ cup		-
Cooked spinach										½ cup		
Green salad										1 medium bowl		
French fries and fried potatoes										¾ cup		
Rice										¾ cup		
Hamburgers, cheeseburge rs, meatloaf, beef burritos, tacos										1 med. or 4 ounces		
Liver, including chicken livers										4 ounces		
Spaghetti, lasagna, other pasta with tomato sauce										1 cup		
Pizza				1						2 slices		
Mixed dishes with cheese ( macaroni and cheese)										1 cup		
Biscuits, muffins, pancakes, waffles										1 medium piece		

TYPE OF FOOD				НС	W OFTEI	N				НОМ	MUCI	H	
	Never or less than once per month	1 per month	2-3 per month	1 per week	2 per week	3-4 per week	5-6 per week	1 per day	2+ per day	Medium Serving	Your Serv Size S	ring M	L
White bread (including sandwiches, bagels, burger rolls, French or Italian bread)										2 slices			
Dark bread, such as wheat, rye, pumpernicke I, (including sandwiches)						-				2 slices			
Corn bread, corn muffins, corn tortillas										1 medium piece			
Salty snacks, such as potato chips, corn chips, popcorn										2 handfuls or 1 cup			
Cottage cheese										½ cup			
Other cheeses and cheese spreads										2 slices or 2 ounces			
Doughnuts, cookies, cake, pastry	a)									1 piece or 3 cookies			

BEV	BEVERAGES (Please note that the categories for these columns are										t.)			
TYPE OF FOOD	TYPE OF HOW OFTEN FOOD										HOW MUCH			
	Never or less than once per month	1-3 per month	1 per week	2-4 per week	5-6 per week	1 per day	2-3 per day	4-5 per day	6+ per day	Medium Serving	Yoi Sei Siz S	ur rving e <u>M</u>	L	
Whole milk and beverages with whole milk (not on cereal)										8 oz. glass				
2% milk and beverages with 2% milk (not on cereal)										8 oz. glass				
Skim milk, 1% milk or buttermilk (not on cereal)										8 oz. glass				
Tea (hot or iced)										1 medium cup				

## **APPENDIX C**

#### **IRB** Approval Study 2

#### Oklahoma State University Institutional Review Board

Protocol Expires: 11/1/02

Date: Friday, November 02, 2001

IR8 Application No HE0221

Proposal Title: PREVENTING NEURAL TUBE DEFECTS WITH IMPROVED DIETS

Principal Investigator(s):

Marisela Contreras 425 HES Stillwater, OK 74078 Gail Gates 425 HES Stillwater, OK 74078

Reviewed and Processed as: Expedited

Approval Status Recommended by Reviewer(s): Approved

#### Dear P1:

Your IRB application referenced above has been approved for one calendar year. Please make note of the expiration date indicated above. It is the judgment of the reviewers that the rights and welfare of individuals who may be asked to participate in this study will be respected, and that the research will be conducted in a manner consistent with the IRB requirements as outlined in section 45 CFR 46.

As Principal Investigator, it is your responsibility to do the following:

- Conduct this study exactly as it has been approved. Any modifications to the research protocol must be submitted with the appropriate signatures for IRB approval.
- 2. Submit a request for continuation if the study extends beyond the approval period of one calendar year. This continuation must receive IRB review and approval before the research can continue.
- 3. Report any adverse events to the IRB Chair promptly. Adverse events are those which are unanticipated and impact the subjects during the course of this research; and
- 4. Notify the IRB office in writing when your research project is complete.

Please note that approved projects are subject to monitoring by the IRB. If you have questions about the IRB procedures or need any assistance from the Board, please contact Sharon Bacher, the Executive Secretary to the IRB, in 203 Whitehurst (phone: 405-744-5700, sbacher@okstate.edu).

Sincerely,

p Olson

Carol Olson, Chair Institutional Review Board







# APPENDIX D

Flyer

# Women Needed For Oklahoma State University Research Project

Would you like to participate on a research project to enhance your diet?

# If so, you will receive 2-month cereal supply, diet report and laboratory test results.

If you are a woman between the ages of 18 and 44, you can participate in research about food choices conducted at Oklahoma State University. To participate, you cannot be pregnant or have a disease that affects what you eat. We also want to

Refreshments will be served after the interview. You will also receive nutrient information about the foods you eat.

The information that you give us will be confidential. This study has been approved by the Institutional Review Board for Protection of Human Subjects at Oklahoma State University.

Thank you for interest. For more information or to volunteer for the project, please call someone below.

Gail E. Gates, Ph.D., RD Principal Investigator Department of Nutritional Sciences Oklahoma State University (405) 744-5032 Marisela Contreras Research Associate

# **APPENDIX E**

# Newspaper Advertisement

# WOULD YOU LIKE TO IMPROVE YOUR DIET?

Women 18-44 needed to participate in a research project at OSU. You will receive 2month cereal supply, blood and diet analysis. You are not eligible if you take multivitamins. Please call 744-5032. Nutritional Sciences.

# APPENDIX F

# **Screening Questions**

•

Nar	ne:	Age:		Ph	Phone #			
1.	Do you live in the dorms or s	orority house?		Yes	1	No ⊡		
2.	Do you have a medical condi	tion that requires a specia	l diet?	Yes 🗆	1	No 🗆		
3.	Are you currently pregnant o	r trying to get pregnant?		Yes 🗋	1	No □		
4.	Have you had a period during	g the past 30 days?		Yes 🗆	1	No 🗆		
5.	Do you use birth control pills	?		Yes 🗆	1	No 🗆		
6.	Are you taking any (other) m If yes,	edications? Methrotrexate Anticonvulsants Bile Acid Sequestrant	Yes □ Yes □ Yes □ Yes □		No 🗆 No 🗆 No 🗆 No 🗆			
7.	Are you taking supplements? If yes, What kind?		Yes 🗆		No 🗆			
8.	Do you eat cereal? If yes, How often? What kind?		Yes 🗆		No 🗆			
9.	If we provide the cereal, will Yes □	you be willing to consum No □	e one cup o	f cereal pe	r day for	two months?		
10.	Do you drink alcoholic beven If yes, how many drinks	ages? in a typical week?	Yes 🗆		No 🗆			
11.	Are you willing to have your	blood drawn 3 times over	r a 4-month	period?	Yes □	No 🗆		
12.	Will you be willing to partici Yes 🗆	pate in a brief meeting ev No 🗆	ery one or t	wo weeks	over a pei	iod of 4 months?		
13.	Are you currently participation	ng in any other research st	udy? Ye	es 🗆	l	No 🗆		

# **APPENDIX G**

# Daily Monitoring Log \_\_\_\_\_Subject # \_\_\_\_\_

Week

Monday	Tuesday	Wednesday	Thursday	Friday	Saturday	Sunday
Date	Date	Date	Date	Date	Date	Date
I ate provided cereal todayyes	f ate provided ccreal todayyes	I ate provided cereal todayyes	I ate provided cercal todayyes	I ate provided cereal todayyes	I ate provided cereal todayyes	l atc provided cereal todayyes
If not, I ate the following folate containing foods instead	If not, I ate the following folate containing foods instead	If not, I ate the following folate containing foods instead	If not, I ate the following folate containing foods instead	If not, I ate the following folate containing foods instead	If not, I ate the following folate containing foods instead	If not, I ate the following folate containing foods instead
Food Points	Food Points	Food Points	Food Points	Food Points	Food Points	Food Points
				······································		
TOTAL points	TOTAL points	TOTAL points	TOTAL points	TOTAL points	TOTAL points	TOTAL points

162

Name \_\_\_\_\_

# APPENDIX H



Nutrition Facts Serving Size 30g = approx. 3/4 cup Servings per container about 12

unount For Sorving	Cornel 3	nai w/1/2 cuy Guna Milik
alories	80	130
Calories from Fat	10	10
	% Delt	y Value**
lotal Fat 1g*	2%	2%
Saturated Fat Og	0%	0%
Chelesterol Omg	0%	1%
Sodium 70mg	3%	6%
Total Carbohydrates 24	9 8%	10%
Dietary Fiber 8g	32%	32%
Sugars 6g	-	
Proteia 3g		
the site A	00	EN
Vitamin A	0%	2%
Vitamin C	0%	2%
Caldum	0%	15%
Iron	2%	4%
"Amount in Cenasi: One hall cup is acumonal 40 calones. 2mg cholesi carbohydrates (5g sugars), and 4g ""Percents (%) of a Daly Value are dict. You: Dally Values may very he your calone needs.	em mak con prole 65mg prolein. based on a pher or iowe	anbutas an aodium, 6g to 2,000 calorie r cecending o

1000	Calores	2.000	2,500
Total Fet	Less Inan	65g	80g
Salurated Fat	Less than	200	25g
Chokesterci	Less than	300mg	300mg
Sodium	Less man	2.400mg	2.400mg
Total Carbonydrat	<b>K</b> 5	3000	3750
Dietary Fiber	19716	250	300
Calories per 6:an			

Fat 9 • Carbohydrate 4 • Protein 4

INGREDIENTS: Kashi Seven Whole Grains and Sesame Flour (Stone Ground Whole Oats, Long Grain Brown Rice. Rye, Hard Red Winter Wheat. Triticale, Buckwheat, Baney, Sesame Seeds), Wheat Bran, Com, Evaporated Cane Julice, Corn Bran, Oat Fiber, Whey, Honey, Mixed Fruit Julice Concentrate (Pineapole, Pear, Peach), Soy Protein Concentrate, Crispy Brown Rice (Brown Rice, Malt Syrup), Wheat Gluten, Soyboan Oir, Salt.

#### Diabetic Exchange

Per 3/4 cup (30g) serving = 1-1/2 starch/bread

#### SUPPORT THE U.S. FARMER

Please write to your good friends at Kashi. For a free recipe booklet, coupon and information on other Kashi products, send a self-addressed stamped envelope to:

# Kashi Company P.O. Box 8557 La Jolla CA 92038-8667

Kashi Good Friends

# **APPENDIX I**

			Nutrition Facts
			Serving Size 1 Cup (Sog 1.802.) Servings per Container About 8
			Coreal with
			Amount Vitamins A&D
			Calories 190 220
			Calones from Fat 5 5
			Total Fat 0.50' 1% 1%
			Seturated Fat Og 0% 0%
			Cholesterel Ong 0% 0%
			Petassium 100mg 3% 9%
			Total
			Distary Fiber 20 9% 9% Sugars 15g
			Other Carbohydrate 26g
			Protein 3g
State of the local division in the		Concession in the local division in the loca	Vitamin A 15% 20%
Black alt		-	Vitamin C 25% 25%
NUTRITIO	n ra	CISI	iran 100% 100%
Serving Size 1 cup (30g)			Vitamin D 10% 25%
Servings Per Container At	out 15		Vitamin E 100% 100%
			Ribollavin 100% 100%
Amount Per Bendes	MultiQuein	with 1/2 outp	, Niacin 100% 100%
Calorina	110	150	Vitamin Be 100% 100%
Calories from Fet	10	10	Folic Acid 100% 100%
Caborios norminat	10	10	Pantolhenate 100% 100%
Tetal Bat tat	* 0	any water	Phosphorus 10% 20%
Fortan Part 1g	2%	2%	Magnesium 8% 10%
Saturated Fat 0g	070	070	Zinc 100% 100%
Monoursaturated Fat Og			"Amount in carea. One hall cup of bit tree milk op
Monounsaturated Pat of		40/	Fibutes an additional 40 calories, 65mg socum, lotel carbohydrails (60 succars), and 40 protein
Cholerterol Umg	0%	196	"Percent Daily Values are based on a 2,000 calo
Sector 200mg	8%	11%	del. Your carry values may be higher or lower bepe- ing on your calorie needs
Pouseeium comg	270	670	Calories 2,000 2,500
Distory Elber 24	9 8%	10%	Sat. Fal Less man 200 250
Charley Filler Sy	1170	1170	Sook- Less than 2.400mg 2.400mg
Other Certohudrate 150			Total Carbonycrate 300g 375g
Protein 30			Calores per gram Fel 9 - Carbohydrate 4 - Protein
	Contraction of		
Vitamin A	10%	15%	al clustere (sugar, toasted oats (roled oa
Vitamin C	25%	25%	honey, brown sugar, soy or], rolled wheel, on
Calcium	10%	25%	honey, cinnamon artificial vanille flavor, B
Iron	100%	100%	(preservative)), salt, high fructose corn syn
Vitamin D	10%	25%	pnerol acesate (vitamin E), natural and artific
Vitamin E	100%	100%	vanika flavot, niacinarhide, zino oude, soda ascorbate and ascorbic acid (vitamin C) calci
Thiamin	100%	100%	paniothenate, yellow #5, pyndoxine hydroch
Riboflavin	100%	110%	hydrochioride (vitamin B <sub>2</sub> ), this: hydrochioride (vitamin B <sub>2</sub> ), BHT (preservation
Niacin	100%	100%	vitamin A palmitate, foic acid, vitamin Big a
Vitamin B.	100%	100%	And the second s
Folic Acid	100%	100%	AND SOYBEAN INGREDIENTS
Vitamin B <sub>12</sub>	100%	110%	MADE BY KELLOGG USA INC.
Pantothenic Acid	100%	100%	BATTLE CHEEK, MI 49016 U.S.A. TM, &KELLOGG COMPANY
Phosphorus	10%	25%	C2000 KELLOGG COMPANY TMC19978LOC36USC220506
Magnesium	6%	10%	Exchange: 3 Cartohydrxles
Linc	100%	100%	The destary exchanges are based on the Exchange L for Meet Papining, \$1995 by The American Diab
Copper	2%	2%	Association fric, and The American Distetic Association
Amount in Cereal. A serving of c 1.5g total fat, less than 5mo cho	ereal plus elum m lestarol, 270mn er	odum, 290mg	Adopt COMMITMENT
potaesium, 30g total carbohydra	nte (120 sugara) er	nd 7g protein.	We are committed to providing you an
"Percent Delly Values are based of	on a 2.000 calorie	diet	your terniny with nutritious products for healthier life. We value your comment
caloris needs:	or lower depende	a chi your	Please contact us using one of the following options:
Calonee:	2,000	2.500	1-200-362-1113
Total Fat Less than Sat Fat	669	800	ANN PART HEARD
Cholesterol Less the	a 300mg	300mg	F4 CHIMICHE HERUSALS COM
Sodium Less the	1 2,400mg	2,400mg	Leiken Conserve
Total Carbohydrate	300g	3759	PO Box CALIR
Dietary Fiber	250	300	Place have noticed and the state
	0.000	1 A A	Presse nere persege mereore ener calling

# **Multi-Grain Cherrios**

# **Smart Starts**

#### APPENDIX J

#### **Consent form**

#### Consent to Participate in Research

### Preventing Neural Tube Defects with Improved Diets

I \_\_\_\_\_\_, voluntarily agree to participate in the research project "Preventing Neural Tube Defects with Improved Diets". The College of Human Environmental Sciences at Oklahoma State University and the Oklahoma Agricultural Experiment Station sponsor this research. I understand that:

- (1) The purpose of the study is to assess the effectiveness of nutrition education for increasing folate intake in young women.
- (2) I will complete a food frequency questionnaire that will ask me to recall my typical food choices. It will take about 10 minutes to complete and I will fill the questionnaire at the beginning and at the end of the study;
- (3) I will record my daily food intake for four days at three 3 different times during the study. The first time will be during my initial visit, the second time prior week 8, and the last time before my last visit at week 16. It will take me about 15 minutes each day to record my food intake. I will be given measuring cups, spoons, and bean bag measures to assist me in recording my food intake.
- (4) I will be asked to recall my food intake for 24-hour period at three times during the study. The first time will be during my initial visit, the next two times I will be telephoned at times unknown to me. Each recall will last about 20 minutes.
- (5) I will be asked to give a blood sample three times during the study.
  - (a) A licensed phlebotomist or another trained medical staff will draw fasting blood samples of 8 mL (about 2 teaspoons) from my arm at three different times during the study (first visit, 8 weeks, and 16 weeks) for a total of 6 teaspoons. Minimal risk (slight discoloration or discomfort) may result from the venipuncture.
  - (b) My blood will be used only for analysis that assess nutritional status included but not limited to folate, homocysteine, vitamin B12, hemoglobin, and mean corpuscular volume.
  - (c) Should sufficient sample remain other test that may be performed including plasma and erythrocyte mineral concentrations and erythrocyte enzyme activities.
  - (d) After these tests are performed the remaining blood will be incinerated and in no circumstances will perpetual cell lines be developed or maintained.
- (6) I will be asked to consume one cup of cereal per day during a 8-week period. The researchers will provide cereal.
- (7) All records are confidential. My name will not be used in any reports or data records at the end of the study. All information obtained about me, as an individual will be considered privileged and held in confidence.

- (a) Food records, 24-hour recall, and food frequency questionnaire will be reviewed and analyzed by principal investigator or her authorized representatives. Records will be filed in the principal investigator office until the end of the study when they will be destroyed.
- (8) I volunteer to take part in this study.
  - (a) I have the right to withdraw from this study at any time by contacting the researchers.
  - (b) I may stop participating in the study at any time without penalty or loss of benefits that I am otherwise entitled to receive.
  - (c) This consent form is not a waiver or release of my legal rights.
- (9) This research is beneficial in that it provides information about the effects of nutrition education on food habits of women; and the information gained from this study may provide information useful in helping women choose nutritionally adequate diets;
- (10) I will receive an analysis of my dietary intake and a report of my blood test results.
- (11) If I need more facts about the study I may contact Dr. Gail Gates at (405) 744-5032 or Marisela Contreras at (405) 744-5040. I may also contact Sharon Bacher at the office of University Research Services, 305 Whitehurst, Oklahoma State University, Stillwater, OK 74078 at (405) 744-5700.

I have read and fully understand the consent form. I sign freely and voluntarily. A copy has been given to me.

Date	Time
Subject Name (please print)	
Signed	у - <u></u>
Permanent Address	

I certify that I have personally explained all parts of this form to the subject before requesting the subject to sign it.

Signed\_

(project director or her authorized representative)

Printed name

(project director or her authorized representative)

#### **APPENDIX K**

#### **Demographic Information**

During the past year, have you taken any vitamin or mineral supplements? (circle number)

1.

1 NO 2 Yes, fairly regularly 3 Yes, but not fairly regularly 2. If yes, circle the supplement that best describes what you take. (circle number) Multivitamin 1 2 Vitamin C 3 Vitamin E 4 Folic Acid Other, specify\_\_\_\_\_ 5 \_\_\_\_\_ft \_\_\_\_\_in Current height in feet and inches 3. 4. Current weight in pounds 5. Age in years 6. How satisfied are you with your current weight? (Circle number) 1 VERY SATISFIED 2 SATISFIED 3 UNSATISFIED 4 VERY UNSATISFIED 7. Which of the following describes your current diet? (Circle number) Normal/General 6 High Fiber 1 Weight reduction 7 Diabetic 2 3 Weight gaining 8 Vegetarian Low fat/Low cholesterol 9 Other, specify \_\_\_\_\_ 4 5 Low salt/Low sodium 8. List the people who lives in your household. Relationship Age 9. Which of the following describes your current student status? (Circle number) 1 Full-time student 2 Part-time student 3 Not a student

- 10. What is the highest level of education that you have <u>completed</u>? (Circle number)
  - 1 Elementary School (grades 1-6)
  - 2 Some High School
  - 3 High School Graduate /GED
  - 4 Some Technical School/Some College
  - 5 Technical School Degree
  - 6 College Graduate
  - 7 Graduate School
- 11. Which of the following describes your current work status? (Circle number)
  - 1 Employed full-time
  - 2 Employed part
  - 3 Homemaker
  - 4 Unemployed
- 12. What is your race? (Circle number)
  - 5 White
  - 6 Black
  - 7 Asian/Pacific Islander
  - 8 American Indian/Alaska Native
  - 9 Other
- 13. Are you of Hispanic Origin? (Circle number)
  - 1 Yes
  - 2 NO

14. Which represents your income from all sources over the past year? (Circle number)

1	Under \$10,000	5	\$25,000 - \$29,000
2	\$10,000 - 14,999	6	\$30,000 - 34,999
3	\$15,000 - 19,999	7	\$35,000 - 49,999
4	\$20,000 - 24,999	8	\$50,000 and over

- 15. Which of the categories comes closest to describing the paid work that you do?
  - 1 Professional or Technical
  - 2 Manager, officer or proprietor
  - 3 Clerical or sales worker
  - 4 Service worker or other similar job
  - 5 Other, specify\_\_\_\_\_

### **APPENDIX L**

#### **Food Frequency Questionnaire**

The following section is about your usual eating habits. Think back over the past year. How often do you usually eat the foods listed?

First:

Second:

Mark ( $\sqrt{3}$ ) the column to show how often, on the average, you ate the food during the past year. Please BE CAREFUL which column you put your answer in. It will make a big difference if you say "Hamburger once a day" when you mean "Hamburger once a week"! For example, if you eat bananas twice a week put a  $\sqrt{3}$  in the "2 per week" column. Mark ( $\sqrt{3}$ ) whether your usual serving size is small, medium, or large.

Please DO NOT OMIT serving size.

Additional comments:

A small serving is about one-half the medium serving size shown, or less.

A large serving is about one-an-a-half times as much, or more.

Please DO NOT SKIP any foods. If you never eat a food, mark "Never or less than once a month."

TYPE OF FOOD	HOW OFTEN								HOW MUCH				
	Never or less than once per month	1 per month	2-3 per month	1 per week	2 per week	3-4 per week	5-6 per week	1 per day	2+ per day	Medium Serving	You Ser Sizi S	ur ving e M	L
Example: Oranges				V						1 medium		$\checkmark$	
Bananas										1 medium			
Oranges										1 medium			
Orange juice or grapefruit juice										6 ounce glass			
High fiber, bran or granola cereals, shredded wheat										1 medium bowl			
Highly fortified cereals, such as Total, Just Right or Product 19										1 medium bowl			
Other cold cereals, such as corn flakes, Rice Krispies										1 medium bowl			
Cooked cereal, or grits										1 medium bowl			
Milk on cereal						· ·				1/2 cup			
Eggs										2 medium			
String beans, green beans										½ cup			

EXAMPLE: This person ate one medium orange about once per week.

TYPE OF FOOD	HOW OFTEN								HOW MUCH			
	Never or less than once per month	1 per month	2-3 per month	1 per week	2 per week	3-4 per week	5-6 per week	1 per day	2+ per day	Medium Serving	Yo Se Siz S	ur rving e M
Peas										½ cup		
Other beans such as baked beans, pintos, kidney, limas, and lentils										¾ cup		
Com										½ cup		
Tomatoes, tomato juice										1 medium or 6 oz. olass		
Broccoli	· ···· · · · · · · · · · · · · ·									½ cup		
Cooked spinach										½ cup		
Green salad										1 medium bowl		
French fries and fried potatoes										¾ cup		
Rice										¾ cup		
Hamburgers, cheeseburge rs, meatloaf, beef burritos, tacos										1 med. or 4 ounces		
Liver, including chicken livers										4 ounces		
Spaghetti, lasagna, other pasta with tomato sauce										1 cup		
Pizza										2 slices		
Mixed dishes with cheese ( macaroni and cheese)										1 cup		
Biscuits, muffins, pancakes, waffles										1 medium piece		

TYPE OF FOOD	HOW OFTEN									HOW MUCH			
	Never or less than once per month	1 per month	2-3 per month	1 per week	2 per week	3-4 per week	5-6 per week	1 per day	2+per day	Medium Serving	You Ser Size S	ur ving e M	L
White bread (including sandwiches, bagels, burger rolls, French or Italian bread)										2 slices			
Dark bread, such as wheat, rye, pumpernicke I, (including sandwiches)										2 slices			
Corn bread, corn muffins, corn tortillas										1 medium piece			
Salty snacks, such as potato chips, corn chips, popcorn										2 handfuls or 1 cup			
Cottage cheese										½ cup			
Other cheeses and cheese spreads										2 slices or 2 ounces			
Doughnuts, cookies, cake, pastry										1 piece or 3 cookies			

BEV	BEVERAGES (Please note that the categories for these columns are different.)														
TYPE OF FOOD	HOW OFTEN										HOW MUCH				
	Never or less than once per month	1-3 per month	1 per week	2-4 per week	5-6 per week	1 per day	2-3 per day	4-5 per day	6+ per day	Medium Serving	Yo Se Siz S	ur rving :e M	L		
Whole milk and beverages with whole milk (not on cereal)										8 oz. glass					
2% milk and beverages with 2% milk (not on cereal)										8 oz. głass					
Skim milk, 1% milk or buttermilk (not on cereal)										8 oz. glass					
Tea (hot or iced)										1 medium cup					

# APPENDIX M

# 24-Hour Recall

×			. •	
10	ien	i fiti	Catio	n #
11	1011		caulo	

Name\_\_\_\_\_

Date\_\_\_\_\_

M=morningAN=afternoonMM=midmorningE=eveningN=noonLE=late evening

Time of day	Food Item and Method of Preparation	Amount Eaten
3 		
-		
		· · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · ·
#### APPENDIX N

### Food Diary



Nutritional Sciences Department 425 Human Environmental Sciences Stillwater Oklahoma 74078-6141 Phone: (405)744-5040, Fax: (405)744-7113 E-mail: ggates@okstate.edu, contrer@okstate.edu

Dear participant,

Thank you for participating in this very important study. Everything that goes into your body is important to your health. For this reason, we would like for you to write down everything that you eat and drink during the next four days. We hope this study will help us make recommendations for improving your health based on what you eat. If you have any questions at any time, feel free to ask. This is very important since we must know exactly what you usually eat.

Thank you !

Gail E. Gates, Ph.D., RD Principal Investigator Marisela Contreras, MS, MD Research Associate

Day 4 Date	Day of the week		
<u>Time/Where</u>	Food Item/ Preparation	<u>Amount</u>	

Time/Where	Food Item/ Preparation	Amount	
			٦
	· · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · ·		
			4
			-
·			-
<u> </u>			-
			4
· <u>··</u> ·································			1
			-
			-

Example Date Day of the week			
Time/Where	Food Item/ Preparation	Amount	
8 am	Total corn flakes	1 cup	
Home	2 % milk	1/2 cup	
	Grapefruit	1/2 large	
	Sugar	1 tbsp.	
	Coffee, decaf, black	2 cups	
12 pm	Cheese pizza (Pizza Hut)	2 slices (10" pie)	
Restaurant	Lettuce salad	2 cups	
	Cherry tomatoes	2	
	Ranch dressing, fat free	2 tbsp.	
	Diet coke	16 oz	
7 pm	Green beans, canned	1/2 cup	
Home	Skinless chicken breast, grilled	4 oz	
· · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · ·	Mashed potatoes prepared with 2 % milk	1 cup	
	Margarine	1 1/2 tsp	
	Iced tea, unsweetened	20 oz	
	Whole wheat roll	1 small	

177

Day 1 Da	te Day of the wee	k	Day 2	Date	Day of the week	
Time/Where	Food Item/ Preparation	Amount	Time/Wh	ere	Food Item/ Preparation	Amount
hall						
					-	
	· · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · ·		-			
·						
· ·			-			
					- 	
					·	
L			] [			

#### APPENDIX O

#### **Food Guide Pyramid**



an en e sul ersendelt i		
ood Group	Suggested Delly Servings	What Counts as a Serving
iread, Cereal, Rice,	6 to 11 servings from entire group (include several servings of whole-orain products daily.)	1 slice of bread
A starting to		1/2 hamburger bun or english mulfin
inniched		a small roll, biscult, or multin
	2	5 to 6 small or 3 to 4 large crackers
		1/2 cup cooked cereal, rice, or pasta
		1 ounce ready-to-set censel
		,
Fruits	2 to 4 servings from entire group	a whole fruit such as a medium apple, banana,
Citrus, melan, berries		
Other Irula		a grapemut hat
	æ	s maion wedge
		3/4 cup juice
		1/2 cup berries
	⊊.	1/2 cup chopped, cooked, or canned inult
		1/4 cup dried fruit
Vegetables	3 to 5 servings	1/2 cup cooked vegetebles
Derti-creen lasty	(Include all types regularly; use dark-green leafy vegetables and dry beens and pees several times	1/2 cup chopped raw vegetables
Deep-yellow	a week.)	1 cm last rev wastebles with as laters
(legumes)		or spinach
Starchy Other vegetables	*	3/4 cup vegetable juice
		· · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · ·
Meats, Poultry, Fish.	2 to 3 servings from entire group	Amounts should total 5 to 7 ounces of cooked
Dry Beans and Peas,		teen meet, pouliry without skin, or fish a day. Count
ruga, and reus		peanut buller as 1 cunce of meet.
**		
Milk, Yogurt, Cheese	2 servings	1 cup milk
	(3 servings for women who are pregnant . or breastfeeding, senagers, and young adults	
	to age 24.)	1.1/2 ources named change
1	*	
		c minuté fancaise curatés
	····	1. 1. 1. 1. 1. 1. 1. 1. 1. 1. 1. 1. 1. 1
Fats, Sweets, and	Use fats and sweets sparingly.	
Alcoholis Beverages	If you drink alcoholic beverages, do so in moderation.	*
		A construction of the second s
	*	
Note: The guide to delly foo	of choices described here was developed for Americane who r	equilerly est foods from all the major load groups listed.
some people such as vegala for help in planning food ch	arians and others may not eat one or more of these types of to wices.	ocs. These people may wish to contact a diecklan or nutrition
1.0		
SICHON 2	USING THE FOOD GUIDE BYRANID	
	Sound the root doibe rikkmin	

FOODS	SERVING SIZE	FOLATE POINTS
FAST FOODS		
Beef and bean burrito	t each.	2
Hamburger or cheeseburger on bun	4 oz. meat	2
Ham and cheese on bun (Arby's)	1 each.	3
Roast beef on tun	1 each.	2
Chicken filet sandwich on bun	1 each.	4
Submarine sandwich	6 inch	3
Pizza	1 slice	1
Taco	1 each.	2

#### FOLATE

Folate or folic acid is a B vitamin that you should consume if you are in childbearing age.

Folic acid is important because it prevents birth defects in babies.

Folate intake may also help prevent heart disease.

This vitamin is found in green leafy vegetables, fortified cereals, grain products, and liver.

Women should consume 400µg of Folic Acid each day.

#### YOUR PERSONAL FOLATE CHOICES

These are the foods that contain folate that you eat most often. You may use this list to meet your daily requirement of (400  $\mu$ g) of folate. To do that, please choose a total of ten (10) points per day (each point equals approximately 40  $\mu$ g). The corresponding serving size is listed.



APPENDIX P

Good Sources of Folate from the Food Frequency Questionnaire

#### Thanks!!!

FOODS	SERVING SIZE	FOLATE	FOODS	SERVING SIZE	FOLATE POINTS
GRAIN FOODS			VEGETABLES		
Cereals			Com, cream style, whole kernel	1/2 cup	1
High fiber, shredded, granola cereal	check box for serving size	4	Corn on the coli	1 ear	1
Super fortified cereal (i.e. Total,	check box for serving size	10	Tomato juice	1/2 cup or 6 oz.	1
Multigrain Cheerios, Smart Start,			Broccoli, Cauliflower, cooked	1/2 cup	1
Harmony, Mueslix)			Endive, romaine lettuce	1 cup	2
Fortified cereal (i.e. Cheerios, Com	check box for serving size		Chicory lettuce	1 сцр	5
Hakes, Kaisin Branj	000/ D-3-1/-1		Spaghetti sauce, canned	1 cup	1
	20% Diaty Value	2.5	French Fries	1 med, serving	0.5
	50% Dally Value	3			
		4			
One	5075 Daily Value	5	MEAT, FISH, POULTRY		
Cream of wheal, instant	% cup	5	Egg, hard cooked	2	1
Catrieal, instant	1 pkt.	3			
Rice, instani, white	3/4 cup	2	BEANS, PEAS, LENTILS, NUTS		
Rice, wild	3/4 cup	1	Peas: green or vellow	1/2 cup	- <u> </u>
Pasta (spaghetti), egg nocdles,	1 cup	2	Chill with beans, canned	3/4 cun	1
Tracaroni Demokra wetter	A market in the second s	4	Black navy white kidney or ninto	3/4 cup	5
Pancakes, Warnes		1	beans	o, i vop	Ū
Biscult, Mumin, English mumin		1	Lentils, cooked	3/4 cup	7
Bread; white, rolls, merich, italian	2 SHCOS	2	Lima beans	3/4 cun	2
Sagel	1 med. "(procery)	2	Three bean salad	1/2 cup	3
Jank bread (wheat, rye)	2 sices	1	Baked beans, canned	3/4 cup	2
Com bread, com mumin, com tortilla	1 med.	2	Chickpeas (parbonzo beans)	3/4 сию	- 3
POTTINA, TIOUF	10-	4	Split peas	1/2 cup	2
Joughnuts, glazed	1 targe	1	Black-eved peas (cowpeas)	1/2 cup	2
Cookies, animal crackers	2 oz. Dox	2	(outpour)		E.
<ul> <li>vanila waters</li> </ul>	10 ea.	1			
graham crackers	2 rectangles (8 crackers)	1			
lies, fruit, pecan, cake	1/6 of pie (med. Slice)	1			
RUIT					
Crange	1 ea.	1			
Stange juice	5 oz.	1			

## APPENDIX Q

# Folic Acid Pamphlet



Folic Acid

Folate Research Project Oklahoma State University Nutritional Science Department

Marisela Contreras, MS, MD. E-mail: contrer@okstate.edu

Gail Gates, PhD, RD/LD. E-mail: ggates@okstate.edu

#### What is folic acid?

Folic acid is a B vitamin that you should consume if you are in childbearing age.

#### How much do I need?

You should consume 400µg of folic acid per day.

#### Why is folic acid important?

Folic acid is important because it prevents birth defects of the brain and spinal cord in the baby.

But you need a good folate status before you get pregnant and in the first few weeks of your pregnancy.

A baby needs folic acid right after it's conceived, before you even know you are pregnant. Folic acid helps develop properly the brain and spinal cord of the baby.

#### What are neural tube defects?

About 2,500 babies are born with neural tube defects each year. They include spina bifida, which could mean the baby would never be able to walk; and anencephaly, which means the baby's brain and skull don't develop completely and the baby dies.

Research shows that if women consume enough folic acid every day throughout their childbearing years, up to 70% of these birth defects could be prevented.

The key is to take enough folic acid **before** getting pregnant.

Folic acid is also good for your general health. Some studies suggest it may help prevent heart disease, and colon and cervical cancers.

#### How can I get it?

Eating a healthy diet that includes foods rich in folic acid like:

- green leafy vegetables,
- fortified cereals,
- grain products,
- beans,
- orange juice, and
- liver.

#### **APPENDIX R**

#### **Good Sources of Folate**

Dear \_\_\_\_\_,

These are some foods you had consumed during the 4 days you record that are good sources of folate: Bagel, macaroni & cheese, Orange juice, Chili with beans, and toast.

Following is a broad list of other good sources of folate.

#### GOOD SOURCES OF FOLATE

In order to meet your daily requirement (400 µg) of folate, please choose a total of ten (10) points per day (each point equals approximately 40 µg). The corresponding serving size is listed.

FOODS	SERVING SIZE	FOLATE POINTS
GRAIN FOODS		
Cereals		
High fiber, shredded, granola cereal	check box for serving size	4
Super fortified cereal (i.e. Total)	check box for serving size	10
Fortified cereal (i.e. Cheerios)	check box for serving size	4
Cream of wheat, instant	¾ cup	5
Oatmeal, instant	1 pkt.	3
Biscuit	1 small	1
Muffin, english	1	1
Muffin, blueberry from mix	1	1
Bagel	1 med. *\(grocery)	2
Bread; white, rolls, french, italian	2 slices	2
Pita bread	1 pocket	2
Tortilla, flour	10"	4
Corn bread, corn muffin	1 med.	2
Doughnuts, glazed	1 large	1
Cookies, animal crackers	2 oz. box	2
vanilla wafers	10 ea.	1
graham crackers	2 rectangles (8 crackers)	1
Pies, fruit, pecan	1/6 of pie (med. Slice)	1
Pasta (spaghetti), egg noodles, macaroni	1 cup	2
Rice, instant, white	3/4 cup	2
Rice, wild	3/4 cup	1
Wheat germ	2 Tbsp.	1
Brewer's yeast	1 Tbsp.	8
FRUIT		
Cantaloupe	1/4 med. Melon (6")	1
Strawberries	1 cup	1

Orange	1 ea.	1
Orange juice	6 oz.	1
Pineapple juice	6 oz.	1
FOODS	SERVING SIZE	FOLATE POINTS
Рарауа	1 medium	3
Raspberries, frz., red, sweetened	1/2 cup	1
Plantains	1cup	1
VEGETABLES		
Corn, cream style	1/2 cup	1
Corn, whole kernel	1/2 cup	1
Corn on the cob	1 ear	1
Tomato juice	6 oz.	1
Broccoli, cooked	1/2 cup	1
Cauliflower	1/2 cup	1
Brussel sprouts, cooked	1/2 cup	1
Spinach, canned, cooked	1/2 cup	2
Spinach, raw	3/4 cup	1
Mustard greens	1/2 cup	1
Turnip greens, cooked	1/2 cup	2
Chinese cabbage	1 cup	2
Endive, romaine lettuce	1 cup	2
Chicory lettuce	1 cup	5
Artichoke, cooked	1 med.	2
Asparagus, boiled	4 spears	2
Avocado	1 ea.	3
Beets, canned	3/4 cup slices	1
Okra, cooked	1/2 cup	3
Parsnips, cooked	1/2 cup	1
Spaghetti sauce, canned	1 cup	1
MEAT, FISH, POULTRY		
Egg, hard cooked	2	1
Beef or calf liver, braised	4 oz.	6
Pork liver, braised	4 oz.	5
Chicken or turkey liver, braised	4 oz.	13
Crabmeat	3 oz.	1
Clams, canned	1 cup	1
BEANS, PEAS, LENTILS, NUTS		
Peas; green or yellow	1/2 cup	1
Chili with beans, canned	3/4 cup	1
Black, navy, white, kidney, or pinto beans	3/4 cup	5
Lentils, cooked	3/4 cup	7
Lima beans	3/4 cup	. 2

Soybeans, dry roasted	1/2 cup	4
Three bean salad	1/2 cup	3
Baked beans, canned	3/4 cup	2
FOODS	SERVING SIZE	FOLATE POINTS
Chickpeas (garbonzo beans)	3/4 cup	3
Split peas	1/2 cup	2
Black-eyed peas (cowpeas)	1/2 cup	2
Peanuts, dry roasted MIXED DISHES	2 Tbsp	1
Beef stew with veg., homemade	1 cup	1
Chicken noodle soup, canned	1 cup	1
Chow mein noodles	3/4 cup	1
Corn pudding	3/4 cup	1
Egg salad	3/4 cup	1
Hummus	1/4 cup	. 1
Peanut butter	2 Tbsp.	1
Peanut butter and jelly on white	1	2
Trail mix	1 cup	3
Tiger or Sports Bar	1 ea.	10
FAST FOODS		
Beef and bean burrito	1 ea.	2
Hamburger or cheeseburger on bun	4 oz. meat	2
Ham and cheese on bun (Arby's)	1 ea.	3
Roast beef on bun	1 ea.	2
Chicken filet sandwich on bun	1 ea.	4
Fish sandwich, large	4 oz.	3
Hot dog with chili	2 ea.	4
Baked potato with cheese sauce	1 ea.	2
Pintos and cheese	1 ea.	2
Bean and cheese tostada	1 ea.	2
Enchilada, cheese	1 ea.	2
Biscuit with egg	1 ea.	2
Submarine sandwich	6 inch	3
Taco salad	1 1/2 cups	2

#### **APPENDIX S**

#### Intervention Group E-mail (week 4)

#### First email:

Hello!

How is your week going?

I hope everything is going well.

Instead of meeting in person this week, we will exchange some messages. How are you doing on the folate points? How many points did you get yesterday? In the last 2 days, which foods gave you the most folate? Please respond to my email today. Thanks a lot for your effort,

Marisela

#### Second email:

Thanks for your information!

Now we need to set a goal to help you increase your intake of folic acid.

(Personalized part: depending of the number of points)

I would like you to set a goal to increase the number of folate points you will eat this week.

How many more points would you be willing to eat this week?

Here are some interesting web-sites with recipes for folate-rich foods. Some of the sites have different ways to eat cereals; cereals are one easy way to get folate into the diet.

1. Kellogg's

http://www.treatsrecipes.com/

\*Good folate recipe from this web site is: Special K Parfait, 1 parfait will provide you with 3 points.

2. Recipes High in Folic Acid

http://www.fl-ag.com/folic/recipes.htm

\*Good folate recipe: Black Bean and Lentil Supper, it provides 5 points per serving

3. American Dry Bean Board

http://adbb-sql.cdirect.com/Cookbook/

\*Good folate recipe: Tamari Turkey and Beans, provides 4.5 points per serving.

#### 4. Pillsbury

http://www.mealtimeideas.com/

\*Good folate recipe: Parmesan Spinach Roll-Ups, 5 roll-ups will provide you with 3 points.

5. National Pasta Association

http://www.ilovepasta.org/recipes.html

\*Good folate recipe: Orange Asparagus Stir-Fry, 1 1/2 cups will provide you with 5 points.

6. Virtual Vittles Recipes

http://virtualvittles.com/

\*Good folate recipe: Stuffed Artichokes, one artichoke will provide you with 3 points.

7. Florida Citrus

http://www.floridajuice.com/floridacitrus/recipes/

\*Good folate recipe: Orange-Sauced Fish with Linguine, one piece of fish and sauce with 1 ounce of pasta will provide you with 3 points.

Try one of these recipes this week!

I will get back to you soon.

Thanks again,

Marisela

## How much beef stew do you usually eat?



If you usually eat 1/2 cup of stew, you are eating less than the usual amount. This means that you are getting fewer vitamins and minerals than the label shows.



If you usually eat 1 cup of stew, you are getting the number of calories, fat, vitamins and minerals shown on the label.



But if you usually cat 2 cups, then you are cating 2 times the usual helping. This means that you are getting more fat and calories than the label shows.

The size of your helping can make a big difference in the calories and fat that you eat.

#### Eat smart for good health:

- 1. Eat many kinds of foods.
- 2. Maintain a healthy weight.
- 3. Eat less fat.

 Eat plenty of fruit, vegetables, rice, macaroni, noodles, whole grain breads and cereals.

- 5. Use only a little sugar.
- 6. Use salt with caution.
- 7. If you use alcohol, have no more than 1 or 2 drinks a day.

## How to use the new food label

No endorsement of companies or their products mentioned is intended, nor is criticism implied of similar companies or their products not mentioned.

Prepared by Ardith Brunt, R.D., extension assistant, Elisabeth Schafer, Ph. D., extension nutritionist; Diane Nelson, communication specialist; and John E. Olson, extension graphic designer/design consultant

... and justice for all

The Iowa Cooperative Extension Service's programs and policies are consistent with pertinent federal and state laws and regulations on nondiscrimination. Many materials can be made available in alternative formats for ADA clients.

In cooperation with NCR Educational Materials Project. Issued in furtherance of Cooperative Extension work, acts of Congross of May 8 and June 30, 1914, in cooperation with the U.S. Department of Agriculture and Cooperative Extension Services of Illinois, Indiana, Iowa, Kansas, Lincoln University, Michigan, Minnesota, Missouri, Netraska, North Dakota, Ok, South Dakota, and Wisconsin. Stanley R. Johnson, director, Cooperative Extension Service, Iowa State University of Science and Technology, Ames, Iowa 50011.

Printed and distributed in cooperation with Extension Service, U.S. Department of Agriculture, Washington, D.C. and Alaska, Arizona, Idaho, Kentucky, Maine, New Mexico, Oregon, Rhode Island, Texas, Utah, and Washington.



#### North Central Regional Extension Publication 559 Sponsored by the Extension Services of lowa and Nebraska in cooperation with ES-USDA. For copies of this publication contact an Extension unit in one of the sponsoring states.

Reprinted April 1997

## APPENDIX T

**Food Labels** 

The new food labels help you make **good** food choices.

**Foods** have different amounts of fat, **protein**, vitamins, minerals, and carbohydrate. These are called nutrients.

What is % Daily Value? ————— % Daily Value compares the amount of

a nutrient in 1 serving to the total amount you should have daily.

Look at the label and find sodium. The % Daily Value is 40%. This is about  $1/_2$  of the total amount you should have daily. This food is very high in sodium.

Look at the label and find calcium. One serving has 2% of the total amount you should have daily. This food is low in calcium.

#### Practice using % Daily Value

Look at the label and count the number of % Daily Values that are 20% or more. Did you find 4? This food is high in total fat, saturated fat, sodium, and vitamin A. If you eat it, you will want to check the % Daily Values for these 4 nutrients in other foods you eat on the same day so you don't go over 100%.

## Here is a food label from canned beef stew:

## **Nutrition Facts**

Serving Size 1 cup (236 g) Servings Per Container 2

#### Amount Per Serving

Calories	230	Calories from	n fat 120
\		(% D	aily Value*
Total Fat	14g		22%
Saturate	ed Fat 7g	]	35%
Choleste	rol 40mg	)	13%
Sodium 9	)50mg		40%
Total Car	bohydra	ate 16g	5%
Dietary	Fiber 2g		8%
Sugars	3g		
Protein 1	1g		
	-		
Vitamin A Calcium 2	20%	Vitamir     Iron 6%	n C 0% %
Vitamin A Calcium 2 * Percent Da calorie die or lowe	20% 2% aily Values t. Your dat er dependir Calories	Vitamir     Iron 6% are based on a ily values may b ng on your calor     2,000	2,000 e higher ie needs: 2,500
Vitamin A Calcium 2 * Percent Di calorie die or lowe	20% aily Values t. Your dai r dependir Calories Less tha	Vitamir     Iron 6% are based on a ily values may b ng on your calor     2,000 nn 65g	2,000 e higher ie needs: 2,500 80g
Vitamin A Calcium 2 • Percent Dicalorie die or lowe	20% % aily Values t. Your dai er dependir Calories Less tha Less tha	Vitamir     Iron 6% are based on a ily values may b ng on your calor     2,000 in 65g n 20g 2000	2,000 e higher ie needs: 2,500 80g 25g 2002
Vitamin A Calcium 2 • Percent Di calorie die or lowe Total Fat Sat Fat Cholesterol Sodium	20% aily Values t. Your dai er dependir Calories Less tha Less tha Less tha	Vitamir     Iron 6% are based on a ily values may b ig on your calor     2,000 in 65g in 20g in 300g in 2,400mg	C 0% 6 2,000 e higher ie needs: 2,500 80g 25g 300g
Vitamin A Calcium 2 • Percent Di calorie die or lowe Total Fat Sat Fat Cholesterol Sodium 2,400mg Total Carbot	20% aily Values t. Your dater dependin Calories Less tha Less tha Less tha	<ul> <li>Vitamir</li> <li>Iron 6%</li> <li>are based on a lify values may b lig on your calor : 2,000</li> <li>in 65g</li> <li>in 20g</li> <li>in 300g</li> <li>in 2,400mg</li> <li>300g</li> </ul>	C 0% 2,000 e higher ie needs: 2,500 80g 25g 300g 375g
Vitamin A Calcium 2 • Percent Di calorie die or lowe Total Fat Sat Fat Cholesterol Sodium 2,400mg Total Carbot Dietary Fit 30g	20% aily Values t. Your da er dependir Calories Less tha Less tha Less tha Less tha Less tha Dest that Dest that Less that Less that Less that Less that Less that Less that Less that Less that Less that Less that Less that Less that Les	<ul> <li>Vitamir</li> <li>Iron 6%</li> <li>are based on a lify values may b lig on your calor : 2,000</li> <li>in 65g</li> <li>in 20g</li> <li>in 300g</li> <li>in 2,400mg</li> <li>300g</li> </ul>	1 C 0% 6 2,000 e higher ie needs: 2,500 80g 25g 300g 375g 25g

Fat 9 · Carbohydrate 4 · Protein 4

Look at the label and count the **number** of % Daily Values that are 5% or less. Did you find 3? This food is low in total carbohydrate, vitamin C, and calcium. If you eat it, you will want to check the % Daily Values for these 3 nutrients in other foods you eat on the same day so you reach 100%.

#### How do you use % Daily Value? The % Daily Value helps you compare foods and pick the ones that are best for you.

→ Try to choose foods that have a high % Daily Value for fiber, vitamin A, vitamin C, calcium, and iron. A food is high if the % Daily Value is 20% or more.

➡ Try to choose foods that have a low % Daily Value for total fat, saturated fat, cholesterol, and sodium. A food is low if the % Daily Value is 5% or less.

➡ Try to balance high % Daily Values with low % Daily Values so you get about 100% of each nutrient every day.

#### **APPENDIX U**

#### E-mail

#### Week 5

Hello!

How is your week going? I hope everything is going well.

I hope the web sites were useful! Which recipe did you try?

Earlier this week I mailed information about food labels. I hope this information is useful to you when buying foods. Reading labels are a good way to know if the foods we are buying have folate.

What was your goal for folate points last week?

Did you meet the goal every day?

Please respond to my email today.

Thanks a lot for your effort,

Marisela

#### Second e-mail

Thank you for your response,

Now we need to set a new goal to help you increase your intake of folic acid and include more folate containing foods in your diet.

When you go shopping this week, which foods will you buy to increase folate in your diet?

Thanks,

Marisela

## APPENDIX V

**Folate Containing Foods and Recipes** 

#### Black Beans and Rice

- 2 16oz. cans of black beans, rinsed 1 large vellow onion 2 large vine-ripe tomatoes (or a 16 oz. can of plum tomatoes) 1 large bell pepper Peanut oil
- 1-2 tsp chopped garlic
- 1. Peel onion and slice thinly.
- 2. Brown onions in peanut oil.
- 3. Chop tomatoes.
- 4. Remove seeds from bell pepper and chop.
- 5. When onions are brown, add peppers.
- 6. Add garlic and tomatoes after about 5 minutes.
- 7. After about 1 minute, add rinsed black beans.
- 8. Serve with rice and enjoy!

1/2 cup = 3 points

#### Black Bean Patties 2 cups cooked black beans, cooled 1 cup cooked brown rice, cooled 1 cup commeal 1 cup soymilk 1 Tbsp cumin

1. Combine all ingredients well (you may have to add more commeal to stiffen the dought).

- 2. Form into patties.
- 3. Add com oil to frying pan and fry, or grill over charcoal.

1/2 cup = 3 points

**Banana Pudding Parfaits** 

1 pck of instant vanilla pudding mix 2 cups of low fat milk 2 Medium size ripe bananas, cut into slices 2.5 cups Quaker Oat Life Cereal Whipped topping (optional)

- 1. Prepare pudding mix according to package instructions using 2 cups of milk.
- 2. In one 12 oz glass, layer 2 Tbs of pudding, 4-5 banana slices and 1/4 cup of cereal. Repeat layers. Top with 3 Tbs pudding, 2 Tbs cereal, and if desired, whipped topping.
- 3. Repeat step 2 using remaining ingredients to make 3 more parfaits.
- 4. Serve immediately.

1 serving = 4 points

Dear Participant,

In this handout you will find some more sources of folate and recipes that you may use to increase your folate intake.



provide 100% of Folic Acid (400 µg or 10 points).

193

Remember that superfortified cereals

#### Kellogg's

-Just Right -All-Bran -Complete Wheat Bran Flakes -Complete Oat Bran Flakes -Special K -Product 19 -Smart Start -Low Fat Granola -Mueslix

#### General Mills

-Total (all varieties) -Multi Grain Cheerios -Multi-Bran Chex -Wheat Chex -Wheaties Energy Crunch -Harmony

#### Quaker

- -Cap'n Crunch (all varieties) -Toasted Oatmeal Squares -Toasted Oatmeal Honey Nut -Honey Graham Oh's -Life
- -King Vitaman

#### More Great Sources of Folate

1/2 cup 4 points

1/2 cup 1 point

1/2 cup 1 point

1/2 cup 1 point

- Nuts and Seeds -Sunflower seeds:
- -Toasted almonds: -Cashews: -Pistachios:
- Beans
- -Refried beans: `

1/2 cup 2.5 points

172 Cu

#### Meats

-Braunschweiger pork: 3 oz. 1 point

#### Vegetables

-Bean sprouts:	1/2 cup	2 points
-Fresh cabbage:	1 cup	1 point
-Collard greens:	1/2 cup	1.5 point
-Butterhead lettuc	e: 1 cup	1 point
-Romaine lettuce:	1 cup	2 points
-Dried oriental rad	ishes: 1/2 cu	o 4 points

#### **Miscellaneous**

-Tofu, raw, firm: 1/2 cup	1 point
-Barley: 1 cup	1 point
-Egg substitute: 1 cup	1 point
-Toaster Pastries: 1 each	n 1 point

## Additional recipes with good sources of folate

#### 3-Bean Salad

- pound fresh green beans, 1" pieces, steamed until tender & cooled
   15-16oz can garbanzo beans
   15-16oz can kidney beans
   large red onion, coarsley chopped
   cup seasoned rice vinegar
   Combine all ingredients in a sealed plastic
- container and shake well. 2. Let sit in fridge overnight, gets better with age, up to 10 days in the fridge.

#### 1 cup = 2.8 points

#### Lentil Salad

 1 cup lentils salt or soy sauce to taste black pepper to taste
 1 Tbsp wine vinegar
 2 tsp Dijon mustard
 2 tomatoes, chopped, peeled
 2-3 green onions, chopped
 2 Tbsp parsley, chopped
 1. Cook lentils in water for 30 to 45 minutes (no salt) and drain.
 2. Blend in other things except tomatoes, parsley, and green onions.
 3. Chill.
 4. Add the rest of the stuff and mix.
 5. Serve cold.

1/2 cup = 4 points



Chail 1

· 2-3 ounces of cooled lican meat, pouliny, or fish

Recommended institut of serving departs de your celerer heads: • 1600 celeres a adear regits de civitores aport 2 de 5 pres, many excerners youres, and service des adults. • 2000 celeres à adear regits foir mois challes non § es an you, adore uname, and alorge adultang adultang com § es an you, adore, uname, and alorge adultang adultancia com § es an you, 2 800 celeres a dates regits foir teas torys and action este.

"Delatives and teams ages 9 to 16 years and adults ever age 50 word 3 servings daily, others read 2 servings daily.

These cours as 1 ounce of meat · 1/2 cup of cooked dry beens or tolu · 21/2 ounce soyburger • 1 mgg

· 2 sublespoors of peanut burter

• 1/3 cup of mas

What Counts as a Serving?

HOW TO USE THE FOOD GUIDE PYRAMID







The Fant Casts Pyramit tor Young Dubleres a schepes han the

Broad, Careal, Max, and Pasta Group	6	9	11
1 sice of bread			
About 1 cup of ready-to-eat certail			
<ul> <li>1/2 cup of cooked cereal, rice, or passa</li> </ul>			
Vegetable Group	3	4	5
<ul> <li>1 cup of raw leafy vegetables</li> </ul>			
· 1/2 cup of other vegetables-cooked or new			
<ul> <li>3/4 cup of vegetable juice</li> </ul>			
Fruit Group	2	3	4
<ul> <li>1 meduai apple, basana, orange, pear</li> </ul>			
+ 1/2 cup of chopped, coolaid, or canned that			
<ul> <li>3/4 cup of teut junce</li> </ul>			
Mills, Yoguri, and Chassa Group— profective fat free or tow fat	2 @ 3**	2	2 a 3"
<ul> <li>1 cup of milk*** or yogurt</li> </ul>			
- 1 1/2 ownces of metural cheese (such as Chedda	ri -		
· 2 ounces of processed chaese (such as American	ŧ		
Mean, Poultry, Fish, Dry Beans, Eggs. and Nats Group-proferably lean or low fat	2, for a total of 5 ounces	2, for a total of 6 ounces	3, for a total of 7 curices

1000 calories\*

How many services do you need each day?

2200 salories"

""This includes tacate free and sectore induced ratic products Sey-based learnings; with added calculus are an oppon for these who praim a new-dary source of calcult.

ECOR. Many of the serving loads guide above are stratter than taken on the Hardword facts Labol. For example, 1 strong of some corea, rule, or packs is 1 cap for the latest, but only 1/2 cap for the Py area.

2900 calories\*

Developed by the USDA Center for Nutrition Policy and Promotion

8

10

影

例

Based on the Direary Guidelines for Americans, 2000 Jointhy released by the United States Department of Agriculture and the United States Department of Health and Human Services

#### How to order

This publication, as well as the complete 40-page booklet, *Nutrition and Your Health Dietary Guidelines* for Americans, 5th Edution, 2000, may be viewed and downloaded from www.asda.govicnop.

To purchase I to 50 copies of this pamphlet (1.50 each), call the Federal Consumer Information Center toll-free at (\$88) \$78.3256. To purchase built copies in lots of 50 only (50, 100, 150, etc.), call the Covernment Printing Office at (202) 512-1800. Have your credit card handy

To purchase copies of the complete 40 page Dictary Guidelines for Americans, 2000 (Item 147-G. 34 75 per copy), call the Federal Computer Information Center at 1988 \$78-3256.

#### Program Ald 1675 Sentender 2000

The U.S. Download of Agrouphure (MSA) publication in all its program and activities on the lasts of your, extent instanced urgins wer, religions any develoting and activities on the lasts of your, extend of a lastic float and float all providence from app) to all programs i Presser with devidings whe register allowable resure for economication of program information Bradie, large prior andianaja, etc.) devide assess 162011 100CF1 Conse at (100) 722-3006 beaux and 1964

To fire completes of decrysponses with MDR. Devices (Alloy of Cool Ages: Assoc Sile II. Wrenne Building, 142 and independence Jonese. SH: Westington, UC, 2014 MIA or call (2015) 728 1964 body of TADI, USDA is an equal approximity provide and madeer



Canal N

a

14

Using the

DIETARY

GUIDELINES

FOR AMERICANS

**nns** 

for good 🔮 health 👘

## APPENDIX W

## 195

## Aim, Build, and Choose -

E sting is one of life's greatest pleasares. There are many foods and many ways to build a healthy diet and bifestyle...so there is lors of room for choice. Enjoy the food you and your family eax and take action for good health.

By following these Guidelines, you can promote your health and reduce your risk for chronic diseases such as heart disease, certain carners, diabetes, stooler, and asteoporosis. These diseases, are leading causes of death and disability among Americans.

The ABC's of matrition for your health and that of your family are.

## Aire for foress.

Choose sensibly

#### Aim for fitness

196

- A Aim for a healthy weight. A Be physically active such day.
- Build a healthy base
- Let the Pyramid guide your food choices.
   Choose a variety of grains daily, especially whole crains.
- Choose a variety of truts and vegetables daily.
- Keep food safe to eat.
- Choose sensibly
- Choose a divi that is low in saturated fat and cholesterol and moderate in total fat.
- Choose beverages and loods to moderale your make of sugars.
- Choose and prepare foods with less set.
- 🖹 🖁 you drink alcoholic beverages, do so in
- moderat

×



Aim for fitness

daily.

- A firm for a thealthy weight—balance the catories you exit with physical activity.
   A Get moving. Do 30 minutes or more of woderate
- physical activity most days or every day. Make physical activity part of your daily routine.
- Choose toods and amounts of load according to Chart 1. Easing sensable partian sizes (see below) is one key to a healthy weight.
- Set a good example for children. Eat healthy meab and ergoy segular physical activities together. Children need at least 60 minutes of physical activity.

#### CHOOSE SENSIBLE PORTION SIZES

- If you're eating out, order small portions, shere an entire with a triend, or take part of the food home (d you can chill a right away).
- Check product labels to see how much food is considered to be a serving. Many terms sold as single portions actually provide 2 servings or more—such as a 20-ounce soft drink, a 12ounce stask, a 3-ounce bag of chips, or a farge basel.

 Be expecially careful to limit pursion size of foods high in calories, such as cookers, calves, other sweets, French lives, and fats, oils, and spreads.



Build a healthy base

道法

- Use the Food Guide Pynamid (Pigure 1) to help make healthy food choicts that you can enjoy For children 2 to 6 years add, see the Pynamid for Young Children (Pigure 2). Chart 1 gives a quick guide to Pynamid food groups and servings.
- Build your eating pattern on a variety of grains, truits, and vegetables.
- Include several servings of whole grain foods daily —such as whole wheat, brown rice, oats, and whole grain corn.
- Ergoy five a day—eat at least 2 servings of full and at least 3 servings of vegetables each day. Choose dark-green leafy vegetables, or ange fruits and vegetables, and cooked dry peas and bears often.
- Also choose loods from the malk and the ment and beens groups each day. Make low-fal choices most often.
- k's fine to enjoy fats and sweets occasionally.

#### KEEP FOOD SAFE TO EAT

- · Wash hands and surfaces often
- Separate raw, cooked, and ready-to-est loods while shopping, preparing, or storing.
- Cook foods to a safe temperature
   Refrigerate pershable foods prompily.
- Check and follow the label.
- · When in doubl, throw it out
- · When in double, show i ou





#### Choose sensibly

- Limit your use of solid lans, such as butter and hard margarines. Use vegetable oils as a substitute.
- Choose fat-lines or low-fat types of milk products, and lean meats and poulitry (see Chart 2). Eat cooled dry beams and peas and fish more often.
- Use the Nutrition Facts Label to help choose foods lower in total fac—especially saturated fac—as well as in cholesterol and sodium.
- Event your intake of beverages and foods that are high in added sugars. Don't las soft drinks or sevens products at other foods you need, such as milk products or other calcium sources.
- To keep your sodium intake moderate, choose and prepare foods with less sait or sally Bavorings.
- ¥ you are an actual and choose to drink alcoholic beverages, do to tensibly—limit intake to one drink a day for women or two a day for men.

### WHAT IS YOUR LIMIT ON FAT?

Total Calories per Day	Saturated Fat in Grams*	Total Fat in Grans
1,600	18 or tens	53
2,000**	20 or less	65
2,200	24 or less	73
2,500**	25 or less	80
2,800	31 or less	93

These limits are less than 10% of catories for solvrated for, and 30% of catories for solut lat.

"Percet Daty Values on Number Facts Labels are based on a 2.000-calores des. Values for 2.000 and 2.500 calores are numbed to the macent 5 grows to be considered with the Number for Excluded

#### Chart 2 ALL STREET COMPARE THE SATURATED FAT IN FOODS Food Category Salar and Fat Contern in Grame Cheme-1 et. Regular Cheddar cheese Low-fat Cheddar cheese 6.0 1.2 Ground Beel-J oz. cooked Regular ground banf 1.2 Extra lean ground beef" 5.3

-

 Regular ground bed
 7.2

 Estin lean ground bed"
 5.3

 Milt.—1 cap
 .1

 Whois milt
 5.1

 Low-tail (1%) milt'
 1.6

 Brands—1 medium
 Crossen

 Crossen
 6.6

 Baget'
 0.1

 Fream Demonts—1/2 cap

Regular ice cream 4.5 Fracen yogurt 2.5 Tabla spraads--1 top. Buter 2.4

NOTE. The tool categories lived are among the maps lead sources of value and for for U.S. south and clusters

"Choice that is been in some and lat

Soft margarine"



0.7



#### APPENDIX X

#### **Specimen Preparation**

- Blood drawn from a fasting subject (12 hours from food and 36 hours from alcohol)
- Collect two tubes (one yellow top and one purple top)(6ml each)
- Place purple tube in the rocker and cover with aluminum foil until taken to the HC for CBC analysis, then place it in the rocker and cover again until process (about 10 min).
- Place yellow tube in dark container at room temperature for 30 minutes, then spin it, if not ready put it on ice in a dark container.
- Prepare clean biological hood for use according to the clean hood protocol.
- Place biological safety hazard bags at a convenient location.
- Prepare alcohol solution: 70% OH; 700cc of OH + 300cc of millipore water for use in cleaning the spills in biological safety hood.
- Prepare 10% Bleach solution: 10cc bleach + 90cc water

#### **Biological Safety Hood Supplies**

- ✤ Turn off the light
- Turn on the blower (reset the alarm)
- Place under the hood:
  - Absorbent pad, rack, labeled tubes, 12\*75 falcon tube, transfer
     pipettes, pipette tips (100μL), pipette holder (100μL), 10% bleach, small
     beaker for waste, kimwipes, 70% alcohol, and biohazard bag.
- Place cooler with ice close to the area.

#### Purple top plasma EDTA tube protocol:

- 1. Place tube in the rocker for 10 minutes before transfer to 12\*75 tube.
- 2. Under the hood: aliquot 100  $\mu$ L of whole blood into a 12x75mm plastic test tube.

- Then go to main lab, place purple tube and yellow tube in the centrifuge. Check for balance. Loose the lids of the tubes to avoid spills. Centrifuge for 20 minutes: 4000rpm, 4°C.
- 4. Prepare Ascorbic Acid:

.1 g of Ascorbic Acid + 10cc of millipore water, then vortex, place it into the browm bottle.

- 5. Add 2.0mL of freshly prepared 1% ascorbic acid solution to the 100  $\mu$ L of whole blood in the 12x75mm plastic test tube. Mix well by gently inverting.
- 6. Aliquot the mix blood and Ascorbic acid into (2-1.5mL) microcentrifuge tube (Hemolysate)
- 7. Freeze and store in a dark container.
- 8. Then, check samples in the centrifuge. Carefully open centrifuges lid and check for spills.
- 9. Take the samples out of the centrifuge without disturbing the layers and bring them to the safety hood.
- 10. Using a transfer pipette aliquot the top layer (plasma layer) to labeled microcentrifuge tubes and place them in the freezer (be careful to not take the WBC layer)

#### Yellow top Serum tube protocol:

- 1. Place the tubes in a dark container during 30 minutes at room temperature.
- 2. If you have to wait, then place them in test tube rack with water on ice (grey rack)
- 3. Check centrifuge buckets (clean)
- 4. Place the samples in the centrifuge and check balance.
- 5. Centrifuge during 20 minutes at 4000 rpm, and 4°C temperature.
- 6. Check for spills and clean if any.
- 7. Take sample out carefully and do not disturb the layers.
- 8. Carefully pipette and aliquot the top layer (serum layer) to labeled microcentrifuge tubes and placed in the freezer.

NOTE: be careful to not remove any WBC or RBC layer.

- 9. Dispose glass vacutainer tubes into the biohazard waste box.
- ✤ Clean up waste containers, pipetman and work area with 70% OH solution.
- Remove biological waste bags and use proper disposal protocol
- ✤ Clean hood and surrounding areas using 70% OH solution.

### vita2

#### Marisela del Valle Contreras Berríos

#### Candidate for the Degree of

#### Doctor of Philosophy

#### Thesis: FACTORS THAT INFLUENCE WOMEN'S FOLATE INTAKE AND THE EFFECT OF AN INTERVENTION

Major Field: Human Environmental Sciences

Area of Specialization: Nutritional Sciences

Biographical:

## Personal Data: Born in Caracas, Venezuela, on February 17, 1967, the daughter of Maria Berríos and Roberto Contreras.

Education:	Graduated from "Benito Canónico" High School, Guarenas, Edo.
	Miranda, Venezuela, in July 1983; received degree as Physician
	Surgeon from Universidad de Carabobo, Valencia, Venezuela, in
	April 1994. Completed the requirements for the Master of Sciences
	degree with a major in Nutritional Sciences at Oklahoma State
	University in December 1999.

Experience: Employed by the Ministry of Health and Welfare, Caracas, Venezuela, as Rural Physician and Epidemiology Physician from 1994 to 1996. Employed by Oklahoma State University as a Research Associate from Summer 1998 to Fall 2002 and as Graduate Teaching Assistant from Spring 2000 to Spring 2002 in the Nutritional Sciences Department.